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·1· ·-- Upon commencing at 9:35 a.m.

·2

·3· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Good morning,

·4· · · · · · · · · Ms. Hewitt.

·5· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Good morning,

·6· · · · · · · · · Commissioner.

·7· · · · · · · · · I would like to introduce

·8· · · · · · · · · Mr. Golden on behalf of

·9· · · · · · · · · Caressant Care who is next in

10· · · · · · · · · the order of asking questions of

11· · · · · · · · · Ms. Crombez.

12· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you

13· · · · · · · · · very much.

14· · · · · · · · · Good morning, Mr. Golden.

15· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· Good morning.

16· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Ready

17· · · · · · · · · whenever you are.

18· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· Thank you very

19· · · · · · · · · much, Commissioner.

20· · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY

21· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen, we covered a lot of

23· ·ground last week, but I do want to follow up on

24· ·a couple of areas and one of them has to do

25· ·with the philosophy that you had and Caressant

26· ·Care Woodstock had towards long-term care and

27· ·residents.· The home in Woodstock had a

28· ·particular motto.· What was that motto?

29· · · · · · · · · A. Well, it was actually more

30· ·than a motto.· It was a statement.· It hung on

31· ·the walls in our home, and it was "Caring

32· ·families, yours and ours together."
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. In practical terms, what did

·2· ·that mean to you and your team?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Well, it meant, you know,

·4· ·that there were two families, the resident and

·5· ·their family and then our Caressant Care family

·6· ·made up by the staff, and we were both caring

·7· ·families working together to make our home a

·8· ·good home or place to live for that resident.

·9· · · · · · · · · And we did that in a number of

10· ·ways.· You know, we tried to be friendly.· We

11· ·would have people come in for a tour and say

12· ·afterwards, you know, we chose your home

13· ·because the staff stopped to speak with us,

14· ·that they smiled and said hello, and you know,

15· ·we were so appreciative of.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen, how did that

17· ·philosophy translate into your expectations for

18· ·the registered staff?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I wasn't quite finished

20· ·yet --

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Oh, okay.

22· · · · · · · · · A. -- on one.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Go ahead.

24· · · · · · · · · A. Brenda was on vacation in

25· ·Florida at Disney World one time and she was

26· ·watching the Mickey Mouse parade, and she

27· ·thought about the residents back home and she

28· ·thought some of our residents will never see

29· ·another parade.

30· · · · · · · · · So she came back and at our

31· ·first Tuesday morning meeting she said we are

32· ·going to have a parade here in the home.· And
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·1· ·that was planned for July 1st.· And you know, I

·2· ·am always ready to support the Administrator,

·3· ·and I thought, hmm, how are we going to pull

·4· ·this off?

·5· · · · · · · · · But it was wonderful.· Our kids

·6· ·were out of school.· You know, we invited them

·7· ·to come, our daughters and their children, and

·8· ·we invited the staff to bring their children.

·9· ·They decorated their tricycles, their bicycles,

10· ·their wagons.

11· · · · · · · · · We had a housekeeper who was big

12· ·in music, and he played all kinds of Canadiana

13· ·songs on a boom box, and you know, up and down

14· ·the halls we went.· We went through the whole

15· ·home.· And you know, the residents that

16· ·couldn't sit in the hallway or there wasn't

17· ·enough room, they would sit in their doorways

18· ·and Activities had given them Canadian flags

19· ·and we were flying flags.· And we had banners

20· ·and flags, and we were dressed, you know, in

21· ·red and white and the kids were dressed in red

22· ·and white.

23· · · · · · · · · And it was just so much fun, and

24· ·we did that every year after that.· It was an

25· ·annual event.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. So, Helen, what about how

27· ·this philosophy translated into your

28· ·expectations for registered staff?

29· · · · · · · · · A. I expected the registered

30· ·staff, you know, to treat the residents well,

31· ·that they would meet their needs in a timely

32· ·manner, that they would be kind and gentle with
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·1· ·them, that they would, you know, do what was

·2· ·required so that the staff would know what was

·3· ·needed, like updating care plans, encouraging

·4· ·the staff to, you know, feed the residents,

·5· ·change their position if needed, get palliative

·6· ·care orders when needed, just to make sure

·7· ·that, you know, the very best care was given

·8· ·for our residents.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, Helen, in your

10· ·affidavit, it wasn't touched on last week, but

11· ·you mentioned that you were a believer in

12· ·wearing your white uniform, and it sounded a

13· ·bit old fashioned but I want to understand from

14· ·your perspective why you viewed that as

15· ·important?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Well, when we -- when the

17· ·nurses wore white, you know, the other

18· ·departments were wearing different colours as

19· ·well, and the staff would recognize, you know,

20· ·who was who, who they could go to for

21· ·assistance.

22· · · · · · · · · And I really thought, you know,

23· ·the nurses as a whole lost that when they gave

24· ·up their uniform.· Police officers have a

25· ·uniform; the RCMP has a uniform; the fire

26· ·department has a uniform; and I thought it was

27· ·a good thing for nurses as well.

28· · · · · · · · · So -- and I wasn't the only one.

29· ·If I visited a hospital, you know, in the area,

30· ·there were a few that would have their white

31· ·uniform on as well and even, in the early days,

32· ·their caps and you knew who the nurse was.
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·1· · · · · · · · · And the residents would respond

·2· ·to the white uniform.· If the staff couldn't

·3· ·get a resident to go to the toilet or if they

·4· ·couldn't get them to come to the dining room,

·5· ·they would come to my door and say, Helen,

·6· ·would you try?· Or, Ms. Crombez, would you try?

·7· ·And sometimes they responded to the white

·8· ·uniform, and sometimes they would respond to

·9· ·the Woodstock General Hospital School of

10· ·Nursing pin.· It was a gold -- a round, gold

11· ·pin with a large red cross in the middle, and

12· ·they -- especially one British lady who was,

13· ·you know, who had behaviours, she would see

14· ·that red pin and always she would say, Oh, the

15· ·Red Cross; you know, I remember the Red Cross,

16· ·and she would come with me.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Thank you.· We heard some

18· ·evidence last week about the constant struggle

19· ·to hire RNs and this issue of shortages.

20· · · · · · · · · Based on your 30-odd years of

21· ·experience, what did you view as the

22· ·competition from the hospitals?· Why was that

23· ·such a problem in particular for young nurses?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I think young nurses as

25· ·a rule graduated, you know, and wanted to work

26· ·in an exciting field, and the staffing levels

27· ·in a long-term care facility versus a hospital

28· ·were much higher.· You know, in the nursing

29· ·home you were expected to look after 32

30· ·residents, and in the early days, you know,

31· ·even more.· Like Section B was divided in half

32· ·at one time, so that was maybe 45, you know, 50

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 894
·1· ·residents for one RN.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. And how would that compare to

·3· ·the hospital experience?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Well, in the hospital it was

·5· ·usually, you know, six to eight, and they would

·6· ·have a medication nurse sometimes on top of

·7· ·that as well.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen, I want to talk to you

·9· ·a bit about the educational opportunities that

10· ·the registered staff and the other staff had in

11· ·the home, and as I saw through the documents,

12· ·you had meetings of the Registered Nursing

13· ·staff; is that correct?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, we did.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And you also had a

16· ·Professional Advisory Committee or Professional

17· ·Advisory Team meetings?

18· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. And there was also Medication

20· ·Management Program evaluations; is that right?

21· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Let me ask you about first

23· ·the Registered Nursing staff meetings, and I

24· ·think by way of example I would like to pull up

25· ·document number 72119.

26· · · · · · · · · Helen, just tell us first what

27· ·was your philosophy behind these registered

28· ·staff meetings and approximately how often

29· ·these meetings occurred?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Well, we had them less

31· ·frequently in the beginning, until one nurse

32· ·said to me, you know, Helen, I know you can't
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·1· ·always change everything, but it gives me a lot

·2· ·of support when we can meet in a group.· I like

·3· ·it that we can talk things out and hear what

·4· ·the other nurses think, and so I thought about

·5· ·that and I thought then it was important to

·6· ·meet once a month.· So we started doing that.

·7· · · · · · · · · Now, sometimes, you know, things

·8· ·got hectic and we would have to postpone or

·9· ·cancel, but you know, we would always try and

10· ·book a meeting once a month.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, this particular meeting

12· ·that happened in July of 2010, have a look at

13· ·item number 2; what was the issue there?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Well, at this time in July we

15· ·had new full-time -- a new full-time RPN

16· ·evening shift, and there were still some shifts

17· ·not covered, but it was proving a lot less

18· ·stressful.· So this was to help the RN in the

19· ·evening:

20· · · · · · · · · "[The] RN feels more human -

21· · · · · · · · · more time to represent the home

22· · · · · · · · · with families; not near as

23· · · · · · · · · rushed; [it's] much better."

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Let me take you down to item

25· ·number 5.· It deals with falls and it says:

26· · · · · · · · · "Need Head Injury Routine [...]"

27· · · · · · · · · What was the thinking there?

28· · · · · · · · · A. It is hard to remember back,

29· ·but we did have the Head Injury Routine Form,

30· ·and if you were part of a fall investigation

31· ·and if the fall was unwitnessed -- and that

32· ·couldn't be witnessed by another resident or a
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·1· ·family member.· It had to be witnessed by a

·2· ·staff member, or unless there was a doctor's

·3· ·order to say only do it if there is evidence of

·4· ·a head injury, then it was required to be

·5· ·initiated.

·6· · · · · · · · · They were also to do a

·7· ·head-to-toe assessment, and you know, if the

·8· ·resident had a fall, they would palpate the

·9· ·resident's body, starting with the head.

10· ·Especially if there was, you know, a head

11· ·injury, they would, you know, feel for any

12· ·bumps, look for any bruising, you know, being

13· ·very gentle.· They would palpate the neck,

14· ·asking the resident, if they could, if it hurt,

15· ·you know, when they pushed down.· They would go

16· ·through the arm, through the body and through

17· ·the legs.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Item number 7, Helen, this

19· ·had to do with a response to noticing a change

20· ·in resident's condition.· What was this about?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Well, we were realizing that

22· ·a urine infection could be the cause of a

23· ·change in resident's condition, so you know, if

24· ·they were eating this morning and they didn't

25· ·eat at lunch or if they were eating yesterday

26· ·and they weren't eating their breakfast, we had

27· ·I think, you know, something was going on.· Or

28· ·if the staff noticed there was more confusion,

29· ·then we were to think, you know, I wonder if

30· ·there is a urine infection.

31· · · · · · · · · And we had a urine dip test kit

32· ·at that time.· It was just a matter of getting
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·1· ·a sample, you know, and taking a few minutes to

·2· ·dip a little stick in the urine, and then there

·3· ·were markers that would read positive if things

·4· ·were in the urine that shouldn't be there, like

·5· ·ketones, protein, blood, sugar, that kind of

·6· ·thing.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, Helen, I don't want to

·8· ·get into the specifics, but you'll see in item

·9· ·number 9 it says:

10· · · · · · · · · "Follow up on residents [...]"

11· · · · · · · · · Is it fair to assume that if

12· ·residents were exhibiting some new or

13· ·challenging behaviour that was confounding the

14· ·staff, their specific care plans or cases would

15· ·be discussed at these RN meetings?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, if I thought that others

17· ·could learn from the example, you know, and I

18· ·don't know where this resident lived off the

19· ·top of my head, I don't recognize the initials,

20· ·but I wanted, you know, staff to learn from

21· ·others, and this was one example.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, Helen --

23· · · · · · · · · A. And we were using Lactulose

24· ·and Senakot.· So did the resident really need

25· ·both laxatives?· And we knew from my going to

26· ·an in-service in London at the geriatric

27· ·refresher day that Lactulose was a very good

28· ·laxative for the elderly, but it had to be

29· ·used.· It wasn't, you know, a PRN type of

30· ·laxative.· You wouldn't use it for, you know,

31· ·two or three days and hope for results.

32· ·Lactulose was something to be given every day
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·1· ·and dosed individually.· Some residents might

·2· ·only need, you know, 15 ml --

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. So, Helen, let me just stop

·4· ·you there.· Is this the kind of discussion that

·5· ·you would have regarding new issues or

·6· ·residents?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, yes.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. If you turn over to item

·9· ·number 12 on the second page of the document,

10· ·there is a reference to making an effort:

11· · · · · · · · · "Some staff are making an

12· · · · · · · · · effort", in relation to the

13· · · · · · · · · MDS-RAI.

14

15

16
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·1· · · · · · · · · Was this an issue getting the

·2· ·MDS-RAI forms completed?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Well, this was an issue, and

·4· ·it was something, you know, new.· There was a

·5· ·bit of a learning curve.· Some staff were

·6· ·making an effort, and others needed, you know,

·7· ·more of a push.· And we clarified a few things

·8· ·there.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· Now, it says at

10· ·the bottom of the page that the next meeting

11· ·would be August 31, 2010.· Would these minutes

12· ·be available to the other RNs?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· The ones that came

14· ·would get a copy of the minutes, and I would

15· ·post it in their communication book.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Now I want to ask you about a

17· ·broader forum for education, not just the RNs

18· ·but the PAC meetings.· And if we can pull up

19· ·this is from Exhibit 10, and that is Brenda's

20· ·affidavit, document number 72262.

21· · · · · · · · · Helen, what was the concept

22· ·behind these PAC meetings and who attended?

23· · · · · · · · · A. The concept was to review

24· ·what was going on in the home under three

25· ·different categories, nursing, pharmacy and

26· ·infection control.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. And if I just stop you there,

28· ·and if you turn over to the third page of this

29· ·document, it says "Caressant Care Woodstock,

30· ·May 17, 2011".

31· · · · · · · · · And one more page, sorry.· No,

32· ·keep going.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Okay, is this a standing agenda

·2· ·for these meetings?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, it is.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Sometimes things would be

·6· ·added under "Other", but this was the standing

·7· ·agenda.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, and if you turn

·9· ·over to the second page, it appears to include

10· ·a pharmacy report as well?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, Joanne Polkiewicz was

12· ·our Pharmacy Consultant, and she would come to

13· ·the meeting.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, if we go back to the

15· ·very first page of this document, 72262, you'll

16· ·see a heading called "Compliance Visits"; do

17· ·you see that, Helen?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, uhm-hmm.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. And does that refer to visits

20· ·from Ministry of Health inspectors?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, it does.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. And so what was the goal of

23· ·reviewing compliance visits with the PAC team?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Well, just to share the

25· ·information that we did have a visit, and if

26· ·there were issues that needed correction, we

27· ·would review it and, you know, sometimes there

28· ·was suggestions.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And if you turn

30· ·over to the next page, you will see there is a

31· ·similar heading called "Critical Incidents".

32· ·What was the purpose of having that on your
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·1· ·agenda?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Well, critical incidents were

·3· ·things that we wanted to avoid.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. So were you reviewing

·5· ·critical incidents that had been submitted at

·6· ·these PAC meetings?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm, this meeting took

·8· ·place May 17th, so we would start from the last

·9· ·meeting and review to the last one that

10· ·happened before May 17th was May 4th.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. And, Helen, how often would

12· ·you have these PAC meetings?

13· · · · · · · · · A. We had them four times a

14· ·year, every three months.· Sometimes, you know,

15· ·if someone was going to be on vacation, we

16· ·would, you know, bump it up a little bit or

17· ·delay it by a couple of weeks, but we tried to

18· ·plan it so that we could have the best

19· ·attendance.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, under the heading

21· ·"Critical Incidents" is a heading called

22· ·"Education".· What was the purpose of having

23· ·that discussion at these PAC meetings?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Again, just to share what we

25· ·were doing.· You know, we had a representative

26· ·there from Public Health, and we had our

27· ·Pharmacy Consultant there and they could see

28· ·what we were doing, if they had any

29· ·suggestions.· You know, they would visit other

30· ·homes as well, and you know, they were aware of

31· ·other things maybe going on, so we were always

32· ·open to suggestions.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, on that standing agenda

·2· ·that we looked at a few moments ago it said

·3· ·"New P&P".· Is that new policies and

·4· ·procedures?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And then if you

·7· ·turn over to the last page of these minutes,

·8· ·there is a heading called "Ethics"; what was

·9· ·that about?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I think this was for

11· ·accreditation.· They wanted us to discuss

12· ·ethical questions if, you know, they arose, so

13· ·we would try to think of something that

14· ·happened, and this was something just new, I

15· ·think, because you know, the "Training [was]

16· ·done last week by Head Office".· So we would

17· ·talk about an ethical question when something

18· ·came up in our group.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, Helen, the last area

20· ·that I want to cover with you in terms of

21· ·general education is the evaluation of your

22· ·Medication Management Systems, and I would like

23· ·to pull up document 43479.

24· · · · · · · · · Helen, have you seen this kind

25· ·of form before?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, we had them for

27· ·different programs in the home.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, this one says it was a

29· ·review from medical pharmacy to Woodstock

30· ·Caressant Care and that the review was

31· ·completed by Sandra Fluttert, and who was that?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Sandra was our Resident Care
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·1· ·Coordinator at the time.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. And it says that the goal of

·3· ·the program is:

·4· · · · · · · · · "To provide the appropriate

·5· · · · · · · · · medication that residents

·6· · · · · · · · · require."

·7· · · · · · · · · And it also says that the person

·8· ·accountable for the program is the DON.· Who

·9· ·was that at the time?

10· · · · · · · · · A. That was myself.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· So what role did

12· ·you play in satisfying yourself that the

13· ·evaluation of the Medication Management System

14· ·was done properly?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I would look at this

16· ·and agree with it or disagree with it.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, well, let me take

18· ·you through this.· Item number 1 says:

19· · · · · · · · · "There is a multidisciplinary

20· · · · · · · · · team which meets at least

21· · · · · · · · · quarterly."

22· · · · · · · · · Was that happening?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. And it says that in number 2:

25· · · · · · · · · "Minutes for these team meetings

26· · · · · · · · · are documented including the

27· · · · · · · · · results of reviews and

28· · · · · · · · · improvements made."

29· · · · · · · · · Was that happening?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. And it indicates that:

32· · · · · · · · · "The quarterly reviews consist
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·1· · · · · · · · · of at least, drug utilization

·2· · · · · · · · · trends [and] utilization

·3· · · · · · · · · patterns in the home."

·4· · · · · · · · · Was that happening?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, the Pharmacy Consultant

·6· ·would bring that to the meeting.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, and was there

·8· ·evidence of quarterly reviews of all medication

·9· ·incidents?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, and were you reviewing

12· ·to see that there were written policies and

13· ·procedures?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And number 6 says:

16· · · · · · · · · "All registered staff have been

17· · · · · · · · · in-serviced on how to access

18· · · · · · · · · policies on-line."

19· · · · · · · · · Was that something that was

20· ·happening?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. And was the facility

23· ·participating in the institute for Safe

24· ·Medication Practices, the Self-Assessment?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. And someone under number 8

27· ·would have been checking the medication rooms.

28· ·Who was doing that?

29· · · · · · · · · A. Well, Sandra, you know, was

30· ·doing this audit, so she would have gone

31· ·through to the medication rooms and, you know,

32· ·just surveyed things and looked at things.· She
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·1· ·didn't check off the "Walls painted and in good

·2· ·repair" and "Signage appropriate", so she, you

·3· ·know, probably put a note in the maintenance

·4· ·book and thought there should be some things

·5· ·done there.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. If you turn over to item

·7· ·number 10, it says:

·8· · · · · · · · · "All new employees undergo

·9· · · · · · · · · consistent baseline competence

10· · · · · · · · · evaluation, including specific

11· · · · · · · · · assessment criteria, before

12· · · · · · · · · participating independently in

13· · · · · · · · · the medication use process."

14· · · · · · · · · Were you part of making sure

15· ·that your new staff underwent the baseline

16· ·evaluation?

17· · · · · · · · · A. I would, you know, ask them

18· ·how they were doing.· The new staff member, you

19· ·know, the first day she was usually an observer

20· ·or maybe for half the day or part of the med

21· ·pass, and then the RN or the RPN that was

22· ·orientating would say, you know, why don't you

23· ·give a few of the meds, so that they would get,

24· ·you know, used to the system.

25· · · · · · · · · And then by the time their

26· ·orientation was finished, they would be, you

27· ·know, doing the med pass with the RN or RPN

28· ·overseeing it.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Now, skipping down

30· ·towards the bottom of the page, there is a box

31· ·for "Areas for Improvement", and there is a

32· ·reference here to:
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·1· · · · · · · · · "Assess over medication of

·2· · · · · · · · · elderly [and] discontinue meds

·3· · · · · · · · · [...]"

·4· · · · · · · · · When an area for improvement was

·5· ·identified, how was that addressed by you?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Well, the residents'

·7· ·medications were reviewed quarterly, so the

·8· ·idea was that the nurses would look to see what

·9· ·hadn't been used in the last month or two, you

10· ·know, PRNs in particular, and then review the

11· ·general medications.· You know, the idea was

12· ·that there was polypharmacy happening with the

13· ·elderly, and if medications could be tried to

14· ·be discontinued, you know, that was a good way

15· ·to go.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

17· · · · · · · · · A. So those recommendations

18· ·would be made to the doctor.· You know,

19· ·sometimes he would say, Oh, she has been on

20· ·these so long that I think it would be harmful

21· ·to try and discontinue them, and sometimes he

22· ·would agree to discontinue.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, let me stop you

24· ·there.· Before I move on to another area,

25· ·perhaps we should mark these exhibits.

26· · · · · · · · · We had the registered staff

27· ·meeting minutes from July 29, 2010.

28· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Are any of

29· · · · · · · · · them subject to redaction, or

30· · · · · · · · · they have all been checked?

31· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· 72119 I believe has

32· · · · · · · · · been redacted.
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·1· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

·2· ·So, Madam Clerk, you can correct

·3· ·me, but I think that we are --

·4· ·is it Exhibit 18?

·5· ·THE COURT CLERK:· Yes, Madam

·6· ·Commissioner.

·7· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Exhibit 18

·8· ·then is the Registered Staff

·9· ·Meeting Minutes dated July 29,

10· ·2010, a single page.

11· ·EXHIBIT NO. 18:· Registered

12· ·Staff Meeting Minutes dated July

13· ·29, 2010, single-page document.

14· ·MR. GOLDEN:· And then we have

15· ·the PAC Meeting Minutes of May

16· ·17, 2011, doc ID 72262, that was

17· ·marked as an exhibit in Exhibit

18· ·10.· That is Brenda's affidavit.

19· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· So it has

20· ·already been an exhibit.

21· ·MR. GOLDEN:· Yes.

22· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Is it

23· ·recommended that we put another

24· ·exhibit number on it?· Can we

25· ·not just refer -- what was the

26· ·exhibit?· It was Brenda's

27· ·exhibit.

28· ·MS. HEWITT:· Brenda's was I

29· ·believe Exhibit 15.

30· ·MR. GOLDEN:· Right, and it was

31· ·tab B in Brenda's affidavit.· So

32· ·I don't think we need --
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·1· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· No, Brenda's

·2· ·affidavit was 10, wasn't it?

·3· ·MS. HEWITT:· Yes, 10.

·4· ·MR. GOLDEN:· Yes, Exhibit 10,

·5· ·and this particular document is

·6· ·at tab B in her affidavit.

·7· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right, so

·8· ·just for the purposes of the

·9· ·webcast and so on, we'll just

10· ·identify again that the minutes

11· ·of the PAC meeting are part of

12· ·Exhibit 10, at what tab again?

13· ·MR. GOLDEN:· It is tab B.

14· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Tab B, thank

15· ·you.· So we won't mark that as a

16· ·new exhibit, Madam Clerk.

17· ·MR. GOLDEN:· And then the

18· ·Medication Management System

19· ·Program Evaluation, doc ID

20· ·43479, which is dated September

21· ·2013, that could be the next

22· ·exhibit.

23· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right,

24· ·thank you.· Then the Medication

25· ·Management System Program

26· ·Evaluation as described is

27· ·Exhibit 20.

28· ·THE COURT CLERK:· Is that

29· ·Exhibit 19?

30· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· No, 19 was

31· ·the Registered Staff Minutes,

32· ·Meeting Minutes, July 29.
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·1· ·THE COURT CLERK:· And Exhibit 18

·2· ·was --

·3· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Sorry, thank

·4· ·you, Madam Clerk.

·5· ·So the Registered Staff Meeting

·6· ·Minutes were Exhibit 18?

·7· ·THE COURT CLERK:· Yes.

·8· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Okay, Exhibit

·9· ·18.

10· ·The other one, the PAC Meeting

11· ·Minutes is not a fresh exhibit

12· ·because it has already been

13· ·identified as Exhibit 10 at tab

14· ·B.

15· ·And the Medication Management

16· ·System Program Evaluation

17· ·dated -- where is the date on

18· ·that?

19· ·MR. GOLDEN:· It is signed

20· ·September 2013.

21· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Okay,

22· ·September 2013, a two-page

23· ·document, and that will be

24· ·Exhibit 19 then, yes.

25· ·MR. GOLDEN:· Thank you.

26· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you

27· ·very much.

28· ·EXHIBIT NO. 19:· Medication

29· ·Management System Program

30· ·Evaluation, dated September

31· ·2013.

32· ·BY MR. GOLDEN:
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen, I know you spoke at

·2· ·some length last week about the discipline

·3· ·process, including the concept of progressive

·4· ·discipline, but I want to better understand

·5· ·from you why you used a system of progressive

·6· ·discipline?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Well, we wanted to build a

·8· ·case that was strong and that the union would

·9· ·be agreeable with.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. But what would happen, from

11· ·your experience, if you missed a step?

12· · · · · · · · · A. They would file a grievance

13· ·and possibly win.· They might have to -- we

14· ·might have to bring the staff member back and

15· ·make them feel whole, and that usually meant

16· ·paying any shifts that they missed.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. And was it your understanding

18· ·that different areas of performance, for

19· ·example, absenteeism versus medication errors,

20· ·would be treated separately in the discipline

21· ·process?

22· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Why was that?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I think it was to give

25· ·the employee a better or a longer time to

26· ·correct their behaviour and fall in line.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, when you did have

28· ·meetings with registered staff regarding

29· ·discipline, was there an opportunity given for

30· ·a union representative to participate in those

31· ·meetings?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you ever schedule

·2· ·those meetings in such a way so as to prevent a

·3· ·union rep from being there?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. No.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, we went through last

·6· ·week virtually all of the meetings that

·7· ·happened that took place where Elizabeth

·8· ·Wettlaufer was disciplined.· After any of those

·9· ·meetings, were you ever contacted by someone at

10· ·the union's head office or a representative of

11· ·the union to get your perspective on why the

12· ·discipline happened or what the underlying

13· ·professional issues were?

14· · · · · · · · · A. No.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Who would have been the nurse

16· ·responsible in Caressant Care Woodstock for

17· ·exercising her judgment regarding whether

18· ·professional standards were being met by the

19· ·other nurses?

20· · · · · · · · · A. That would be me.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. And was there any ambiguity

22· ·that you were the one exercising your judgment?

23· · · · · · · · · A. No.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. At any time over the course

25· ·of Elizabeth Wettlaufer's employment at

26· ·Caressant Care Woodstock, did you have any

27· ·inquiry or communication at all from a

28· ·representative of her union regarding wanting

29· ·to understand her performance issues?

30· · · · · · · · · A. No.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, we know from the

32· ·evidence from last week there was a five-day
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·1· ·suspension in 2014 followed by a termination.

·2· ·Were you ever contacted by anyone at the union

·3· ·to find out your perspective on the suspension

·4· ·specifically and the termination specifically?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. No.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And is that even after the

·7· ·grievances were filed?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, I understood from the

10· ·evidence last week and from your affidavit that

11· ·you were responsible for appraising the

12· ·performance of the registered staff?

13· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And Ms. Hewitt took you to

15· ·one of the early Performance Appraisals of

16· ·Elizabeth Wettlaufer.· I now have some

17· ·questions for you about a later appraisal,

18· ·which is found in Exhibit 16 at tab G, and that

19· ·is doc ID 16785.

20· · · · · · · · · So if you have your affidavit

21· ·there, you can open it to tab G.

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I have it here.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. And it should be a review

24· ·which was conducted on December 19th, 2013; do

25· ·you see that?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So again, who would

28· ·have been present when this form was filled

29· ·out?

30· · · · · · · · · A. It would be Bethe and myself.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· I would like to

32· ·take you through this, because not many months
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·1· ·after she was terminated.· So there is a

·2· ·heading called "Job Knowledge and Skills"; do

·3· ·you see that?· And the first point is

·4· ·"Medication Administration & Assessment

·5· ·Skills"; what was your rating for that?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. That was a 2.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. And that is your scale that

·8· ·was used at the home of 1, 2, 3 and 4?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. And 2 is what you called a

11· ·provisional rating?

12· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And is that your

14· ·handwriting under the "Comments" section?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. What does it say there?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Well, it was referring to

18· ·someone's eye drops, that they weren't given

19· ·correctly.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, in contrast to that 2

21· ·for medication administration, the last

22· ·sub-heading under "Job Knowledge" is called

23· ·"Shares Knowledge & Expertise with Others" and

24· ·she is rated as a 4.· Explain your thinking

25· ·there.

26· · · · · · · · · A. She was good about sharing

27· ·her knowledge.· She would, you know, talk to

28· ·others, and you know, she loved to teach.· We

29· ·had high school students in the building after

30· ·school, and we also had student nurses that

31· ·would work during the summer months.· And I

32· ·could see her, you know, interacting with those
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·1· ·people at times.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· Under "Quality of

·3· ·Work", you rated her a 2 under the third item

·4· ·"Completed in a timely manner".· What was the

·5· ·issue there?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Well, this was probably her

·7· ·assessments, you know, building that care plan.

·8· ·There were some -- and I don't know if this is

·9· ·the right time frame.· I mean, there were

10· ·different issues at different times, but she

11· ·wasn't always, you know, getting her work done.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· Now can you turn

13· ·over to the second page of the evaluation, and

14· ·there is a narrative portion towards the bottom

15· ·where it says "Performance Evaluation, Areas of

16· ·Proficiency".· Is that your handwriting there?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, it is.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. And there is a reference to

19· ·her communication skills.· Can you read your

20· ·handwriting there?

21· · · · · · · · · A. I have written:

22· · · · · · · · · "Communicates well with

23· · · · · · · · · residents and families.· Cares

24· · · · · · · · · deeply about the residents."

25· · · · · · · · · She should be -- she has become

26· · · · · · · · · "More proficient in

27· · · · · · · · · supervising", and she shows a

28· · · · · · · · · "Happy demeanor [and]

29· · · · · · · · · participates in Halloween."

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, under "Areas for

31· ·Development" you have written the word

32· ·"Attendance"; am I correct?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, in terms of how you

·3· ·evaluate staff as an employer, in your mind is

·4· ·there a difference between attendance and, say,

·5· ·punctuality?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Certainly.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. What would that difference

·8· ·be?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. Attendance is, you know,

10· ·working as your schedule dictates, and

11· ·punctuality is being at work on time.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. And what was Bethe's history

13· ·in terms of being at work on time?

14· · · · · · · · · A. She was good.· We talked to

15· ·her once, and it didn't seem to be a problem

16· ·after that.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Can you look over at page 3

18· ·of this appraisal where it says "Appraiser's

19· ·Summary", and can you read out for us what you

20· ·wrote there?· I am assuming this is your

21· ·handwriting.

22· · · · · · · · · A. Under the "Action Plan" -- or

23· ·the "Summary"?· Okay.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Where it says "Appraiser's

25· ·Summary".

26· · · · · · · · · A. "Bethe, your performance this

27· · · · · · · · · year has been below what is

28· · · · · · · · · expected.· I do feel you have

29· · · · · · · · · the capability and potential to

30· · · · · · · · · do better.· This is what we need

31· · · · · · · · · and want for you.· Let's get

32· · · · · · · · · 2014 off to a great start."
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen, I know it is hard to

·2· ·look back without hindsight, but were you at

·3· ·this point in December of 2013 starting to

·4· ·develop a view as to whether Elizabeth could

·5· ·sustain improvements in her behaviour in the

·6· ·face of encouragement and/or discipline?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. I hoped she could.· You know,

·8· ·I hoped she would self-reflect and think about

·9· ·what had happened over the year and that she

10· ·would really be focussed and do better in 2014.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· Now, Helen, there

12· ·were some references last week to a reference

13· ·letter that was provided by the Vice President

14· ·of Human Resources at Caressant Care to Bethe

15· ·Wettlaufer, and it was dated June 11, 2014.

16· ·And I would like to call up that document.· It

17· ·is part of Exhibit 6 and it is document ID

18· ·number 16712.

19· · · · · · · · · Now, Helen, I know that we have

20· ·learned already from Exhibit No. 6 that was put

21· ·into evidence that Elizabeth Wettlaufer was

22· ·hired elsewhere before this letter was even

23· ·signed, but I'm curious, did you have any input

24· ·into this letter?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I believe I did.· Wanda

26· ·called me one day and asked, Helen, if you

27· ·could say some positive things about Bethe,

28· ·what would they be?· And I gave her this

29· ·information.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you know what was the

31· ·purpose of that question when you were asked

32· ·it?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. No, I didn't.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, Helen, regarding the

·3· ·termination at the end of March 2014, I asked

·4· ·Brenda, but I'm curious on your perspective as

·5· ·well.· Once you had formed a view that Bethe

·6· ·Wettlaufer should be terminated, what was the

·7· ·reaction or level of support or non-support

·8· ·from head office?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. It was good.· You know,

10· ·Brenda and Wanda communicated.· You know, we

11· ·tried to follow the steps to build a strong

12· ·case and --

13· · · · · · · · · Q. What did you view as the main

14· ·risk in going forward with the termination?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Well, again, that the union

16· ·would fight it to a degree, that we would have

17· ·to either bring her back, you know, and pay her

18· ·lost wages.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Now, we talked to

20· ·Brenda last week about the mandatory employer's

21· ·report to the College of a termination, and

22· ·that was document number 16717.· We really

23· ·don't need to bring it up.

24· · · · · · · · · But we did note last week that

25· ·you were designated as the contact person for

26· ·the College of Nurses in that report.· Were you

27· ·aware of that?

28· · · · · · · · · A. Not at the time, I don't

29· ·believe.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, then can we --

31· · · · · · · · · A. But it makes sense because

32· ·I'm the RN or the Director of Nursing.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· There is a

·2· ·document also in Exhibit 6 which is document

·3· ·number 16715.· It is a letter to you from the

·4· ·College of Nurses dated July 17, 2014.· Helen,

·5· ·do you recall receiving this letter from the

·6· ·College?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall, but I know I

·8· ·did because my name is here and --

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And you gave some

10· ·evidence last week regarding a conversation

11· ·that you had with the College inspector, and I

12· ·believe you really didn't have a direct

13· ·recollection of that conversation; is that

14· ·fair?

15· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Other than that conversation,

17· ·do you recollect any other contact from the

18· ·College to you?

19· · · · · · · · · A. No, I don't.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And in the course of the

21· ·follow-up to Caressant Care's report to the

22· ·College and this response dated July 17, did

23· ·you reflect on or did you believe that prior to

24· ·the termination, you had some professional

25· ·obligation to report Bethe Wettlaufer to the

26· ·College?

27· · · · · · · · · A. Could you repeat that again,

28· ·please?

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.· Other than the report

30· ·that was made about her termination, did you

31· ·ever have a belief that you were required to

32· ·report her to the College for something else?

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 919
·1· · · · · · · · · A. No.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Let me ask you about, again,

·3· ·drilling down on your professional views about

·4· ·Elizabeth Wettlaufer and again this is without

·5· ·hindsight it is really hard, but did she

·6· ·display a reasonable level of knowledge to you

·7· ·regarding her job duties at Caressant Care?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And when you disciplined her,

10· ·did she appear to understand what she had done

11· ·wrong and the principles behind what she had

12· ·done wrong?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, she did.· She would, you

14· ·know, sometimes point them out before I did.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you ever form a view

16· ·in the course of these disciplines that she was

17· ·unfit to be a nurse?

18· · · · · · · · · A. No.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. And did there appear to be

20· ·gaps in her understanding how to do an

21· ·assessment and how to deal with a situation,

22· ·situations that residents presented at

23· ·Caressant Care Woodstock?

24· · · · · · · · · A. No.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. We also heard last week a bit

26· ·about this issue of her having a bipolar

27· ·condition, and I want to know whether you had a

28· ·concern that her bipolar condition made it

29· ·unlikely that she could exercise her

30· ·professional nursing duties?

31· · · · · · · · · A. No, I felt that she -- that

32· ·that was not a hindrance to her.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, Helen, there is an

·2· ·exhibit that is in your affidavit.· It is tab

·3· ·R, and so this is Exhibit 16, tab R, doc ID

·4· ·522.· It is a Critical Incident Report, and we

·5· ·reviewed this somewhat or you reviewed it with

·6· ·Ms. Hewitt last week.· This is an occurrence

·7· ·involving the resident "CH"; do you see that?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And this is the Critical

10· ·Incident Report that shows a date of January

11· ·12th for the incident and the submission date

12· ·to the Ministry of Health as January 30th; do

13· ·you see that?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And can you read what it says

16· ·on the very bottom of the first page?

17· · · · · · · · · A. "Confidential - For Internal

18· ·Use Only".

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, Helen, does this

20· ·Critical Incident Report contain personal

21· ·health information about residents?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, it does.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. And does it also contain

24· ·information about behaviour and incidents

25· ·involving a resident?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, it does.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you ever understand

28· ·that you were allowed to share Critical

29· ·Incident Reports with anyone other than the

30· ·Ministry?

31· · · · · · · · · A. No, I thought that it was to

32· ·be kept private.

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 921
·1· · · · · · · · · Q. And how were these reports

·2· ·actually done?· Was it done on paper?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. No, at this time it was on a

·4· ·computer, on -- and, you know, we had to go to

·5· ·the icon for the critical incident.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And then it would go directly

·7· ·to the Ministry?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, there was another

10· ·Critical Incident Report also in your affidavit

11· ·at tab S.· That is document number 389.· This

12· ·is dated the 8th of February, 2012, and was

13· ·submitted the 8th of February, 2012.· And

14· ·again, this involves "CH"; do you see that?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. And to the best of your

17· ·recollection, Helen, when these two Critical

18· ·Incident Reports went in to the Ministry in

19· ·2012, did the Ministry, having received them

20· ·and reviewed them, come back and inform you

21· ·that the home was in breach of some obligation

22· ·that it had?

23· · · · · · · · · A. No.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. And, Helen, is it your

25· ·experience or was it your experience generally

26· ·that if the Ministry, in response to either a

27· ·Critical Incident Report or an inspection, if

28· ·they found that the home had breached an

29· ·obligation or a duty that is imposed on the

30· ·home, they would note that as a non-compliance?

31· · · · · · · · · A. They would.

32· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· Helen, thank you.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Those are my questions.

·2· · · · · · · · · Oh, we probably -- no, I think

·3· · · · · · · · · everything has been marked.

·4· · · · · · · · · Okay, good.

·5· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you

·6· · · · · · · · · very much.

·7· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Thank you,

·8· · · · · · · · · Commissioner.

·9· · · · · · · · · On behalf of the families,

10· · · · · · · · · Mr. Van Kralingen.

11· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. VAN

12· · · · · · · · · KRALINGEN:

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Hi, Ms. Crombez, my name is

14· ·Alex Van Kralingen.· I'm one of the lawyers

15· ·representing one of the victims' groups.

16· · · · · · · · · Commissioner Gillese, I have

17· ·handed up three copies of a compendium of

18· ·documents for my examination today.· I can

19· ·confirm that each of these documents have been

20· ·previously entered into evidence through either

21· ·previous affidavits or the Overview Reports.

22· ·None of them have any redaction issues to

23· ·manage.

24· · · · · · · · · I'm going to suggest that we

25· ·mark the whole compendium as the next exhibit.

26· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· All right,

27· · · · · · · · · and that would be Exhibit 21 --

28· · · · · · · · · or 20?· Thank you.· Exhibit 20

29· · · · · · · · · then, thank you.

30· · · · · · · · · EXHIBIT NO. 20:· Compendium of

31· · · · · · · · · documents prepared by Mr. Van

32· · · · · · · · · Kralingen for the
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·1· · · · · · · · · Cross-Examination of Helen

·2· · · · · · · · · Crombez.

·3· · · · · · · · · BY MR. VAN KRALINGEN:

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, Ms. Crombez, before I

·5· ·get into the documents themselves, I wanted to

·6· ·confirm a few things from your examination with

·7· ·Ms. Hewitt on Friday.

·8· · · · · · · · · First, you discussed with Ms.

·9· ·Hewitt your reporting obligations to the

10· ·Ministry, and my understanding is that you

11· ·first received training about when and how to

12· ·report incidents to the Ministry of Health in

13· ·2012; is that correct?

14· · · · · · · · · A. I --

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, maybe I'll ask it in a

16· ·more open way, because I'm getting a question

17· ·from Ms. Hewitt.

18· · · · · · · · · Have you ever received training

19· ·about when you need to report to the Ministry?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· Yes, I have.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Can you tell me when you

22· ·remember receiving that training and from who

23· ·you received that training?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I can't really recall

25· ·off the top of my head right now.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. Were there resources at

27· ·Caressant Care's head office who you could ask

28· ·about if you had questions about your reporting

29· ·obligations to the Ministry?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, we had our Regional

31· ·Manager and we had a Nurse Consultant.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. And the same questions with
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·1· ·respect to the College of Nurses and any

·2· ·reporting obligations to them.· Have you ever

·3· ·received training with respect to the

·4· ·circumstances under which you need to report to

·5· ·the College of Nurses?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. I knew I had to report if a

·7· ·nurse was terminated.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. And how did you know that?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. I believe it happened once

10· ·previously.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. And through that one

12· ·termination, you learned about your reporting

13· ·obligation at that time?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And your best understanding

16· ·is that your only time where you need to report

17· ·to the College is in the circumstance of a

18· ·termination?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Well, there were other

20· ·circumstances under, you know, fitness to

21· ·practice, but I think that came later.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. And again, did you receive

23· ·any training or educational sessions in

24· ·connection with these obligations; i.e., did

25· ·you take a session where you learned about the

26· ·circumstances under which you needed to report?

27· · · · · · · · · A. I didn't receive any training

28· ·that I recall.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. And again, the same question

30· ·with respect to head office.· Were there any

31· ·resources at Caressant Care's head office that

32· ·would assist you in understanding any
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·1· ·obligations you might have to report to the

·2· ·College of Nurses?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Well, we did have those

·4· ·people there that could be resources.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Those same people?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. On Friday you mentioned that

·8· ·at some point you received approval for a

·9· ·camera to be placed in the medication room.  I

10· ·just want to understand, when you say you

11· ·received approval, you received approval from

12· ·Caressant Care's head office.· Does that mean

13· ·you also received funding from Caressant Care's

14· ·head office for the purposes of installing a

15· ·camera?

16· · · · · · · · · A. I think the approval, the

17· ·understanding was that we could, you know, talk

18· ·to our IT person to research that subject.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. So you received approval to

20· ·look into it is what you are suggesting?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Well, we -- you know, we had

22· ·to ask first if head office, you know, would

23· ·approve a camera in the med room, and we got

24· ·that.· And then Brenda, you know, either -- I

25· ·think she sent him an email probably asking him

26· ·about that.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you know when abouts this

28· ·was?

29· · · · · · · · · A. Pardon me?

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you know when, around when

31· ·did you receive this approval for the camera?

32· · · · · · · · · A. I can't recall exactly.· It
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·1· ·was, you know, in regard to a narcotic theft, I

·2· ·believe, but I don't know off the top of my

·3· ·head which one or what year.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. From your evidence, I didn't

·5· ·have a clear understanding as to why a camera

·6· ·was not installed in the medication room.

·7· · · · · · · · · A. It didn't go anywhere, as far

·8· ·as I understood it.· I think Andrew looked into

·9· ·it and it just, you know, didn't happen.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. But sitting here today, you

11· ·don't know why it didn't happen.· It wasn't a

12· ·question of money?· It wasn't a question of

13· ·technical difficulty?

14· · · · · · · · · A. No.· I just I don't know why

15· ·it didn't happen, but it didn't.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. You'll agree with me, though,

17· ·that there is at least a deterrent value in

18· ·having a camera in the medication room?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, certainly.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And --

21· · · · · · · · · A. And we had had cameras in the

22· ·building to watch the doors at one time when I

23· ·first started, so --

24· · · · · · · · · Q. And so given what you see as

25· ·the deterrent value, you are not in a position

26· ·to tell us today why Caressant Care didn't

27· ·install that camera in the medication room?

28· · · · · · · · · A. I don't really know.  I

29· ·wasn't part of that discussion.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. That is fair.· During Ms.

31· ·Hewitt's examination, you also discussed an

32· ·overarching philosophy towards medication

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 927
·1· ·errors, and as I understand it --

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, can you speak a little

·3· ·louder?

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. I apologize.

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Some of those words I'm not

·6· ·hearing well.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. And I will speak more slowly

·8· ·too.

·9· · · · · · · · · A. Thank you.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. During Ms. Hewitt's

11· ·examination, you discussed an overarching

12· ·philosophy towards medication errors.· My

13· ·understanding is that the philosophy is that no

14· ·one should be disciplined for a medication

15· ·error because you want to encourage staff to

16· ·report medication errors so you can

17· ·appropriately intervene; is that correct?

18· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. To your mind, does that

20· ·philosophy change when you have the same staff

21· ·member making repeated medication errors?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, it does, and it did.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Is there a concern that

24· ·repeated medication errors from the same nurse

25· ·could reflect a competence issue?

26· · · · · · · · · A. It could, but you know, as we

27· ·have talked about before, the nurses had a very

28· ·busy workload.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. During Ms. Hewitt's

30· ·examination, you also discussed your hiring

31· ·processes and specifically with respect to Ms.

32· ·Wettlaufer.
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·1· · · · · · · · · You'll recall that Ms.

·2· ·Wettlaufer provided a resumé that showed her

·3· ·working as a support worker for practically her

·4· ·entire career, despite the fact that she had

·5· ·graduated as an RN back in 1995.· Did you find

·6· ·that unusual, considering the market for RNs?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I -- she explained that

·8· ·by saying that she had been out east for some

·9· ·time, and I never -- I never really questioned

10· ·it.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. But Christian Horizons is

12· ·located relatively close to Caressant Care

13· ·Woodstock; have I got that right?

14· · · · · · · · · A. That's right.· I -- you know,

15· ·I didn't question it.· She was giving

16· ·medications there, and maybe she thought she

17· ·was good there.· She was an RN.· She was

18· ·registered with the College.· She seemed, you

19· ·know, eager.· She was happy.· She was a

20· ·minister's daughter.· She liked old people.

21· ·She had worked, you know, with a youth group.

22· ·She was a local girl.· I thought we were, you

23· ·know, blessed to have her walk through the

24· ·door.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. You will note that on --

26· ·well, I'm sure you did in preparation for your

27· ·testimony here, but on the resumé, Geraldton,

28· ·her time at Geraldton Hospital was not noted on

29· ·her resumé.

30· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. If you had known about her

32· ·experience at Geraldton Hospital and the
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·1· ·circumstances surrounding her termination from

·2· ·Geraldton Hospital, would that have affected

·3· ·your decision to hire Ms. Wettlaufer?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Certainly.· I was shocked

·5· ·when I saw that in the documents for the

·6· ·Inquiry.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. When Ms. Wettlaufer would

·8· ·work an overnight shift, I just wanted to be

·9· ·clear about the number of residents she would

10· ·be responsible for?

11· · · · · · · · · A. When she was the nurse in

12· ·Section B, and I am not sure when our, you

13· ·know, last licences were held, but she would be

14· ·responsible for 90, perhaps 95 to 99 residents

15· ·when she was employed.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Could you turn to tab

17· ·1 of the document you have got in front of you.

18· ·For the benefit of counsel, it is document

19· ·33544.

20· · · · · · · · · This is an October 17, 2006

21· ·Complaint Investigation Report from the

22· ·Ministry.· It indicates that the Ministry

23· ·investigators received a complaint that only

24· ·one RN was on in the evenings and that there

25· ·was a patient safety concern.· It also says

26· ·that they interviewed you for this complaint

27· ·investigation.

28· · · · · · · · · Do you remember that interview?

29· ·I know it was many years ago.

30· · · · · · · · · A. I know that it happened, yes.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. If you look under --

32· · · · · · · · · A. I didn't realize it was an
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·1· ·anonymous complaint anymore, but --

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. On the second page there is a

·3· ·heading called "Action Taken".· You indicated

·4· ·that you would have Personal Support Workers

·5· ·called in when there was a lack of registered

·6· ·staff members on duty; do you see that?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, this was in regards to

·8· ·if there was a fire, I believe.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And then under

10· ·"Additional Information" you indicate that:

11· · · · · · · · · "This home has advertised for

12· · · · · · · · · registered staff and has

13· · · · · · · · · initiated incentives for

14· · · · · · · · · employees of the home to help

15· · · · · · · · · recruit new staff."

16· · · · · · · · · Do you see that?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Can you tell us what those

19· ·initiatives were?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I know that there was

21· ·some kind of a finder's fee.· I think if a

22· ·staff member, you know, recommended someone to

23· ·start work at Caressant Care Woodstock, that

24· ·they would receive $1,000 or something like

25· ·that.

26· · · · · · · · · They also -- and I don't know if

27· ·that was, you know, at this time, but they also

28· ·had they would cover moving expenses for

29· ·registered staff.

30· · · · · · · · · Those were the two big things

31· ·that I remember.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, and back to the
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·1· ·substance of the complaint, in your experience

·2· ·at this time in late 2006, was it often that

·3· ·non-registered staff would take the place of

·4· ·registered staff?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, say that again?

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. At the end of 2006, was it

·7· ·often that non-registered staff would take the

·8· ·place of registered staff in the home?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. It is not that they took the

10· ·place of.· It is that they would, you know,

11· ·help with the workload, check on the safety of

12· ·residents, be extra hands on deck if there was

13· ·a fire or a flood or whatever.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. With respect to your first

15· ·point, are you suggesting that non-registered

16· ·staff would be completing tasks that are

17· ·properly done by registered staff?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Would they be completing

19· ·tasks that would normally be properly done by

20· ·registered staff?

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes, that is my question.

22· · · · · · · · · A. I believe at one time we had

23· ·them handing out or putting on prescription

24· ·creams, but that only lasted a short time and

25· ·it wasn't when, you know, they needed the

26· ·assessment piece done.· It was just when they

27· ·needed the application done.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Can you go to tab 3 of the

29· ·document you have in front of you.· For the

30· ·benefit of counsel, it is document 11530.

31· · · · · · · · · These are Progress Notes.· Well,

32· ·I'll actually let you explain them to me.· I'm
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·1· ·looking at a document that says "Caressant Care

·2· ·Woodstock Progress Notes", and in the bottom

·3· ·right-hand corner it references Clotilde

·4· ·Adriano; do you see that?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I do.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. This appears to be a printout

·7· ·of an automated form; is that fair to say?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. This is Caressant Care

·9· ·Woodstock's Progress Note for this resident.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. So electronic patient notes

11· ·is the best way to put it?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, that's correct.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So just for the

14· ·purposes of the public who sees it, can you

15· ·explain how this works?· Are they inputted on

16· ·a -- well, maybe you can explain how a nurse

17· ·would input a note and how it would appear on

18· ·this form?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Well, for their charting

20· ·assignment, the nurse would have a list of

21· ·names.· And not just a charting assignment, but

22· ·you know, their assignment for medications as

23· ·well.· And they would click on that resident,

24· ·and then it would open and you had, you know,

25· ·choices and you could click on "Progress Note".

26· ·And then you would open that, and you know, if

27· ·the date and the time were correct, you would,

28· ·you know, start typing.· If you wanted -- if

29· ·you were referencing a time earlier, then you

30· ·would say at that time and then, you know,

31· ·start typing.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, it allows, when you say
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·1· ·"start typing", it allows somebody inputting to

·2· ·put in a simple narrative of what has been

·3· ·going on?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.

·6· · · · · · · · · A. A Progress Note, yes.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, you'll recall that Ms.

·8· ·Adriano was Ms. Wettlaufer's first victim?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. And you'll --

11· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I know she was a victim

12· ·that she attempted to kill, yes.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. That's right, Ms. Adriano did

14· ·not die because of Ms. Wettlaufer's insulin

15· ·injections but --

16· · · · · · · · · A. Thank goodness.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.· So if we look at the

18· ·bottom note here that starts at 4:56 a.m., I'll

19· ·just read it:

20· · · · · · · · · "Resident's blood sugar remained

21· · · · · · · · · unstable throughout the night

22· · · · · · · · · continually dropping.· I called

23· · · · · · · · · Dr. Yu at 04:15 to receive

24· · · · · · · · · orders on her treatment, and he

25· · · · · · · · · told me that a nurse from

26· · · · · · · · · [Caressant Care] had called

27· · · · · · · · · earlier in the evening to inform

28· · · · · · · · · him of an insulin overdose, the

29· · · · · · · · · resident was receiving 30/70

30· · · · · · · · · insulin and got a dose of almost

31· · · · · · · · · 30 units.· He told me that I

32· · · · · · · · · needed to continue to monitor
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·1· · · · · · · · · her BS [...]"

·2· · · · · · · · · And I assume that means blood

·3· ·sugar?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. "[...] and continue to give

·6· · · · · · · · · juice and carbohydrates.· After

·7· · · · · · · · · speaking with Dr. Yu, I checked

·8· · · · · · · · · for any incident reports and

·9· · · · · · · · · found none completed, I was not

10· · · · · · · · · informed of any overdoses at

11· · · · · · · · · shift change."

12· · · · · · · · · So my first question is, in your

13· ·career at Caressant Care Woodstock, how often

14· ·would you hear about insulin overdoses?

15· · · · · · · · · A. I don't have any recollection

16· ·of this incident in particular.· Insulin

17· ·overdoses didn't happen.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. They are very rare; is that

19· ·fair to say?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, very rarely.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Very rarely.· I would like

22· ·you to go to the next tab, please.· For the

23· ·benefit of counsel, it is document 12113.

24· · · · · · · · · This again is relating to Ms.

25· ·Adriano's file, and the title of the document

26· ·is "Caressant Care Internal Resident Incident

27· ·Report".· Can you explain to me what this

28· ·document is and how it is created?

29· · · · · · · · · A. This is another tab that the

30· ·nurse can choose from when they want to report

31· ·a fall, a medication error or that kind of

32· ·thing.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. And who receives or reviews

·2· ·this document once it is created?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. I do.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. So is it fair to say at the

·5· ·time you would have received and reviewed this

·6· ·document?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. At that time, on October 6,

·9· ·2007, did you take any steps to determine who

10· ·was responsible for the insulin overdose?

11· · · · · · · · · A. See, I can't remember that.

12· ·I was asked that during the inspection, and I

13· ·could not recall the incident.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Sitting here today, do you

15· ·know if anybody else in Caressant Care

16· ·Woodstock's management took any steps to

17· ·investigate this insulin overdose?

18· · · · · · · · · A. I can't recall.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you know if anyone spoke

20· ·with Dr. Yu and called him about his comment

21· ·that a nurse had called him?

22· · · · · · · · · A. I can't recall.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So one of the reasons

24· ·why it is difficult to identify the nurse in

25· ·question is because that nurse did not do any

26· ·charting about an insulin overdose; is that

27· ·fair to say?

28· · · · · · · · · A. There was no charting in that

29· ·time frame, that is true.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, as we saw in the

31· ·previous document -- well, I'll just ask.· Do

32· ·you remember if Ms. Adriano was admitted to
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·1· ·hospital because of this insulin overdose?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. I didn't remember it at the

·3· ·time, but I -- you know, I have seen the

·4· ·documentation and I know she did.· There was a

·5· ·question of her having an infection, I believe,

·6· ·as well.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. My understanding is where

·8· ·there is a medication or treatment error

·9· ·leading to hospitalization that the Ministry of

10· ·Health must be called in to investigate; is

11· ·that your understanding?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. To the best of your

14· ·knowledge, why was that not done in this case?

15· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. In fact, in 2017, after Ms.

17· ·Wettlaufer confessed to her crimes, Caressant

18· ·Care Woodstock was criticized in a Ministry

19· ·Inspection Report for not reporting this to the

20· ·Ministry; is that correct?

21· · · · · · · · · A. I am not aware of that.  I

22· ·left early in February, and I did not see the

23· ·Inspection Report.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. That is fair.· I believe the

25· ·Inspection Report was issued in August 2017, so

26· ·what you are suggesting is you did not see that

27· ·Inspection Report?

28· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. In preparation for this

30· ·Inquiry, have you had an opportunity to see

31· ·that Inspection Report?

32· · · · · · · · · A. No, I didn't want to see it
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·1· ·because, you know, I didn't even look on the

·2· ·Caressant Care Woodstock website.· I was really

·3· ·upset with what had happened.· I wasn't in a

·4· ·good place, and I couldn't change anything

·5· ·anyway, so why burden myself with anything

·6· ·else.

·7· · · · · · · · · So I never looked at it.· I felt

·8· ·bad because I know the inspection didn't go

·9· ·well.· I was part of that.· There was just so

10· ·much going on.· The police would call me, you

11· ·know, several times a day asking, you know, can

12· ·you help us find this; what would help us, you

13· ·know, get an answer to that.· And I was really

14· ·focussed on helping them.

15· · · · · · · · · And the inspectors, they were

16· ·brutal.· They were angry about what had

17· ·happened.· They would ask me for documentation

18· ·and I was busy trying to, you know, fill beds,

19· ·move residents to create a space for them.

20· · · · · · · · · So I would try, you know, by the

21· ·end of the day to find the documentation they

22· ·requested.· And I would go down, and they would

23· ·be gone home and Gay would say, Oh, you didn't

24· ·need to do that.· I gave them everything they

25· ·asked for.· And I had spent, you know, time

26· ·trying to find what they wanted, but it was

27· ·just so busy and so hard.

28· · · · · · · · · They wanted answers.· You know,

29· ·I don't think well under pressure.· I don't

30· ·think well under pressure here.· If you ask me

31· ·a question and give me a week to think about

32· ·it, it might come back to me.· But no, I never
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·1· ·have done well under pressure, and you know, I

·2· ·look like I am pretty confident and can keep it

·3· ·together, but I am just a bag of nerves inside.

·4· ·And I have always been that way.

·5· · · · · · · · · I have always tried to do a good

·6· ·job.· I have loved my residents, and to know

·7· ·that there was a murderer there is -- it is

·8· ·just so very, very difficult.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Ms. Crombez, if you feel like

10· ·you would take to take a break at any point,

11· ·you let us know.

12· · · · · · · · · A. No, I just -- no, I want to

13· ·get this over with.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. I understand, okay.· So I'm

15· ·going to ask you to go to the next tab in the

16· ·documents you have in front of you, which is

17· ·tab 5.

18· · · · · · · · · By the way, my last comment

19· ·about wanting to take a break, that is a

20· ·standing note.· You just let us know at any

21· ·point, okay.

22· · · · · · · · · A. Thank you.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, so tab 5 is an

24· ·Employee Time Sheet from 2007.· I imagine that

25· ·you have seen this time sheet many times

26· ·before?

27· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I have.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And my understanding

29· ·is that for the second half of 2007, and I am

30· ·just looking at the first page here -- I

31· ·apologize, Counsel, it is document 16924.· I'll

32· ·let everyone pull it up.
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·1· · · · · · · · · And if you could kindly

·2· ·highlight the whole line that starts with

·3· ·October 1st and October 14; do you see that?

·4· ·Yes, there.· All the way across.· Thank you.

·5· · · · · · · · · Can you explain to me -- I think

·6· ·I understand how this works, but could you just

·7· ·explain to everyone how this would document an

·8· ·employee's time working?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. The employee would document

10· ·on the day that they started working.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

12· · · · · · · · · A. So if they worked a night

13· ·shift, they would, you know, document it on the

14· ·day they started working those hours.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And so my understanding is

16· ·that the first box beside "14" would be October

17· ·1st, and the second box would be October 2nd,

18· ·and so on; is that correct?

19· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.· And the

20· ·staff would document in the colour that they

21· ·worked.· Our schedule was colour-coded, so if

22· ·you worked a day shift, you would write it in

23· ·in blue ink; if you worked an evening shift,

24· ·you would write it in in green ink; and if you

25· ·worked a night shift, you would write it in in

26· ·red ink.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. And that is obviously not

28· ·captured in a black and white copy as such?

29· · · · · · · · · A. That's right.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· From what I can see,

31· ·it appears that on October the 6th Ms.

32· ·Wettlaufer worked a double shift, eight hours
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·1· ·plus eight hours.· Is that your review?· Would

·2· ·you agree with that, sorry?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. She signed in for both, yes.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you have any reason to

·5· ·believe that she did not work those shifts back

·6· ·to back?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. I have no reason to

·8· ·disbelieve this.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And so in the circumstances

10· ·where the Ministry of Health would have been

11· ·called to do an investigation, is this time

12· ·sheet one of the documents that would have been

13· ·available to them to review?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And so if they had reviewed

16· ·this document, you would agree with me that

17· ·they could have identified Ms. Wettlaufer as

18· ·working the night before on October the 6th?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry?

20· · · · · · · · · Q. I'll rephrase my question.

21· ·If the Ministry had come in to investigate the

22· ·circumstances of Ms. Adriano's insulin overdose

23· ·and her being sent to the hospital, the

24· ·Ministry would have been able to understand

25· ·that Ms. Wettlaufer was working on October 6th?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. And they would have been able

28· ·to see her working a double shift on October

29· ·6th?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Can you please go to

32· ·tab 8 of the document you have in front of you.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Mr. Golden has helpfully noted

·2· ·we are at 11:00 a.m.· I don't know when you

·3· ·want to take the morning break.

·4· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Perhaps you

·5· · · · · · · · · can just tell me where you are

·6· · · · · · · · · at in your cross-examination.

·7· · · · · · · · · MR. VAN KRALINGEN:· I think it

·8· · · · · · · · · is fair to say I'm about halfway

·9· · · · · · · · · through.

10· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Then I think

11· · · · · · · · · this is a good time to take the

12· · · · · · · · · morning break.

13· · · · · · · · · MR. VAN KRALINGEN:· I'm fine

14· · · · · · · · · with that.· Thank you.

15· · · · · · · · · -- RECESSED AT 11:00 A.M.

16· · · · · · · · · -- RESUMED AT 11:18 A.M.

17· · · · · · · · · BY MR. VAN KRALINGEN:

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Ms. Crombez, we were just

19· ·speaking about Ms. Adriano's circumstance in

20· ·2007.· I'm going to take you a few months

21· ·earlier to the circumstances of James Silcox's

22· ·passing in August 2007.

23· · · · · · · · · You will recall that

24· ·Ms. Wettlaufer filled out the Standard

25· ·Coroner's Checklist regarding the death and

26· ·that she ticked a box on that checklist

27· ·indicating that it was an unexpected death.· Do

28· ·you recall that?

29· · · · · · · · · A. No, I don't recall that,

30· ·but...

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Just to give you some

32· ·comfort, it's not in my compendium of
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·1· ·documents, but I can pull it up for the benefit

·2· ·of everyone.· It's Document 65227, and if you

·3· ·could kindly go to the last page.

·4· · · · · · · · · This is an institutional patient

·5· ·death record.· Do you recognize the form

·6· ·generally?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I do.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. And this form is used when a

·9· ·death occurs in a long-term care facility; is

10· ·that correct?

11· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. You'll see that there are a

13· ·series of check boxes where a health

14· ·practitioner can say "yes" or "no," and in the

15· ·circumstances where any of them are checked

16· ·"yes," my understanding is that the coroner is

17· ·contacted.· Is that your understanding?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. You'll see that this is -- if

20· ·you can cycle up just a little bit to see the

21· ·name of the patient.· This is with respect to

22· ·Mr. Silcox.· Do you see that?

23· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And if we can go back

25· ·down to the check boxes again, you'll see at

26· ·Number 1 it's deemed an accidental death

27· ·because you see it checked as "yes"?

28· · · · · · · · · A. I see that it is "yes."

29· · · · · · · · · Q. And you will also see that at

30· ·Number 5, there's a question:

31· · · · · · · · · "Is the death both sudden and

32· · · · · · · · · unexpected?"
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·1· ·And that's checked as "yes" as well?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. And you'll agree with me that

·4· ·it was actually Ms. Wettlaufer who was the

·5· ·person who completed this form?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. My understanding is that when

·8· ·a death is deemed to be unexpected, that

·9· ·Caressant Care was obliged to contact the

10· ·Ministry of Health and file an Incident Report.

11· ·Is that your understanding?

12· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Would you agree with me that

14· ·Caressant Care Woodstock did not, in fact,

15· ·contact the Ministry with respect to

16· ·Mr. Silcox's death?

17· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall, but, you

18· ·know, if -- could very well be.· I don't -- I

19· ·don't remember.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. So we've got circumstances in

21· ·August 2007 and October 2007 for both

22· ·Mr. Silcox and Ms. Adriano where the Ministry

23· ·should have been contacted --

24· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· I just rise because

25· · · · · · · · · I have a concern.· That's what

26· · · · · · · · · the questioner is saying.  I

27· · · · · · · · · haven't seen anything put to the

28· · · · · · · · · witness to assist her back in

29· · · · · · · · · 2007 whether there was such an

30· · · · · · · · · obligation, wasn't such an

31· · · · · · · · · obligation.

32· · · · · · · · · I think in fairness to her,
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·1· · · · · · · · · before we just accept a

·2· · · · · · · · · statement from counsel that

·3· · · · · · · · · Caressant Care didn't follow an

·4· · · · · · · · · obligation or a regulation, that

·5· · · · · · · · · should be put to her.

·6· · · · · · · · · MR. VAN KRALINGEN:· Fair enough.

·7· · · · · · · · · BY MR. VAN KRALINGEN:

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. I'm actually not going to do

·9· ·that.· I'm going to ask you a more broad

10· ·question.

11· · · · · · · · · What do you understand to be the

12· ·purpose of these reports to the Ministry of

13· ·Health in the circumstance --

14· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· I'm sorry.· It's

15· · · · · · · · · the same question.· It presumes

16· · · · · · · · · there's some obligation to do a

17· · · · · · · · · report to the Ministry of

18· · · · · · · · · Health.· I think in fairness to

19· · · · · · · · · the witness, we should establish

20· · · · · · · · · first that there's an

21· · · · · · · · · obligation.

22· · · · · · · · · MR. VAN KRALINGEN:· I actually

23· · · · · · · · · want to establish her

24· · · · · · · · · understanding, so I'll ask it in

25· · · · · · · · · that way.

26· · · · · · · · · BY MR. VAN KRALINGEN:

27· · · · · · · · · Q. As of 2007, did you

28· ·understand that there was an obligation to

29· ·report to the Ministry of Health if there was

30· ·an unexpected death at Caressant Care

31· ·Woodstock?

32· · · · · · · · · A. I can't recall.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. And similarly, as of 2007,

·2· ·was it your understanding -- sorry, what was

·3· ·your understanding as to whether you had to

·4· ·report to the Ministry of Health a medication

·5· ·error that led to hospitalization?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Could you repeat the

·7· ·question, please?

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. Sure.· What was your

·9· ·understanding as of 2007 of your obligation to

10· ·report to the Ministry any medication error

11· ·that led to hospitalization for a patient?

12· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Could you go to Tab 8 of the

14· ·documents you have in front of you, please.

15· ·This is an email -- sorry, this is

16· ·Document 69339.

17· · · · · · · · · This is an email from someone

18· ·named Tracey Richardson to another person named

19· ·Katherine Smith.· So I just want to see if you

20· ·can identify who those people are just as a

21· ·starting point.· The email is dated June 3,

22· ·2010.· Who is Tracey Richardson?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Tracey Richardson was our

24· ·regional manager, and she had an area of five

25· ·homes to look after, and Caressant Care

26· ·Woodstock was one of them.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. So she worked for

28· ·Caressant Care's corporate office?

29· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· She was our regional

30· ·manager.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you recognize the name

32· ·Katherine Smith?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. No, I do not.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you recall ever having the

·3· ·College of Nurses attend at Caressant Care

·4· ·Woodstock to provide a session on documentation

·5· ·and medication standards?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. We did have such an

·7· ·in-service, yes.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. How many times do you recall

·9· ·that being done?

10· · · · · · · · · A. I believe it was just once.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. And what were the topics that

12· ·were canvassed, to the best of your

13· ·recollection, during that training session?

14· · · · · · · · · A. I don't really recall exactly

15· ·what was discussed.· I -- there is nothing in

16· ·this document that identifies this as

17· ·Caressant Care Woodstock.· I am sure it's not

18· ·our home.

19· · · · · · · · · There has never been any staff

20· ·member that has yelled at me or any other

21· ·manager that I'm aware of.· We did not have a

22· ·doctors' board.· You know, the -- it just

23· ·doesn't sound like us.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. I see.· So what you're

25· ·suggesting is that Ms. Richardson here is

26· ·requesting some sort of a training session from

27· ·the College of Nurses with respect to one of

28· ·the other homes that she works at?

29· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Let's go to the next tab

31· ·then, Tab 9.· For the benefit of counsel, it's

32· ·Document 16859.
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·1· · · · · · · · · These are handwritten notes

·2· ·dated August 26, 2011.· First of all, do you

·3· ·recognize the writing?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· That's my handwriting.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· This appears to be

·6· ·notes of some sort of a session that you had

·7· ·with Ms. Wettlaufer to discuss issues in the

·8· ·workplace.· In the first comment at the top, it

·9· ·says -- first of all, do you have a

10· ·recollection of this meeting?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Not per say, but I know it

12· ·occurred because of my writing here.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. So the first note up top, it

14· ·says:

15· · · · · · · · · "Needs to step up and take some

16· · · · · · · · · overtime."

17· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you recall requesting

19· ·Ms. Wettlaufer to take overtime?

20· · · · · · · · · A. I believe I did.· I wrote it,

21· ·yes.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Was that an issue in the

23· ·workplace, trying to get RNs to work overtime

24· ·in order to cover the needs of the home?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Some of the staff were very

26· ·good about taking overtime, and, you know,

27· ·Bethe hadn't been, so I was encouraging her to

28· ·do that.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. There's also a reference in

30· ·this document to Ms. Wettlaufer's father being

31· ·ill.· Do you recall a conversation about that?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Again, I don't per se, but
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·1· ·I believe that did occur because of what I

·2· ·documented here.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. There's also a reference to

·4· ·her father dealing with Alzheimer's.· Does that

·5· ·trigger your memory as to what occurred at the

·6· ·meeting?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. She did state that.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. You do remember that?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. I wrote it, "My dad has

10· ·Alzheimer's."

11· · · · · · · · · Q. You suggested here that if

12· ·she needs to meet personal commitments to take

13· ·an LOA -- I assume that means a leave of

14· ·absence?

15· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. You remember a conversation

17· ·with Ms. Wettlaufer about encouraging her to

18· ·take a leave of absence if she needed to?

19· · · · · · · · · A. If she needed to look after

20· ·her dad, that -- you know, family was her first

21· ·commitment, so we would support that if that's

22· ·what she needed to do.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. After this meeting, did you

24· ·see if Ms. Wettlaufer was more stressed in the

25· ·work environment or not?

26· · · · · · · · · A. No, I don't -- I never made a

27· ·note of it, so I don't believe so.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Six lines from the bottom,

29· ·there's a different writing, a different

30· ·handwriting there.· And Ms. Van Quaethem

31· ·indicated to us during her examination that

32· ·that's her writing.· Would you agree with that?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I would.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. The sixth line from the

·3· ·bottom says:

·4· · · · · · · · · "Bethe stated she would not

·5· · · · · · · · · accept discipline."

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you remember Bethe saying

·8· ·anything to that effect during your meeting?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. She just stated it.· She

10· ·didn't yell it.· She didn't -- you know, and

11· ·Brenda just said, "It will be what we say it

12· ·will be."

13· · · · · · · · · Q. And if you go to the next

14· ·tab, please, in the document you have in front

15· ·of you.· And for the benefit of counsel, it's

16· ·Document 16838.

17· · · · · · · · · It's a handwritten document

18· ·dated April 20th, 2012.· My first question is

19· ·as of this date, had you had any further

20· ·communications with Ms. Wettlaufer about the

21· ·challenges she had with her father?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, would you repeat that?

23· · · · · · · · · Q. There's some time between the

24· ·last note and this note.· The last note was

25· ·August 2011.· This is April 2012.

26· · · · · · · · · In the intervening period, do

27· ·you remember having any conversations with

28· ·Ms. Wettlaufer about any challenges she was

29· ·having with her father's health?

30· · · · · · · · · A. No, she didn't mention it

31· ·again.· I may have asked her, "How is your

32· ·dad," but there was no real concern.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. The top line seems to

·2· ·indicate that Ms. Wettlaufer did not properly

·3· ·document a new admission.· Have I understood

·4· ·that correctly?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And I understand that the

·7· ·purpose of this document is also to capture

·8· ·Ms. Wettlaufer's response to explain her

·9· ·actions; is that right?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. About halfway down the page,

12· ·it says:

13· · · · · · · · · "Do you understand that this is

14· · · · · · · · · my seventh shift in a row?"

15· ·Do you see that?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Was that a concern for

18· ·Ms. Wettlaufer, that she was being scheduled

19· ·too often?

20· · · · · · · · · A. No.· She -- seven shifts was

21· ·not unusual if you were working full-time

22· ·especially.· If you wanted your weekends off,

23· ·it was either work seven shifts in a row or

24· ·break up your days off through the week, you

25· ·know, to have one day off; and then work three,

26· ·have another day off.· I think she was just

27· ·saying, "Do you understand that this is my

28· ·seventh day in a row?"

29· · · · · · · · · Q. At the bottom of the page,

30· ·there seems to be an HC, and I assume that this

31· ·is a note trying to capture your comment

32· ·saying:
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·1· · · · · · · · · "People are tired of doing your

·2· · · · · · · · · work."

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. If you go to the second page,

·5· ·it looks like you indicate:

·6· · · · · · · · · "This is not the first time

·7· · · · · · · · · we've talked to you."

·8· ·Have I got that right?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. That's right.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. And then Bethe asked:

11· · · · · · · · · "Can you make me stay overtime?"

12· ·And then the other person in the room is KR.

13· ·Do you recognize who that might have been?

14· · · · · · · · · A. That was probably the other

15· ·manager, Katherine Ruse (ph).

16· · · · · · · · · Q. And at the end of that

17· ·interaction, Ms. Wettlaufer says:

18· · · · · · · · · "This is unfair.· I'm the only

19· · · · · · · · · one in the building."

20· ·Do you remember what that comment was in

21· ·reference to?

22· · · · · · · · · A. I would assume that we were

23· ·working short.· Oh, no, Karen R. would be

24· ·Karen Routledge, the union steward.· My

25· ·mistake.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. That's helpful.

27· · · · · · · · · A. Karen Routledge, the union

28· ·steward.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. With respect to that last

30· ·comment, you were saying something?

31· · · · · · · · · A. Could you just refresh --

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Ms. Wettlaufer's last
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·1· ·comment, she says:

·2· · · · · · · · · "This is unfair.· I'm the only

·3· · · · · · · · · one in the building."

·4· ·Do you recall what she was talking about there?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. There were a number of shifts

·6· ·where there was no RPN, so the RN was covering

·7· ·the whole building, I believe, and we tried to

·8· ·have extra PSWs in the building as well, you

·9· ·know, to walk the halls and make sure residents

10· ·weren't falling out of bed, that kind of thing.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you sense that she was

12· ·stressed or overwhelmed at this time?

13· · · · · · · · · A. She didn't say that she was

14· ·stressed or overwhelmed.· She said it was

15· ·unfair.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Earlier today, you spoke to

17· ·Mr. Golden about Ms. Wettlaufer's discussion

18· ·with you in August 2012 about her having OCD

19· ·and bipolar and having some changing of her

20· ·meds for those conditions.· Do you recall that?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. At the end of August, did you

23· ·have a concern relating to either

24· ·Ms. Wettlaufer's competence or capacity to

25· ·serve as a nurse because of these conditions?

26· · · · · · · · · A. No.· I believe that, you

27· ·know, with the medication change, there might

28· ·be a bit of an adjustment.· She told me that

29· ·she was -- that this had happened.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you ever hear about

31· ·Ms. Wettlaufer having a personality disorder or

32· ·any other form of mental health issue?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Other than bipolar?

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Right.

·3· · · · · · · · · A. No.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Can we go to the next

·5· ·document, Document 12, please.· It's

·6· ·Document 16823.· We've seen this document

·7· ·before during Ms. Van Quaethem's examination.

·8· ·It's called a Disciplinary Action Form.  I

·9· ·assume you've seen these forms before?

10· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. My understanding is that

12· ·Ms. Van Quaethem completes the forms with your

13· ·input; is that correct?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And that you're present at

16· ·the meeting where the form is provided to the

17· ·employee in question?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· If I'm in the building,

19· ·I'm there with her, yes.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And so I just want to go to

21· ·the "Your Recommended Disciplinary" section in

22· ·the middle of the page.· If you could cycle up,

23· ·please.· Thank you.· Second sentence:

24· · · · · · · · · "If continued poor work

25· · · · · · · · · performance related to health

26· · · · · · · · · issues continue, consideration

27· · · · · · · · · may be given to report to the

28· · · · · · · · · College of Nurses for 'fitness

29· · · · · · · · · to practice for review.'"

30· ·Did you and Ms. Van Quaethem discuss this

31· ·before it was provided to Ms. Wettlaufer, the

32· ·idea of the possibility of reporting her to the
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·1· ·College of Nurses?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. I would think we did.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. And at that time, why were

·4· ·you considering reporting her to the College of

·5· ·Nurses?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. She had, you know, talked

·7· ·about her condition, and we wanted her to

·8· ·understand, you know, that she needed to

·9· ·perform properly.· It was just letting her know

10· ·if things continued, this could be a

11· ·consideration.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. At that time, was it your

13· ·understanding that you had discretion as to

14· ·when you would or would not report to the

15· ·College of Nurses with respect to an RN?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Well, you know, I would have

17· ·had to review the document before I -- to make

18· ·sure I met the conditions of what -- of what

19· ·was required for the College.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. Was patient safety a concern

21· ·at this point with respect to Ms. Wettlaufer's

22· ·work?

23· · · · · · · · · A. She was making some mistakes,

24· ·but, you know, she was doing other things

25· ·fairly well.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. The bottom left-hand corner

27· ·of this page has some handwritten notes.· My

28· ·understanding from Ms. Van Quaethem is that

29· ·that's her writing.· Would you agree with that?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you have any input into

32· ·this comment?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I probably explained to

·2· ·Bethe that she brought her health issues to us,

·3· ·and we are obligated to ensure the safety of

·4· ·the residents.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. And so I go back to my

·6· ·earlier question.· Was there a concern about

·7· ·the safety of the residents at that time?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. There was some concern.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Go to Tab 13, please.· I'm

10· ·looking at Document 16824.· These appear to be

11· ·handwritten notes of a meeting on September 3,

12· ·2012.· First of all, do you recognize the

13· ·handwriting?

14· · · · · · · · · A. That handwriting is mine.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· The third

16· ·paragraph, it says:

17· · · · · · · · · "Not doing that now (reporting

18· · · · · · · · · to College)."

19· ·My question is did you expressly talk with

20· ·Ms. Wettlaufer and say that you were

21· ·considering reporting her to the College of

22· ·Nurses?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, could you say that

24· ·again, please?

25· · · · · · · · · Q. Sure.· Given the note that

26· ·says "not doing that now (reporting to

27· ·College)," during the meeting where you

28· ·provided Ms. Wettlaufer with this discipline,

29· ·did you tell her that you were considering

30· ·reporting her to the College of Nurses?

31· · · · · · · · · A. I think we were telling her

32· ·that we're not reporting her to the College.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you tell her it was a

·2· ·possibility that you could report her to the

·3· ·College?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. I think we told her that

·5· ·earlier.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. When you say "your health is

·7· ·our concern," what are you referencing there?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. What we spoke about earlier.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. The idea of the OCD and

10· ·bipolar and the effect of the changing of her

11· ·medications?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Go to the next tab, please,

14· ·Tab 14.· Earlier today, Mr. Golden took you to

15· ·a Performance Appraisal dated the exact same

16· ·day.· Sorry, I apologize that's Document 16780.

17· ·Thank you.

18· · · · · · · · · Earlier today, Mr. Golden took

19· ·you to a Performance Appraisal of December 13,

20· ·2013, yet on that very same day, you appear to

21· ·have an investigation meeting with

22· ·Ms. Wettlaufer.· This is relating to the

23· ·eyedrops issue for a particular patient.· Do

24· ·you recall that meeting?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Just from the documentation.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. You don't have an independent

27· ·recollection of it?

28· · · · · · · · · A. No.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Can you go to the bottom of

30· ·the first page where you say:

31· · · · · · · · · "A lot of issues on the file.

32· · · · · · · · · Cannot have any more mistakes."
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·1· ·Does that trigger your recollection as to what

·2· ·you discussed?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. I believe I discussed it

·4· ·because it's documented here.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. But were you talking about no

·6· ·more mistakes with respect to this one patient

·7· ·or no more mistakes generally with respect to

·8· ·Ms. Wettlaufer's practice?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. I believe I was talking about

10· ·mistakes in general.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Let's go to the second page

12· ·at the top.· Five lines down, there's a

13· ·quote -- there's a note.· Pardon me.· It says:

14· · · · · · · · · "Why are you not a dedicated

15· · · · · · · · · staff member?"

16· ·Do you recall asking Ms. Wettlaufer why she was

17· ·not dedicated to her job?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Just from the documentation.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. You don't have an independent

20· ·recollection of that?

21· · · · · · · · · A. No.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. A few points down, it says:

23· · · · · · · · · "We need reliable staff."

24· ·And, again, you don't have an independent

25· ·recollection of the meeting, so you don't know

26· ·what that's about?

27· · · · · · · · · A. Well, it was a statement that

28· ·we need reliable staff.· If you're scheduled to

29· ·work, we expect you to be there.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Can you go to the third page,

31· ·please?· The second note says that:

32· · · · · · · · · "These are very serious issues."
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·1· ·Do you see that?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. And the fourth note says:

·4· · · · · · · · · "If we sent this to HO, the

·5· · · · · · · · · outcome wouldn't be good."

·6· ·First of all, I understand HO is home office?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Head office actually.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. Head office.· Is it fair to

·9· ·say you did not discuss Ms. Wettlaufer's -- the

10· ·issues with Ms. Wettlaufer as of December 19,

11· ·2013, with head office?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I believe we did

13· ·because there's a letter, so I think we

14· ·discussed that with her, and then after the

15· ·meeting, you know, we talked about it and

16· ·changed our mind and did contact head office

17· ·because there was a letter --

18· · · · · · · · · Q. I see.

19· · · · · · · · · A. -- that we gave her.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. So as of the time of this

21· ·meeting, you had not contacted head office, but

22· ·subsequent to the meeting, later in the day,

23· ·you did?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Well, we may have contacted

25· ·head office and left a message, and maybe we

26· ·didn't have the answer yet.· I don't know, but

27· ·that's -- you know, I can't recall exactly, but

28· ·I know there was a letter, and it was regarding

29· ·this, so...

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Can you go to the next tab,

31· ·Tab 15, which is Document 16819.· This a

32· ·handwritten note dated January 18, 2013.· And
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·1· ·I'm looking at the second last note from the

·2· ·bottom, if you don't mind.

·3· · · · · · · · · Can you read that to me?  I

·4· ·can't -- I think it says:

·5· · · · · · · · · "Must meet obligations to

·6· · · · · · · · · full-time --"

·7· · · · · · · · · And then I can't --

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Line, I believe.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Full-time what, sorry?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Her full-time line.· It was

11· ·her schedule.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. "You must consider part-time

13· · · · · · · · · · work."

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Was there a concern at that

16· ·time that Ms. Wettlaufer should not be a

17· ·full-time employee and, in fact, should be a

18· ·part-time employee working for you?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Well, her attendance

20· ·continued to be a problem.· And I believe she's

21· ·saying that she's joined a gym.· And WW, I'm

22· ·not sure what that is.· Something to decrease

23· ·cold and decrease headaches.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. If go to Tab 20 of the

25· ·documents you have in front of you.· This is

26· ·Document 36845.· Now, my understanding from

27· ·your conversation with Mr. Golden earlier today

28· ·is that you recall the fact of a telephone call

29· ·from an investigator from the College of

30· ·Nurses.· You just don't have an independent

31· ·recollection of what you discussed on that

32· ·call.· Have I got that right?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I know some things are,

·2· ·you know, transcribed incorrectly from this

·3· ·summary and the other summary and that, you

·4· ·know, there were words left out that I

·5· ·described the other day.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. So just to my question,

·7· ·though, do you remember having the

·8· ·conversation?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I do.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. And you do remember what was

11· ·said back and forth?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Well, not exactly, no.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

14· · · · · · · · · A. But I have, you know, a

15· ·general...

16· · · · · · · · · Q. If you look at the

17· ·handwritten portion on the bottom there that

18· ·starts on July 30th, 2014, it says, quote:

19· · · · · · · · · "Note aware if anything going

20· · · · · · · · · on.· She was on meds I think for

21· · · · · · · · · some mood related/anxiety."

22· ·Do you remember having that conversation?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· You know, I -- I can't

24· ·think well under pressure.· A call from the

25· ·College of Nurses, you know, was unusual.· So

26· ·I think, you know, I hit it pretty closely.

27· ·Mood related is bipolar, and anxiety is OCD,

28· ·but I couldn't think of the exact wording.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Fair enough.· Fair enough.

30· ·So two lines down, it seems to say:

31· · · · · · · · · "Member recently --"

32· ·And I don't know what the next word is.
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. "Member recently changed meds

·2· · · · · · · · · · and having difficulty with

·3· · · · · · · · · · something.· Otherwise no

·4· · · · · · · · · · underlying issue or concern."

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And the next page, you

·6· ·indicated the third --

·7· · · · · · · · · A. I'd like you to note that I

·8· ·did say before she was in Section B, and this

·9· ·two evenings, two nights is -- you know, she

10· ·worked two weeks evenings and then worked two

11· ·weeks nights.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· The next page, the

13· ·third point says:

14· · · · · · · · · "No sustained harm to

15· · · · · · · · · residents."

16· ·Do you recall speaking about that with Ms. Yee?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I did say that.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Can you go to Tab 22

19· ·of the documents you have?· And for the benefit

20· ·of counsel, it's Document 17054.

21· · · · · · · · · A. Tab 22, sorry?

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes, Tab 22.· Thank you.

23· ·This is the whistle-blower policy at

24· ·Caressant Care.· I assume that you are familiar

25· ·with it?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. If there was a concern about

28· ·an employee being impaired by alcohol or drugs

29· ·and that concern was coming from a fellow

30· ·employee, is this the policy that would be used

31· ·to raise it to you?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Did anyone ever raise to you

·2· ·a concern that Ms. Wettlaufer may have consumed

·3· ·alcohol or drugs at work or, alternatively, be

·4· ·affected by alcohol or drugs while she was at

·5· ·work?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Not that I recall.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you have your Affidavit in

·8· ·front of you?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. Could you please turn to

11· ·paragraph 155, which I believe is on page 33.

12· ·I'll give you a moment to look at that.· It's

13· ·aff number 2.· If you go to page 33, please,

14· ·and to paragraph 155.

15· · · · · · · · · In your paragraph, you indicate

16· ·on one occasion that you recalled

17· ·Ms. Wettlaufer kind of misstepping down the

18· ·hall as you were coming down the hall and where

19· ·you expressly said to her:

20· · · · · · · · · "Are you okay?"

21· ·And then it says here, quote:

22· · · · · · · · · "I thought that maybe she

23· · · · · · · · · tripped or maybe she was having

24· · · · · · · · · some kind of an episode.· And

25· · · · · · · · · she said that her doctor had

26· · · · · · · · · just changed her medications and

27· · · · · · · · · that they were not sitting right

28· · · · · · · · · with her."

29· ·Can you tell me about that interaction a bit

30· ·more?

31· · · · · · · · · A. She was with her med cart.  I

32· ·saw her, you know, misstep or trip or catch her
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·1· ·foot.· I asked if she was all right, and she

·2· ·gave me this explanation.· I asked if she was

·3· ·okay to work her shift, and she said yes.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. That was a concern for you?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Well, if she said no, then I

·6· ·was going to send her home.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Second last sentence says:

·8· · · · · · · · · "She kind of gave herself a

·9· · · · · · · · · shake and seemed to be okay."

10· · · · · · · · · A. Yeah, she just kind of -- you

11· ·know, she had tripped.· I mean, I've seen

12· ·nurses fall off their chair at the nurses'

13· ·station.· I mean, you know, things happen.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. When you say "some kind of an

15· ·episode here," what did you mean that --

16· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I wondered if she was

17· ·feeling light-headed or if she was having --

18· ·you know, going to have a stroke or a heart

19· ·attack.· I don't know.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. If you go to Tab 23 of the

21· ·documents you have in front of you.

22· · · · · · · · · A. Of your document?

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.· Thank you.· It's

24· ·Document 16427.· This is a --

25· · · · · · · · · A. Tab 23?

26· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes, 23.· They don't have it

27· ·up yet.· They're going to put it up in a

28· ·moment.

29· · · · · · · · · This is a Caressant Care policy

30· ·relating to medication administration that is

31· ·not the same policy relating to narcotics?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Were there any internal

·2· ·policies regarding the appropriate distribution

·3· ·of insulin?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Were there any internal

·5· ·policies?

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes, at Caressant Care

·7· ·Woodstock relating to the appropriate

·8· ·distribution of insulin?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. I'm not sure that they would

10· ·be -- in our policy, like, Caressant Care's

11· ·policies and procedures, I believe they would

12· ·have been under medical pharmacy's policies and

13· ·procedures that we worked from.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. In the wake of

15· ·Ms. Wettlaufer's crimes coming to light, has

16· ·Caressant Care -- to the best of your

17· ·knowledge, did Caressant Care implement any

18· ·policies or controls regarding the distribution

19· ·of insulin?

20· · · · · · · · · A. After her crimes?

21· · · · · · · · · Q. After her crimes came to

22· ·light, to the best of your knowledge, has there

23· ·been any change?

24· · · · · · · · · A. I'm not there anymore, so I'm

25· ·not aware.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. You were there for a little

27· ·while.

28· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· I wasn't aware of any

29· ·change at that time, but like I say, my focus

30· ·was -- I'm not aware of any change, but I don't

31· ·think there was anyone else there, so I think

32· ·that I would have been aware of the change if
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·1· ·there was a change at that time.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. In your Affidavit --

·3· · · · · · · · · A. I know it has changed now.

·4· ·You know, I don't know when it happened, but...

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Fair enough.· I don't mean to

·6· ·interrupt.· I'm just trying to finish so that

·7· ·others can go.

·8· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· Look, in fairness

·9· · · · · · · · · to the witness, we already have

10· · · · · · · · · in Exhibit 6 the list of

11· · · · · · · · · policies that are in the

12· · · · · · · · · evidence that postdate this

13· · · · · · · · · witness leaving.· I just don't

14· · · · · · · · · think she's able to answer about

15· · · · · · · · · them because she wasn't there.

16· · · · · · · · · MR. VAN KRALINGEN:· I'm happy to

17· · · · · · · · · move on then.

18· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.

19· · · · · · · · · BY MR. VAN KRALINGEN:

20· · · · · · · · · Q. My understanding from your

21· ·Affidavit is that Caressant Care staff received

22· ·education and training on how to deal with

23· ·disruptive behaviour from residents; is that

24· ·fair to say?

25· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct, yes.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. And sometimes, through no

27· ·fault of their own, patients who are dealing

28· ·with dementia can have disruptive behaviours.

29· ·Would you agree what that?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Oh, yes.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. There's only a brief

32· ·reference to the nature of that training.· And
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·1· ·the reference is at paragraph 30 of your

·2· ·Affidavit, but it doesn't discuss the -- it

·3· ·doesn't really discuss the training very much.

·4· · · · · · · · · And so I'm wondering what

·5· ·training did Caressant Care Woodstock's

·6· ·registered staff receive in how to manage

·7· ·disruptive patients?· Could you explain it for

·8· ·us?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. What year are we talking

10· ·about?· Like, you know, with the BSO program,

11· ·we did a lot of training.· We sent people to

12· ·workshops.· We did Train the Trainer.· You

13· ·know, we brought things home to the -- back to

14· ·the home and implemented changes.

15· · · · · · · · · There was a program called

16· ·Dementiability, and they showed an example of a

17· ·resident who was quite aggressive and didn't

18· ·like anyone helping him with personal care.

19· · · · · · · · · And they -- the staff at the

20· ·home realized that he liked small children, so

21· ·they put a cradle in his bed, and he had two

22· ·dolls, and he was like a new man.· You know,

23· ·when staff walked in, he'd talk about his

24· ·babies and see how well they're doing and how

25· ·happy they are.· And he was just a transformed

26· ·man.

27· · · · · · · · · So I brought a crib from home

28· ·into the home, and we bought, you know, five or

29· ·six dolls at Walmart, and we lined them all

30· ·nicely in the crib, and we started, you know,

31· ·handing out dolls to residents or they could

32· ·pick one up.
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·1· · · · · · · · · There were other programs too

·2· ·that we sent not just Dementiability, but -- I

·3· ·can't really think of them off the top of my

·4· ·head, but we had, you know, a BSO team.

·5· ·Roanne Mancer (ph), an RPN, was the lead of

·6· ·that.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Did part of that training

·8· ·deal with deescalation techniques if a --

·9· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. -- resident got aggressive?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· My last

13· ·questions -- and these are my last questions --

14· ·deal with the March 2008 instances where

15· ·insulin was not given to two patients.· Do you

16· ·recall discussing that with Ms. Hewitt on

17· ·Friday?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· Yes.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. In your evidence, you said

20· ·you realized that this was a diversion on

21· ·behalf of Ms. Wettlaufer?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Well, not at the time, and I

23· ·didn't in my first conversation with

24· ·Ms. Hewitt, but the second time we met, I had,

25· ·you know, looked at the documentation enough

26· ·and understood, you know, what it was.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And I'm not suggesting

28· ·you knew at the time.· You realized far after

29· ·the fact when you were preparing for this

30· ·inquiry, to be fair to you; correct?

31· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And your concern

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 968
·1· ·at that time in March of 2008 was that

·2· ·Ms. Wettlaufer was taking insulin to use it for

·3· ·a nefarious purpose.· Is that my understanding

·4· ·of what you suggested?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. No.· That -- it was only

·6· ·recently that I figured that out, like, during

·7· ·the -- I mean, a week or so before this inquiry

·8· ·started.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Sitting here today, that's

10· ·your belief as to what she was doing?

11· · · · · · · · · A. That's my belief, yes.

12· · · · · · · · · MR. VAN KRALINGEN:· Thank you

13· · · · · · · · · very much for your time.

14· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· You're welcome.

15· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Commissioner,

16· · · · · · · · · Mr. Scott on behalf of the other

17· · · · · · · · · family group.

18· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· Good morning,

19· · · · · · · · · Commissioner.

20· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Morning.

21· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SCOTT:

22· · · · · · · · · Q. I assume I can call you

23· ·Helen?

24· · · · · · · · · A. You may.· Certainly.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. I am Paul Scott, and I'm a

26· ·lawyer representing one of the family groups

27· ·and one of the people that was -- it was an

28· ·attempted murder, but fortunately only

29· ·attempted.· Just so you have a sense of who I

30· ·am and why I'm asking you the questions I'm

31· ·asking you.· Okay?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. If I stumble over a question,

·2· ·which I often do, feel free to ask me to go

·3· ·back and re-explain it.

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Well, you have a nice, soft

·5· ·voice, so I would ask you to speak up, please.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. I will do my best.· It's not

·7· ·usually a problem for lawyers.· We're usually

·8· ·pretty loud.

·9· · · · · · · · · So I understand that you were at

10· ·Caressant Care for 30 years; correct?

11· · · · · · · · · A. More than 30.· I was Director

12· ·of Nursing for 30.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Director of Nursing

14· ·for 30.· And so in that time, you would have

15· ·met hundreds of staff and potentially thousands

16· ·of residents; is that correct?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Thousands, I don't know, but

18· ·I met a lot of people, yes.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And do you remember a

20· ·Helen Matheson in your time?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, who?

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen Matheson.· She was a

23· ·resident.

24· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I do.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. You do remember.· Okay.

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. And I don't bring that up to

28· ·test you.· I know you've met a lot of people.

29· ·But for myself, I like to make sure that I

30· ·remember why we're here, and we're here for the

31· ·people that were injured and died, and Helen

32· ·was one of them.· Do you have an independent
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·1· ·recollection of her?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Oh, yes, I do.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And was she a nice

·4· ·lady?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. A very sweet lady.· A tiny

·6· ·lady who when she was happy had the most

·7· ·beautiful smile.· And, you know, when she

·8· ·smiled, it lit up her whole face.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And that's what I've been

10· ·told about her as well.· My understanding when

11· ·she passed away, she was 95 years old, and I

12· ·don't know if you know anything about her

13· ·background, but she has a history, a life, that

14· ·could probably be something of a novel or a

15· ·movie.· Just a great woman.

16· · · · · · · · · You've retired now from

17· ·Caressant Care, haven't you?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I have.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. And are you still an RN in

20· ·good standing with the College?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· I've maintained my

22· ·registration for the time being.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And your entire time

24· ·at Caressant Care, were you a member in good

25· ·standing with the College of Nurses?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I was.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· There's a saying among

28· ·older lawyers with greyer hair than mine that

29· ·you should be hard on the facts and easy on the

30· ·people, and that's what I'm going to try and do

31· ·with you this morning.

32· · · · · · · · · The only problem with that is
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·1· ·sometimes to get the facts, we have to go to

·2· ·the people.· So if I make you cry, I'm going to

·3· ·apologize in advance.· Okay?

·4· · · · · · · · · So you hired Elizabeth

·5· ·Wettlaufer on June 27, 2007; correct?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And is it fair to say

·8· ·that on paper, she looked like an excellent

·9· ·nurse?· I think you called her a real find in

10· ·earlier -- you said to my friend sort of

11· ·blessed to have her walk through the door?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And did she have any

14· ·blemishes on her record that you could find?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Did she have any what, sorry?

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Blemishes on her record that

17· ·you could find when you hired her?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Not that I could see, no.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· She didn't have any

20· ·flags through the College of Nurses of Ontario?

21· · · · · · · · · A. No.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. And her references were

23· ·positive?

24· · · · · · · · · A. She had one reference, and it

25· ·was positive, yes.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. And I believe you called that

27· ·reference and --

28· · · · · · · · · A. I called the reference just

29· ·to verify that, you know, this gentleman had

30· ·done the letter, and he said he had.· And,

31· ·yeah, it was just a short, little conversation.

32· ·I thanked him for --
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Did they mention to you

·2· ·any -- I'm sorry.· I cut you off.

·3· · · · · · · · · A. I said I thanked him for his

·4· ·time.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Did he mention anything about

·6· ·medication errors or any disciplinary action

·7· ·that would have been taken while she worked

·8· ·there?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. No.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And you weren't aware

11· ·of her problems at the Geraldton Hospital sort

12· ·of ten years prior; correct?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Not at all.· I actually made

14· ·that a recommendation to the College -- or to

15· ·the Commission actually.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. What did you make a

17· ·recommendation?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Shall I say?· I said that the

19· ·College of Nurses, I hope, would put employees'

20· ·places of work on their website and with, you

21· ·know, the time frame and the reason they left,

22· ·you know, for employers so that they could get

23· ·a true picture of what the person was about.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· At the time you hired

25· ·her, though, do you believe that you did all of

26· ·the appropriate background checks that were

27· ·available to you?

28· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I did.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. And we now know that within

30· ·weeks of being hired at Caressant Care, she, in

31· ·fact, assaulted two residents by injecting them

32· ·with insulin, and within six weeks of being
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·1· ·hired, she had actually killed her first

·2· ·person.· Are you aware of that?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Well, yes, I am aware of

·4· ·that.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. And we also see in the

·6· ·records that by November the 11th of that same

·7· ·year, she committed her first medication error,

·8· ·unrelated to the deaths but her first

·9· ·medication error at Caressant Care.· Are you

10· ·aware of that?

11· · · · · · · · · A. I haven't really put it all

12· ·together, no.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· That's one of the

14· ·things we're here to do.

15· · · · · · · · · So in a little over four months,

16· ·there'd already been a number of problems with

17· ·Elizabeth Wettlaufer.

18· · · · · · · · · Would you agree with me that in

19· ·hindsight, when she came into Caressant Care,

20· ·she was not a good nurse?

21· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Your Honour, I

22· · · · · · · · · think that's a hypothetical

23· · · · · · · · · question.· We're here to come to

24· · · · · · · · · facts versus hindsight.· So I

25· · · · · · · · · would just ask as to whether or

26· · · · · · · · · not that's a proper question for

27· · · · · · · · · this witness.

28· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.  I

29· · · · · · · · · had the same concern in my own

30· · · · · · · · · mind.· In a little over four

31· · · · · · · · · months, a number of problems,

32· · · · · · · · · but I don't know which of these
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·1· · · · · · · · · this witness has acknowledged

·2· · · · · · · · · she was aware of.

·3· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· Okay.· I'll limit my

·4· · · · · · · · · question, Commissioner.

·5· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SCOTT:

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Looking back -- and I'm going

·8· ·to limit it even further.· So before you found

·9· ·out about her crimes but after she left your

10· ·employ, did you believe that she was, in fact,

11· ·a poor nurse then?

12· · · · · · · · · A. After she left our employ --

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.

14· · · · · · · · · A. -- and before I knew of her

15· ·crimes --

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Correct.

17· · · · · · · · · A. -- I would not have given her

18· ·a reference, and I would not have rehired her

19· ·back to Caressant Care Woodstock.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And why not?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Because as I told the College

22· ·of Nurses in my interview, that she did not

23· ·change her practice.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Was it disheartening for you

25· ·as an RN to have her working as an RN?

26· · · · · · · · · A. I always, you know, believed

27· ·the best in people.· And, I mean, Bethe had

28· ·some very good sides that we saw.· That's why,

29· ·you know, it was such a shock, I think, in some

30· ·regards.· Now I forget where I was going with

31· ·this.· Can you -- what were you saying?

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, I was just asking you
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·1· ·about why you wouldn't hire her back.

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Why wouldn't I hire her back?

·3· ·Because of the mistakes she had made, and, you

·4· ·know, we gave her every opportunity to improve,

·5· ·and she just couldn't sustain it.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· You say in your

·7· ·Affidavit and you were asked earlier about the

·8· ·fact that you wore your white nurse's uniform

·9· ·until after Brenda was hired in 2009; correct?

10· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. My understanding is that the

12· ·old-school uniforms, the nurses' cap had a

13· ·black band around it as well; is that correct?

14· · · · · · · · · A. That's right.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. That would distinguish you

16· ·from everybody else in the hospital; correct?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· The RPNs had a green

18· ·band on their cap.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And the reason you

20· ·stopped wearing your uniform, as I understand

21· ·it, is that Brenda told you that head office

22· ·thought it made you seem old-fashioned?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· You know, most

24· ·managers -- and I knew it -- were wearing

25· ·street clothes.· And, you know, I understood

26· ·that philosophy as well because, you know, we

27· ·were supposed to be home-like.

28· · · · · · · · · You know, and so the staff went

29· ·to coloured uniforms, you know, to be not so

30· ·institutional and to make it more home-like.  I

31· ·understood all that.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Were you old-fashioned,
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·1· ·though?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. I had old-fashioned values,

·3· ·I believe.· My white uniforms were very nice.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. I'm going to change the

·5· ·questions a little bit now.· I'm going to ask

·6· ·you, were there any maximum staffing limits at

·7· ·Caressant Care?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Maximum staffing limits?

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Maximum staffing limits.

10· · · · · · · · · A. Well, we had a staffing

11· ·guideline, if you will.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. No, I understand, but could

13· ·they have hired as many RNs as they wanted to?

14· · · · · · · · · A. As far as -- yes, you know,

15· ·I could hire as many as were needed to fill the

16· ·shifts.· And if we had -- if we couldn't cover

17· ·a shift or if we had to ask a nurse for

18· ·overtime, I felt that we didn't have enough

19· ·staff.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. What I'm trying to get at

21· ·here is we know there's a minimum staffing

22· ·limit set by the Ministry; correct?· Is that

23· ·correct?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Well, yes.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. But is there a maximum?· So

26· ·in other words, you had one nurse on nights;

27· ·correct?

28· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, one RN and one RPN.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Right.· And could you have --

30· ·were you allowed to have three RNs on nights if

31· ·you wished?

32· · · · · · · · · A. We could distribute our
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·1· ·staffing, I believe, the way we saw fit or

·2· ·through -- you know, with head office's

·3· ·approval.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· But there was no --

·5· ·there was no regulation or Ministry directive

·6· ·that you're aware of that said you couldn't

·7· ·have more than one RN on a night if you wanted

·8· ·to?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. No, but, you know, it all had

10· ·to balance out.· If you used money to -- for an

11· ·RN, would you have to take funding from the PSW

12· ·side to, you know, fund it.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So is that -- do you

14· ·know, is that why Caressant Care didn't put

15· ·more nurses on night shift?

16· · · · · · · · · A. I have no idea.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Fair enough.· Did

18· ·Caressant Care direct you to have only one

19· ·nurse on night shifts?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Well, the staffing pattern

21· ·was what it was until the Ministry gave us more

22· ·funding.· Head office would tell us, you know,

23· ·how many hours we could add to the RN

24· ·department or the RPN department or the PSW

25· ·department.

26· · · · · · · · · And sometimes we were told where

27· ·we should use those hours because of the home

28· ·visits that they had done and the areas that

29· ·they thought needed more staffing, or sometimes

30· ·we were allowed to go to the staff, or we took

31· ·the initiative and went to the staff and say,

32· ·"Okay, we have so many hours, you know, for the
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·1· ·PSW department.· Where do you think we need to

·2· ·use them?"

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Who gave you those hours?

·4· ·Who said, "This is how many hours you have"?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Head office.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And you -- we saw a statistic

·7· ·on Friday in a chart that had been prepared

·8· ·showing the number of RNs on each shift from

·9· ·2007 to 2014.· Do you recall that chart?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And that chart was

12· ·accurate, as far as you recall?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Oh, yes.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And do you recall that there

15· ·was only one nurse on nights between 2007 and

16· ·2014?

17· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And you also told us

19· ·on Friday that despite that, the acuity levels

20· ·of residents had increased greatly over that

21· ·time; is that correct?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. And would you define the

24· ·acuity in the nursing context as the

25· ·measurement of the intensity of nursing care

26· ·required by the resident?

27· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. I had to look that up, to be

29· ·honest with you.

30· · · · · · · · · And if you believed that the

31· ·intensity of care that had increased so

32· ·dramatically over that time, did you let head
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·1· ·office at Caressant Care know?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· We -- you know, our

·3· ·regional manager would visit, and she would

·4· ·ask, you know, questions.· And I'm sure -- I

·5· ·can't really say what other people did, but I'm

·6· ·sure it was discussed, and, you know, I'm sure

·7· ·I discussed it as well.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. And do you recall what their

·9· ·response to it was?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I know one time we kind

11· ·of robbed Peter to pay Paul.· We took, you

12· ·know, four hours off one area and put it on

13· ·another.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. But was there any overall net

15· ·increase?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Net increase?

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.

18· · · · · · · · · A. No.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. How many residents can

20· ·Caressant Care hold at one time?

21· · · · · · · · · A. How many can we hold?

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Yeah.

23· · · · · · · · · A. Our licenced bed number was

24· ·163.· And we had an empty room, a palliative

25· ·care room, and, you know, in the event of a

26· ·disaster, you know, we were prepared to take

27· ·residents if need be for other facilities.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· A full house would

29· ·have been 163 residents; correct?

30· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. And were you usually a full

32· ·house?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Usually, yes.· We worked hard

·2· ·to try and keep our beds full.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· My understanding is

·4· ·there's a great demand for those beds in the

·5· ·communities?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, there were.· We had, you

·7· ·know, quite a long waiting list at the time,

·8· ·and -- we had quite a long waiting list.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And my understanding is that

10· ·the funding for Caressant Care is linked to if

11· ·you have somebody in one of those beds; is that

12· ·also correct?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, could you repeat that?

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Sure.· I mean, if you have

15· ·somebody in the bed, Caressant Care gets more

16· ·money in funding; is that correct?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. And I also understand that

19· ·based on the CMI, the funding is now linked to

20· ·the level of care that person needs; is that

21· ·also correct?

22· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. So the more patients you have

24· ·that require higher care, the more funding

25· ·would be given to Caressant Care; is that

26· ·correct?

27· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. And to the best of your

29· ·knowledge, was there a limit?· Was there a

30· ·level?· You couldn't have more than so many

31· ·people requiring a high level of care in the

32· ·home at any given time?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I would look at the

·2· ·applications.· And, you know, we had some rooms

·3· ·withe two people to a room and four people to a

·4· ·room, and if there was a resident with

·5· ·behaviours in that room, I would talk to CCAC

·6· ·that, you know, maybe this particular candidate

·7· ·wasn't suitable right now because we didn't

·8· ·have a room -- we already had a room that had

·9· ·behaviours, and they just might, you know,

10· ·escalate each other.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So you had some input

12· ·into --

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I did.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Were you --

15· · · · · · · · · A. And it got to the point where

16· ·we had, you know, one resident in particular --

17· · · · · · · · · Q. And you're not going to name

18· ·any names, though; right?

19· · · · · · · · · A. No, I'll try not to -- who

20· ·should never have been admitted to the home.

21· ·Her CCAC application, you know, was not a true

22· ·reflection of what her behaviours were.

23· · · · · · · · · We had sent her to the Mental

24· ·Health Unit at the hospital more than once.

25· ·They were determined that we would take her

26· ·back, and it was not, you know, a safe

27· ·situation.

28· · · · · · · · · And we had a huge meeting, and

29· ·there were, you know, Anita Cole who was the

30· ·head of CCAC was there.· Three of us from

31· ·Caressant Care were there.· They had people on

32· ·speakerphone.
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·1· · · · · · · · · And it was -- you know, I had

·2· ·made up a list of conditions that we would take

·3· ·her back.· And I can't really remember what

·4· ·they were because I didn't know we were going

·5· ·to be speaking about this today or that I would

·6· ·bring this up.

·7· · · · · · · · · But, you know, if -- the one

·8· ·that I do remember is that if we felt that it

·9· ·wasn't working out again -- and this resident

10· ·lived in a private room in the new section, but

11· ·if it -- if her behaviour increased again to

12· ·the point that we thought she'd have to return

13· ·back to hospital, that the hospital would take

14· ·her back.

15· · · · · · · · · And they wouldn't agree to that.

16· ·So we refused to take this resident back, and

17· ·it caused, you know, a huge uproar.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Did that cause you to think

19· ·twice before refusing a resident again?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry?

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Did that cause you to think

22· ·twice before you refused a resident again?

23· · · · · · · · · A. I would go to the hospital if

24· ·I thought there was any concern and try and

25· ·read their chart, and I would look for things,

26· ·like were they using sedation because, you

27· ·know, in long-term care you were not to use

28· ·sedation, that kind of thing.

29· · · · · · · · · So then if they were, you know,

30· ·I would say to the hospital, "Well, I'd like

31· ·you to try" -- you know, if this was a PRN, you

32· ·know, to not give it or whatever to see if
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·1· ·they -- you know, if the -- if their anxiety or

·2· ·whatever was causing the behaviour, you know,

·3· ·had resolved.

·4· · · · · · · · · You know, people do move through

·5· ·different stages in their dementia, and, you

·6· ·know, it didn't always stay the same.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Sure.

·8· · · · · · · · · A. You know, I just wanted to

·9· ·make sure that we had a candidate that would

10· ·actually work in the home.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And we've heard from

12· ·Brenda that hiring and retaining RNs at the

13· ·home was a challenge.· Is that your experience

14· ·too?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· At times, it was

16· ·terrible.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And how many part-time

18· ·or fill-in RNs did you have on staff at any

19· ·given time?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry?

21· · · · · · · · · Q. So you had a complement of

22· ·permanent employees --

23· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. -- who are RNs?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. And most of them had

27· ·scheduled shifts; correct?

28· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. But if somebody called in

30· ·sick or had a vacation and you had to have it

31· ·filled, how many other nurses did you have that

32· ·you could draw on?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Oh, that's hard to say.· You

·2· ·know, we had --

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. I understand.· Can you

·4· ·approximate for us?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Anywhere from four or five, I

·6· ·would say.· Ideally, yeah.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. That's the ideal, but was

·8· ·that the reality?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. I couldn't tell you without

10· ·looking at different schedules.· Like, there

11· ·were some people that were worked -- booked

12· ·full-time, and then there were others that were

13· ·booked part-time.

14· · · · · · · · · So if the part-time people could

15· ·take that shift, then great.· And we would also

16· ·cross departments.· You know, if we couldn't

17· ·get an RN shift covered, if it wasn't a night

18· ·shift -- I mean, we tried it once, and it

19· ·didn't work.· The Ministry wasn't happy with

20· ·us.

21· · · · · · · · · You know, we would ask an RPN to

22· ·work an RN shift or vice versa sometimes just

23· ·to try and, you know, have the bodies there for

24· ·those departments.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. Was it more difficult to get

26· ·somebody to work the night shift?

27· · · · · · · · · A. It would depend on who was,

28· ·you know, scheduled.· Some staff -- I know I

29· ·had one nurse that that's really all she wanted

30· ·to work was night shift because it fit in with

31· ·her current schedule.· She worked nights at

32· ·another -- for another agency, I guess.· Like,
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·1· ·it was Care Partners.· And she preferred to

·2· ·work nights.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· I'm just going to

·4· ·change my questioning a little bit for you.

·5· ·While you were the Director of Nursing, were

·6· ·you a member of the Registered Nurses

·7· ·Association, which I understand is the union?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. No, I was not.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· When did you stop

10· ·being a member?· Would that have been when you

11· ·took over as Director of Nursing?

12· · · · · · · · · A. I don't believe I was ever a

13· ·member.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And did you ever

15· ·engage in contract negotiations with the union

16· ·on behalf of Caressant Care?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, did I attend contract

18· ·negotiations?

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Yeah, were you involved in

20· ·the contract negotiations?

21· · · · · · · · · A. No, not that I recall, no.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you remember who did

23· ·those?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry?

25· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you remember who did

26· ·the -- boy, I really am speaking softly, aren't

27· ·I?

28· · · · · · · · · A. You are.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. I am sorry.· I'm just going

30· ·to pull this down a little bit.

31· · · · · · · · · A. It needs to be a little

32· ·longer, the cord.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you remember who from

·2· ·Caressant Care was involved in the contract

·3· ·negotiations?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. It would be human resources

·5· ·at head office.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Did they ever ask you for

·7· ·input?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, they did.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you give them input?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· Brenda and I, you know,

11· ·would talk about it or she'd bring it up at a

12· ·management meeting or say, you know, "Jot it

13· ·down in the back of your book when you think of

14· ·something that we should ask for."

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And do you recall, did

16· ·you ever advocate with head office at

17· ·Caressant Care for more RN staff to be added

18· ·under the contract?

19· · · · · · · · · A. We did ask.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And what was the outcome of

21· ·that?

22· · · · · · · · · A. They felt the funding was --

23· ·if there was extra funding at that time, it was

24· ·better to be used at the PSW at the hands-on

25· ·area.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. So no more funding for RNs,

27· ·though?

28· · · · · · · · · A. There was -- no.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. And do you know, your best

30· ·recollection, did the union ever advocate

31· ·during contract negotiations for more RNs in

32· ·the home?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. I can't really speak to that.

·2· ·I don't know.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. That's fair.· And to the best

·4· ·of your knowledge, did the nurses' union ever

·5· ·request of you or head office and let you know

·6· ·that they wanted to be made aware of any

·7· ·discipline that was given to their members,

·8· ·including counselling, written warnings, verbal

·9· ·warnings, forms, or any other form of

10· ·discipline?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Could you just say that

12· ·again, please?

13· · · · · · · · · Q. I'm afraid I can, but it's

14· ·going to be long.· To the best of your

15· ·knowledge, did the nurses' union ever request

16· ·of you or head office of Caressant Care that

17· ·they wanted to be made aware of any discipline

18· ·given to their member, including counselling,

19· ·written warnings, verbal warnings, forms, or

20· ·any other type of disciplinary action?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Not that I recall.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

23· · · · · · · · · A. For myself.· I'm not sure

24· ·about head office.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. Are you aware of them making

26· ·that demand during any kind of contract

27· ·negotiations, the demand that they wanted to

28· ·know about any discipline with their member?

29· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall, no.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Who oversaw the nurse

31· ·on nights?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Who oversaw the nurse on
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·1· ·nights?

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Correct.

·3· · · · · · · · · A. No one.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. And in your time as Director

·5· ·of Nursing, did you ever drop in on the RN on

·6· ·nights, say, during -- any time between 1 and

·7· ·7 a.m.?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· I was in the building

·9· ·early at times but not very often.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. So when you say "early," you

11· ·mean you'd come into work early?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. What time would early be?

14· · · · · · · · · A. 5:30, 6.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· But you don't recall

16· ·dropping in any time at 2 a.m. to check on the

17· ·nurse?

18· · · · · · · · · A. I can't -- no, I can't say

19· ·that I did.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And to the best of

21· ·your knowledge, did anybody from head office at

22· ·Caressant Care ever drop in on the nurse on

23· ·night just to check on things?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Actually, I think -- now that

25· ·you mention it, I think Bonnie, she lived in

26· ·Woodstock, and I think she did sometimes visit

27· ·at night.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And for the record,

29· ·who's Bonnie?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Bonnie Hughes was the

31· ·administrator at that time.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. So to the best of your
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·1· ·knowledge, did Brenda ever drop in on the night

·2· ·nurse unannounced?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. I don't remember her stopping

·4· ·in on nights.· I know she did stop on weekends

·5· ·from time to time, but...

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And to the best of

·7· ·your recollection, did a representative of the

·8· ·Ministry of Health ever stop in unannounced on

·9· ·nights?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Not that I can recall.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. And if that had happened,

12· ·would you have been made aware of it?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I believe I would have.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. So based on what you told us

15· ·yesterday, though, if someone wanted to make a

16· ·surprise inspection of the home overnight, it

17· ·couldn't have been a big surprise anyway, could

18· ·it, because the doors were looked using an

19· ·Allen key from the inside; is that correct?

20· · · · · · · · · A. We could, the management

21· ·staff, because we had the key to the basement

22· ·door.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. And was that an entrance to

24· ·the building through the basement door?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, but it wasn't used as an

26· ·entrance.· It was more an exit.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And who had keys to

28· ·that door?

29· · · · · · · · · A. Management staff.· The thing

30· ·is there was an alarm on that door, so you'd

31· ·have to be really quick.· You'd have to, you

32· ·know, insert your key, open the door, and turn
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·1· ·off the alarm so that they wouldn't really

·2· ·recognize what they heard because this, you

·3· ·know, buzzer -- I forget what kind of sound it

·4· ·made, but it made, like, a beeping noise.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. So if you wanted to --

·6· · · · · · · · · A. If you wanted to surprise

·7· ·them, yes, you could.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. You could or you couldn't?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. You could to a certain

10· ·degree, yes.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. But the buzzer would go off

12· ·and let them know somebody is coming in the

13· ·door?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yeah, but, you know, it takes

15· ·a few minutes.· You have to hear it again, and

16· ·you have to see what door -- you know, we had a

17· ·panel.· You'd have to see what alarm was

18· ·ringing.· You'd have to be right there.

19· · · · · · · · · And, you know, you could -- from

20· ·the nurses' station, you couldn't really see it

21· ·that well.· You'd almost have to get up and

22· ·walk out and have a look and see.· So I think

23· ·you could have.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· If you really made an

25· ·effort, you could do that?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. But nobody from the Ministry

28· ·could do that, could they?

29· · · · · · · · · A. No.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. But would you agree with me

31· ·that based on past history at the home, the

32· ·nurse on nights was pretty sure nobody was
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·1· ·going to come in and check on her?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. And my understanding is that

·4· ·overnight, there was an RPN on duty as well?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry?

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. My understanding is that

·7· ·there was an RPN on duty overnight as well?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· She was looking after

·9· ·the 64 residents on Level 1 and 2.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. And that was in a different

11· ·wing of the building; is that correct?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. There's no -- you told us

14· ·earlier there may have been video cameras in

15· ·the facility at some point, but not in recent

16· ·times; is that correct?

17· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And do you know why

19· ·they took the have cameras out?

20· · · · · · · · · A. I don't know if it was -- I

21· ·don't really know.· I don't know if it's when

22· ·we had the ward clerk sitting there, and they

23· ·could see who was coming in.· Like, it was to

24· ·see who was coming in and exiting through

25· ·the -- through the doors, so...

26· · · · · · · · · Q. They only ever had cameras

27· ·for the exits of the doors?

28· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry?

29· · · · · · · · · Q. So they only ever had cameras

30· ·at the doors?

31· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Never at the nurses' stations
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·1· ·or down the hallways?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. No.· No.· And it wasn't a

·3· ·recorded camera either.· It was just, you know,

·4· ·live time or however you say that.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· I just want to ask you

·6· ·some questions about something we talked about

·7· ·on Friday, and it's regarding this narcotics

·8· ·destruction box that's at Caressant Care.· Do

·9· ·you remember that discussion Friday?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. And my understanding is there

12· ·is only one of them?

13· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And it's bolted to the floor

15· ·in the Section B med room?

16· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. When you left, that's where

18· ·it still was; correct?

19· · · · · · · · · A. As far as I know, yes.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And you told us that

21· ·only you and the pharmacy consultant had a key

22· ·to that box?

23· · · · · · · · · A. That's right.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. And you told us that you'd

25· ·never used your key on the box?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, as far as I can recall,

27· ·it -- you know, I had the key in case a nurse

28· ·inadvertently threw a card in there and, you

29· ·know, "Oh, my gosh, that's not the card.· You

30· ·know, it's the Tylenol Number 2 or whatever,"

31· ·and then we'd have to fish it back out, so...

32· · · · · · · · · Q. So I think that's the example
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·1· ·we were dealing with on Friday, that two nurses

·2· ·had signed off and dropped some narcotics into

·3· ·that box incorrectly.· Do you recall that?

·4· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· I don't recall that

·5· · · · · · · · · evidence.

·6· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· I thought it was put

·7· · · · · · · · · in.

·8· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· It was put in as

·9· · · · · · · · · part of the process.· Two nurses

10· · · · · · · · · have to put it in to just -- and

11· · · · · · · · · then later it gets destroyed.

12· · · · · · · · · That was the evidence.

13· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· This was back on

14· · · · · · · · · March 21st, 2013, when the

15· · · · · · · · · narcotics had been dropped into

16· · · · · · · · · the box, and then they realized

17· · · · · · · · · that they had done it

18· · · · · · · · · incorrectly, and they weren't

19· · · · · · · · · attempted to be taken out until

20· · · · · · · · · April.

21· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· No, no, no.

22· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· Am I incorrect on

23· · · · · · · · · that?

24· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Yes.· My

25· · · · · · · · · understanding -- correct me if

26· · · · · · · · · I'm wrong I'm wrong, Helen -- is

27· · · · · · · · · that they were dropped into the

28· · · · · · · · · box in March.· In April when the

29· · · · · · · · · pharmacist came to destroy it,

30· · · · · · · · · those drugs were no longer in

31· · · · · · · · · the box.· They were missing.· Is

32· · · · · · · · · that correct, Helen?
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·1· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· That's correct.

·2· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· Okay.· Thank you,

·3· · · · · · · · · counsel.

·4· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SCOTT:

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. My understanding is that the

·6· ·form is wrapped around the narcotics once

·7· ·dropped into the box; is that correct?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Usually.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And that's the one

10· ·that's signed by the two nurses to say, "We're

11· ·both seeing it go into the box"?

12· · · · · · · · · A. No.· That -- it was a

13· ·separate form that sat right on top of the box.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· That answers my

15· ·question.· That's the part I didn't understand.

16· · · · · · · · · So there's a separate record on

17· ·top of the box that shows what's been

18· ·deposited?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry, you're walking away

20· ·from your mic.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. I'm going to get this

22· ·straight yet.· I know it.· So there's a

23· ·separate form on top of the box --

24· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. -- that shows what's been

26· ·deposited into the box?

27· · · · · · · · · A. That's right.· And that's

28· ·initialled by the two nurses that see it go in

29· ·the box.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Fair enough.

31· ·Thank you for clearing that up for me.

32· · · · · · · · · And was that box in the area

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 995
·1· ·that Elizabeth Wettlaufer worked?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. When she worked part-time and

·3· ·when she worked full-time on evenings and

·4· ·nights, two weeks and two weeks, that was her

·5· ·area.· When she moved to Level 1, then she was

·6· ·away from that area.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

·8· · · · · · · · · A. When she went to the

·9· ·full-time, you know, evening-only line.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. When it came to terminating

11· ·RNs, were you involved in all terminations?

12· · · · · · · · · A. If I was in the building, I

13· ·would be, yes.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, in your time as

15· ·Director of Nursing, how many nurses did you

16· ·actually terminate for medication errors?

17· · · · · · · · · A. For medication errors?

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Correct.

19· · · · · · · · · A. I believe Bethe was the only

20· ·one.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. And in your time as Director

22· ·of Nursing at Caressant Care, how many RNs did

23· ·you have to fire?

24· · · · · · · · · A. How many?

25· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.

26· · · · · · · · · A. I can recall three, including

27· ·Bethe.· I don't know if there were more.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Over 30 years as Director of

29· ·Nursing, you can recall firing three including

30· ·Bethe Wettlaufer?

31· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. And before firing a nurse,
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·1· ·did you need to obtain permission from head

·2· ·office?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry?

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Before you fired a nurse, did

·5· ·you need to get permission from head office?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. We had to have a good case,

·7· ·and we would discuss that at the head office

·8· ·level, yes.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, but was it your

10· ·decision alone to fire her?

11· · · · · · · · · A. No.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you need the okay from

13· ·head office before you fired a nurse?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And you told us on Friday

16· ·that eventually no nurse -- I don't want to put

17· ·words in your mouth, but I understood you to

18· ·say no nurse wanted to take on the role of the

19· ·union rep eventually, and so whenever you had a

20· ·disciplinary form, somebody might sign as a

21· ·witness --

22· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. -- but not necessarily as the

24· ·nurse's rep; is that correct?

25· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you have any understanding

27· ·or knowledge as to why the nurses didn't want

28· ·to be the union rep anymore?

29· · · · · · · · · A. I -- they never told me

30· ·directly, just that they didn't want to do

31· ·that.· So I -- you know, I didn't discuss it

32· ·with them.· It wasn't really -- you know, that
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·1· ·was union business.· That wasn't really my

·2· ·business.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. So you don't know why they

·4· ·didn't want to be the rep anymore?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. No.· They just didn't want to

·6· ·do it.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· When you caught --

·8· ·well, I shouldn't say caught, but when

·9· ·Elizabeth Wettlaufer was doing something not up

10· ·to standard, did she try and dodge it or avoid

11· ·a responsibility, or did she say, "Yes, I've

12· ·done that.· That's me"?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Could you repeat the

14· ·question, please?

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Sure.· Essentially what it

16· ·boils down to is did Elizabeth Wettlaufer take

17· ·responsibility when she made a mistake?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, she did.· She often said

19· ·it before we said it that she made a mistake.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Did she show

21· ·understanding and regret after she was caught?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Regret?

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.

24· · · · · · · · · A. Well, she would say that she

25· ·tried to do better, or it was our understanding

26· ·that she would try and do better.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. But did she ever make any

28· ·meaningful long-term changes to her behaviour

29· ·as a nurse?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Meaningful long-term changes,

31· ·no.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Did she ever plead to
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·1· ·keep her job when she was in your office on an

·2· ·issue?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Did she plead to keep her

·4· ·job?

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes, did she plead.

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Not that I can recall.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Sitting here today, do you

·8· ·believe she was ever scared about losing her

·9· ·job?

10· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Commissioner, I

11· · · · · · · · · don't know how the witness can

12· · · · · · · · · say whether or not Elizabeth

13· · · · · · · · · Wettlaufer was ever scared about

14· · · · · · · · · losing her job.· She could

15· · · · · · · · · testify as to whether she ever

16· · · · · · · · · mentioned she was scared.

17· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· That's fine.· I'll

18· · · · · · · · · withdraw the question.

19· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.

20· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SCOTT:

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen, I want you to think

22· ·about my next questions as if it didn't happen.

23· ·She wasn't a murderer, and we're not here, and

24· ·I'm asking you those questions.· So if you take

25· ·yourself to the summer of 2016, let's say, we

26· ·don't know about this, but you're still there.

27· · · · · · · · · If you'd had the sole authority

28· ·to terminate Elizabeth Wettlaufer before she

29· ·was let go in 2014, would you have let her go?

30· ·Do you understand my question?

31· · · · · · · · · A. Well, you know, I've been

32· ·around a long time.· I know there's

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 999
·1· ·ramifications to letting someone go, especially

·2· ·an RN, and I wouldn't want to make that

·3· ·decision on my own.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, what ramifications are

·5· ·there to letting an RN go?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Well, if you didn't have a

·7· ·good case, they would file a grievance, and if

·8· ·you didn't have a good case, they would win.

·9· ·And, you know, depending on what the union

10· ·thought was suitable punishment for management,

11· ·we'd have to comply.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. But even if you had a good

13· ·case, would the union still grieve it?· Do you

14· ·know?

15· · · · · · · · · A. They could.· They like to

16· ·grieve.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Your answer seemed to

18· ·indicate that the union would somehow make you

19· ·pay or you'd have to comply.· What did you mean

20· ·by that?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Well, you know, if it was

22· ·decided that it was an unfair dismissal say,

23· ·they could ask that Bethe be brought back to

24· ·work or be brought back to work, you know, with

25· ·compensation for the shifts that she missed.

26· · · · · · · · · There could be -- you know, if

27· ·she didn't want to go that route, then she

28· ·could have -- the union would ask for a

29· ·settlement for her.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Did you consider it

31· ·was going to be a difficult task to replace her

32· ·if you fired her?

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 1000
·1· · · · · · · · · A. We were -- we were trying to

·2· ·keep RNs.· We were trying to keep all staff.

·3· ·We had, you know, a fairly high turnover rate.

·4· ·We had fairly high orientation costs.

·5· · · · · · · · · So we -- you know, we tried to

·6· ·hire good staff, and when they were there, we

·7· ·tried to work with them to have them improve so

·8· ·that our residents would be looked after.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. So you wanted to hang on to

10· ·staff as best you could, though; right?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Within reason, yes.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. And you've now seen the

13· ·reference letter that was given to

14· ·Bethe Wettlaufer when she left?

15· · · · · · · · · A. I just saw it this morning.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. And I believe that's

17· ·Document 16712.· Give it a moment to be put up.

18· ·Is this the first time you've seen this letter?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. I may have the wrong number.

21· ·Just scroll down.· So until today, you hadn't

22· ·seen this letter; correct?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Well, last evening actually.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Fair enough.· But

25· ·we've already established you didn't write

26· ·this.· Did you have any input on this letter?

27· · · · · · · · · A. I said that I did, I believe.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And if we look down to

29· ·the very last paragraph where it says:

30· · · · · · · · · "Ms. Wettlaufer left her employ

31· · · · · · · · · to pursue other opportunity."

32· ·Is that accurate?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. I don't know.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, that seems to indicate

·3· ·she voluntarily left.· That's not the case, is

·4· ·it?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. No, it's not the case.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· If we could look at

·7· ·Document 16715.· And, Helen, you saw this

·8· ·document earlier today as well.· And this is

·9· ·the letter from the College of Nurses

10· ·acknowledging the termination.· We can see in

11· ·the first paragraph, it says:

12· · · · · · · · · "Dated March 31st, 2014,

13· · · · · · · · · reporting the above-named

14· · · · · · · · · member's termination."

15· ·Do you see that?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So it's clear she was

18· ·terminated.· She didn't go off to greener

19· ·pastures on her own volition, did she?

20· · · · · · · · · A. No.· That's correct.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And if it had been up

22· ·to you, would you have given her that letter of

23· ·reference that we saw earlier?

24· · · · · · · · · A. I, myself -- because I -- you

25· ·know, people sometimes ask you for a reference,

26· ·and I was not going to give Bethe Wettlaufer a

27· ·reference or hire her back.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. And the truth is you didn't

29· ·give her a reference, did you?

30· · · · · · · · · A. No.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Caressant Care gave her a

32· ·reference, didn't they?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Is it fair to say that the

·3· ·next Director of Nursing that was going to look

·4· ·at Bethe Wettlaufer's records after she left

·5· ·Caressant Care would have the same situation

·6· ·you faced in 2007 when you hired her?· She has

·7· ·a good reference here?

·8· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· Sorry, the next

·9· · · · · · · · · director at Caressant Care?

10· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· No, the next

11· · · · · · · · · Director of Nursing at any

12· · · · · · · · · facility she went to.

13· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Well, I think, you

14· · · · · · · · · know, any -- any letter of

15· · · · · · · · · reference is looked upon by a

16· · · · · · · · · potential employer as something.

17· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SCOTT:

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Don't you look upon it as an

19· ·endorsement?

20· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Commissioner,

21· · · · · · · · · again, this is a hypothetical as

22· · · · · · · · · to what somebody else in the

23· · · · · · · · · future would have done, not

24· · · · · · · · · based on this witness's

25· · · · · · · · · experience.

26· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· Commissioner,

27· · · · · · · · · partially I think that's true,

28· · · · · · · · · but partially this witness had

29· · · · · · · · · exactly the same situation in

30· · · · · · · · · 2007 when she hired

31· · · · · · · · · Bethe Wettlaufer.

32· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· No, no, I think
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·1· · · · · · · · · that's not fair because we

·2· · · · · · · · · already have in evidence from

·3· · · · · · · · · Exhibit 6 the fact that

·4· · · · · · · · · Elizabeth Wettlaufer was hired

·5· · · · · · · · · somewhere else long before this

·6· · · · · · · · · letter was even prepared and

·7· · · · · · · · · signed, so it's not relevant to

·8· · · · · · · · · the Wettlaufer situation.

·9· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· In my view,

10· · · · · · · · · it isn't a comparable situation,

11· · · · · · · · · so it's either a hypothetical or

12· · · · · · · · · it's not comparable because when

13· · · · · · · · · they hired her at CCW, my

14· · · · · · · · · understanding of the evidence is

15· · · · · · · · · that Geraldton Hospital

16· · · · · · · · · employment was not shown, and

17· · · · · · · · · the Christian Horizons' letter

18· · · · · · · · · she had, but she followed it up

19· · · · · · · · · by checking with them.

20· · · · · · · · · So from my vantage point, it

21· · · · · · · · · appears that there's two

22· · · · · · · · · significant differences in the

23· · · · · · · · · position.· So it's either a

24· · · · · · · · · hypothetical or it's not

25· · · · · · · · · factually accurate.

26· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· Fair enough.

27· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SCOTT:

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Were you called for a

29· ·reference by anyone after Bethe Wettlaufer left

30· ·your employ?

31· · · · · · · · · A. No, I was never called.

32· · · · · · · · · MR. SCOTT:· Thank you.· Those
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·1· ·are my questions.

·2· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you,

·3· ·Mr. Scott.

·4· ·MS. HEWITT:· Commissioner, I

·5· ·would suggest that now would be

·6· ·a good time for the lunch break,

·7· ·and I believe that we chatted on

·8· ·Friday.· If we could make that

·9· ·break an hour and 15 minutes --

10· ·go an extra 15 minutes if

11· ·necessary today to give people

12· ·time to converse with their

13· ·counterparts and get a bite to

14· ·eat.

15· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Okay.  I

16· ·don't have any problem with

17· ·that.

18· ·Counsel, can I just get a sense

19· ·of who's up after lunch on

20· ·cross?

21· ·MS. HUGHES:· I believe I am,

22· ·Madam Commissioner.

23· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.

24· ·MR. ZIGLER:· No, it's the

25· ·Ministry.

26· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· There you go.

27· ·MS. HEWITT:· If I can assist,

28· ·Commissioner, we've all gathered

29· ·together this morning and

30· ·believe that Ms. Crombez will be

31· ·the balance of the day, and then

32· ·we'll start afresh tomorrow with
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·1· · · · · · · · · our next witness.

·2· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

·3· · · · · · · · · That's very helpful.· All right.

·4· · · · · · · · · So in that case, by my

·5· · · · · · · · · reckoning, it would be just

·6· · · · · · · · · shortly after 2 that we would be

·7· · · · · · · · · back.· Like, say, five after 2.

·8· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Thank you.

·9· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you

10· · · · · · · · · very much.

11· · · · · · · · · -- RECESSED AT 12:52 P.M.

12· · · · · · · · · -- RESUMED AT 2:06 P.M.

13· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Go ahead, Ms.

14· · · · · · · · · Parker, when you are ready.

15· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. PARKER:

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Good afternoon, Mrs. Crombez.

17· ·My name is Judith Parker.· I am one of the

18· ·counsel here who is representing the Province

19· ·of Ontario.

20· · · · · · · · · I am going to be asking you some

21· ·questions on behalf of the Ministry of Health

22· ·and Long-Term Care, and then after me, my

23· ·colleague Rita Bambers will be asking you some

24· ·questions on behalf of the Coroner.· Okay?

25· · · · · · · · · A. That is fine, but please call

26· ·me Helen.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, I will, thanks.

28· · · · · · · · · So the first thing I wanted to

29· ·do was just to ask you a little bit about some

30· ·of the things you mentioned in the evidence

31· ·that you gave that are things that are

32· ·happening in the home, and among the first that
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·1· ·I would like to ask you is something called

·2· ·RAI/MDS.

·3· · · · · · · · · I think you had mentioned that

·4· ·that's something that the home is responsible

·5· ·for doing either in your evidence or your

·6· ·affidavit.· Are you familiar with RAI/MDS?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, it is a documentation

·8· ·system that two RAI coordinators do in the

·9· ·home.· They are full-time.· When I was there,

10· ·it was an RN and an RPN doing it.· They would

11· ·go through the form and it would ask for

12· ·identifying information, you know, their

13· ·illnesses, their care needs, and you know, the

14· ·RAI coordinators had to score these in every

15· ·area.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. So is it fair to say that it

17· ·is a tool for assessing residents' needs?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, yes, and then from that

19· ·we get the funding from the Ministry.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And my understanding of how

21· ·it works at Caressant Care is that the RAI/MDS

22· ·assessment that is done of each resident is

23· ·done through a computer program called Point

24· ·Click Care; is that your understanding?

25· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct, yes.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. And that the results of the

27· ·RAI assessment of each resident may also

28· ·trigger a resident assessment protocol that

29· ·triggers the nurse to look more closely at a

30· ·particular issue that the resident may have,

31· ·for example, falls or delirium.· Are you

32· ·familiar with that?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I have kind of

·2· ·forgotten that piece, but I believe --

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. That is okay.

·4· · · · · · · · · A. -- that is true.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. That is a question that I can

·6· ·ask one of the RNs then that is coming in.

·7· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, yes, uhm-hmm.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. And you had said that there

·9· ·were RAI/MDS coordinators.· It is my

10· ·understanding that there was funding provided

11· ·to pay for RAI/MDS coordination; do you recall

12· ·that?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And about when do you

15· ·remember that funding coming in?

16· · · · · · · · · A. I can't really say for sure.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Mr. Golden took you through

18· ·some registered staff minutes?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And in those minutes there

21· ·was a section called "Ethics"?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. And I think in answering his

24· ·question as to why there is a section on

25· ·"Ethics", you had said that it had to do with

26· ·accreditation?

27· · · · · · · · · A. I believe so.· It came from

28· ·somewhere, and I think, you know, we were

29· ·accredited through the Canadian Council of

30· ·Accreditation for many years, but then it

31· ·changed to CARF because it was thought by the

32· ·Quality Improvement Manager at that time that
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·1· ·it was more resident-focussed.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. And accreditation is

·3· ·something that the home seeks in order to have

·4· ·an outside body review its processes and

·5· ·determine whether they meet a certain standard;

·6· ·is that correct?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct, yes.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. And that is in addition to

·9· ·any inspection that the Ministry may do?

10· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. You were asked at some point

12· ·about residents who have responsive behaviours,

13· ·and I think I understand from what I have been

14· ·learning over the last few days that it is not

15· ·unusual for residents to have responsive

16· ·behaviours in the home?

17· · · · · · · · · A. That is correct.· We had more

18· ·and more residents coming into the home with

19· ·responsive behaviours.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And I think in answer to one

21· ·of your questions, you mentioned something

22· ·about a BSO team?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. What is that?

25· · · · · · · · · A. There was a program launched

26· ·by the Province.· It was Behaviour Support

27· ·Ontario, I believe, and BSO, and there was

28· ·funding associated with that to train staff and

29· ·then to have staff in the home designated as

30· ·the leads for that program.· And we had funding

31· ·for one RPN I think two days a week, if I'm not

32· ·mistaken.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. So that would be an RPN who

·2· ·would be specialized in dealing with responsive

·3· ·behaviours?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. She -- we had, you know, a

·5· ·posting that went up, and this, you know,

·6· ·saying that training would be offered and we

·7· ·wanted, you know, someone interested in

·8· ·behaviours and working with residents and the

·9· ·support team that was available to us at the

10· ·hospital.

11· · · · · · · · · And there was I think probably

12· ·other criteria.· I think the program set out,

13· ·you know, what qualifications or what interests

14· ·they should have, and we posted that and we had

15· ·an RN or an RPN apply to that.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. And just before lunch you had

17· ·talked a little bit about hiring new nurses?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. And in your evidence you had

20· ·said that CCW had a high turnover rate and high

21· ·orientation costs?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. When you say it is high, are

24· ·you comparing -- what are you comparing that

25· ·to, other homes that belong to Caressant Care,

26· ·or are you comparing it across the province or

27· ·what --

28· · · · · · · · · A. I believe it was within the

29· ·company.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. I assume that after Elizabeth

31· ·Wettlaufer left CCW, you hired a nurse to

32· ·replace her?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· I can't remember who,

·2· ·but --

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you remember how you found

·4· ·the nurse?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Hmm, in 2014?· You know, in

·6· ·the old days I used to advertise in the paper,

·7· ·and I may still have, but then we also -- there

·8· ·were also websites that you could go to.

·9· · · · · · · · · But you know, while I was there,

10· ·there were two different ones but I can't

11· ·really remember the name of them that you could

12· ·go and, you know, print off resumés, that kind

13· ·of thing, and they would say what area they

14· ·were interested in working and you would print

15· ·off their resumés, or you would put up an ad on

16· ·this website and then they would apply to it.

17· ·I think maybe that is how it worked.· You would

18· ·put up an ad on the website, and then they

19· ·would apply to it and then you could pull off

20· ·their resumés or their cover letters, that kind

21· ·of thing.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, and do you recall, I

23· ·think that Elizabeth Wettlaufer left the home

24· ·at the end of March 2014, and I am wondering if

25· ·you have any recollection of when the new nurse

26· ·would have started?

27· · · · · · · · · A. I'm sorry, I don't.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Do you remember it

29· ·being a very difficult process to find a

30· ·replacement for her?

31· · · · · · · · · A. I can't recall in this

32· ·instance, but I am -- recruiting RNs was always
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·1· ·a challenge, and even RPNs at times.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

·3· · · · · · · · · A. I remember, you know, before

·4· ·I left, I think probably in between Bethe and

·5· ·my leaving I had applications from Toronto.  I

·6· ·had five applications and that is all I had,

·7· ·and they were all from Toronto.· And some were

·8· ·saying that they were willing to relocate, but

·9· ·I didn't consider any of them suitable

10· ·candidates for one reason or another.

11· · · · · · · · · One I remember didn't have a

12· ·good -- I think he understood English very

13· ·well, but he had a very heavy accent and I

14· ·thought the residents will never be able to

15· ·understand him.· I could hardly understand him.

16· ·That was RPN, though, not RN.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you ever seek approval to

18· ·offer a higher salary in order to -- approval

19· ·from the Caressant Care head office to offer a

20· ·higher salary to attract more nurses?

21· · · · · · · · · A. I can't say for sure.· The

22· ·salary was, you know, a negotiated item through

23· ·the union, and I didn't think that I held any

24· ·sway in that.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. In your affidavit, you

26· ·mentioned something called "Resident First

27· ·philosophy"?

28· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you recall where you first

30· ·learned about Resident First?

31· · · · · · · · · A. It was a program, you know,

32· ·that was widely talked about, and there were
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·1· ·more components to it than just, you know,

·2· ·having the same staff, but I have tried to

·3· ·think of what they are but I can't really.· But

·4· ·I know we met -- I think there were maybe six

·5· ·items and we met four of those, I think, but I

·6· ·can't remember what they all were.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Was there a sort of a

·8· ·training component that came with Resident

·9· ·First or was it --

10· · · · · · · · · A. No, it was just a guideline,

11· ·you know.· It was information that we had, and

12· ·all the homes had it, and suggestions for

13· ·making nursing homes a better place for

14· ·residents.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you find that that

16· ·information was useful?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. I think you had already been

19· ·asked generally about the kinds of training

20· ·that you had available to you at CCW, but I

21· ·wanted to ask you about any training that

22· ·Caressant Care may have provided to you about

23· ·the Long-Term Care Homes Act.· Do you recall

24· ·ever being trained with respect to that

25· ·legislation either when it came into force in

26· ·2010 or later on?

27· · · · · · · · · A. It was available to us.· Like

28· ·I had a hard copy and would sometimes refer to

29· ·it.· You know, sometimes a resident would ask

30· ·for a vacation or whatever, and I would look it

31· ·up to make sure that we knew what, you know,

32· ·they were allocated a year for vacation, that
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·1· ·kind of thing.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. But that sounds like

·3· ·something that might be under the Employment

·4· ·Standards Act.· I'm wondering about the

·5· ·legislation that sets the requirements for the

·6· ·Long-Term Care Homes Act, so for example --

·7· · · · · · · · · A. This was in the Long-Term

·8· ·Care Act for residents, yes.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Right, okay.· And then I also

10· ·wanted to ask you specifically about the duty

11· ·to report under the Long-Term Care Homes Act,

12· ·and I wonder if I could ask Steven to bring up

13· ·the legislative brief at page 849, and if I can

14· ·ask you to scroll down to section 24.

15· · · · · · · · · That is great.· So you see the

16· ·heading that says "Reporting certain matters to

17· ·Director"?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Is that at a good size for

20· ·you to be able to read that?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Great.· So I'm sure that you

23· ·have seen this section before of the

24· ·legislation.· This says that:

25· · · · · · · · · "A person who has reasonable

26· · · · · · · · · grounds to suspect that any of

27· · · · · · · · · the following has occurred or

28· · · · · · · · · may occur shall immediately

29· · · · · · · · · report the suspicion and the

30· · · · · · · · · information upon which it is

31· · · · · · · · · based to the Director:"

32· · · · · · · · · And then there is a list, and
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·1· ·the first is:

·2· · · · · · · · · "Improper or incompetent

·3· · · · · · · · · treatment or care of a resident

·4· · · · · · · · · that resulted in harm or a risk

·5· · · · · · · · · of harm to the resident."

·6· · · · · · · · · And the second is:

·7· · · · · · · · · "Abuse of a resident by anyone

·8· · · · · · · · · or neglect of a resident by the

·9· · · · · · · · · licensee or staff that resulted

10· · · · · · · · · in harm or a risk of harm to the

11· · · · · · · · · resident."

12· · · · · · · · · And I am just going to focus on

13· ·those two at the minute.

14· · · · · · · · · You have seen that section

15· ·before?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I have.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. I wanted to make sure that we

18· ·looked at it because I want to ask you about

19· ·some of the answers that you provided about the

20· ·different reports that you made, and I know

21· ·that there is also a section in the regulation

22· ·called "Critical Incident Reports" and we can

23· ·look at that if you would like to.

24· · · · · · · · · But for a moment, I just want to

25· ·focus on this because I wanted to understand

26· ·exactly what gaps there might be in the

27· ·understanding of the duty.

28· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. And the first one that I

30· ·wanted to ask you about was with respect to the

31· ·younger resident who made an allegation that

32· ·Elizabeth Wettlaufer had hit her.· Do you
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·1· ·remember that younger resident?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, yes, I do.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes, and you helped her move

·4· ·out into the community?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm, yes.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And I think that at that time

·7· ·you had said in your affidavit - and that is at

·8· ·paragraph 124, if you wanted to have a look at

·9· ·it - but you had said that you didn't report it

10· ·to the Ministry because you knew this resident

11· ·well and you had good reason to believe that

12· ·she wasn't telling the truth in that instance

13· ·and that at some point an inspector, a Ministry

14· ·of Health inspector told you that it is better

15· ·to report right away and then make your

16· ·conclusion after the fact?

17· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And I think you had

19· ·said that that information came from the

20· ·inspector in 2016?

21· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So I just -- as you

23· ·can see, this section here says that any person

24· ·who has grounds to suspect shall report

25· ·immediately, and so it sounds like you were

26· ·waiting to do an investigation and then report

27· ·and I am wondering of where your understanding

28· ·of how this section worked came from?

29· · · · · · · · · A. Well, you know, we -- our

30· ·process was to report immediately, and I think

31· ·if it would say before investigating report the

32· ·suspicion and the information, we wanted to
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·1· ·make sure that what we reported was actually

·2· ·the case, I think.· We didn't want to waste,

·3· ·you know, the Ministry's time if we didn't

·4· ·think it was a valid reason or a valid

·5· ·occurrence.· We -- in this instance, we had it

·6· ·investigated and asked her to demonstrate, you

·7· ·know, what happened and her stories didn't

·8· ·really match, so --

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. That is very helpful to know,

10· ·and I appreciate that answer.· Thank you.

11· · · · · · · · · There was also an instance where

12· ·it appeared there may have been neglect, and

13· ·the only specific kind of neglect that is

14· ·reportable here, it is neglect that resulted in

15· ·harm or a risk of harm to the resident by the

16· ·licensee or the staff.

17· · · · · · · · · And the instance I'm thinking of

18· ·is there was a time, again also in January of

19· ·2012, similar to the incident involving the

20· ·younger resident, where a resident fell and

21· ·Elizabeth Wettlaufer had to assist with that

22· ·resident who fell and she, I understand,

23· ·thought that there may have been a broken hip

24· ·but then you think that maybe she didn't think

25· ·that and she moved the resident.· Do you recall

26· ·that incident?

27· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, yes.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. And there was another

29· ·resident who had an injured finger it seemed,

30· ·and there was a concern that Elizabeth,

31· ·although the RPN had pointed out this issue to

32· ·Elizabeth, she didn't actually end up treating
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·1· ·that resident before the end of her shift?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. The PSW pointed it out,

·3· ·right.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, thank you.

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, the PSW did.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And you were asked about

·7· ·whether you thought to report that as neglect,

·8· ·and my notes say that your first answer to that

·9· ·question was that you didn't think of it?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. And then Ms. Hewitt took you

12· ·through the licensee Decision Tree about

13· ·neglect; do you remember that?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And those Decision Trees are

16· ·Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care documents

17· ·that were provided to the home to help them,

18· ·right?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, uhm-hmm, yes.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And I think that Ms. Hewitt

21· ·asked you, after looking at the questions in

22· ·the Decision Tree and the little boxes and

23· ·triangles, that whether you, when you are

24· ·answering those questions yourself, take into

25· ·account the nurse's explanation?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. And then you said that you

28· ·did, and you gave some examples of the kinds of

29· ·things you might consider, the workload, that

30· ·kind of thing?

31· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. But I am not sure I

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 1018
·1· ·understand then whether you in fact did think

·2· ·it was neglect and then thought, well, you

·3· ·know, in the circumstances I'm not going to

·4· ·report it, or if you just didn't think of it?

·5· ·Because I don't think it can be both.· And I

·6· ·think it would be very helpful to know whether

·7· ·you just -- this didn't register as a possible

·8· ·neglect, or if you thought it does but I am not

·9· ·going to report it because of other reasons?

10· ·Do you have any recollection of --

11· · · · · · · · · A. For both cases or for --

12· · · · · · · · · Q. For the woman with the

13· ·finger, who had an injury with her finger.

14· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I don't really -- I

15· ·feel -- I think I felt at the time that it

16· ·wasn't really neglect.· You know, the finger

17· ·was bandaged.· It wasn't dripping blood.· I was

18· ·disappointed in the PSW that she didn't tell

19· ·somebody else.· She knew Bethe was, you know,

20· ·terribly busy with the transfer to hospital and

21· ·the medications that were due at 6:00.

22· · · · · · · · · And you know, it was treated

23· ·temporarily.· She wrote in her document that

24· ·she left at 7:10, and you know, the on-coming

25· ·staff were there.· Her PSW support was there.

26· · · · · · · · · Like, I don't know, I -- you

27· ·know, to me resident care is a team approach.

28· ·I'm sure someone looked at it, you know,

29· ·shortly.· I don't remember.· You know, I was

30· ·concerned about Grace when she had her bowel

31· ·issue, but I don't remember going to see Grace

32· ·and what her finger was all about.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. That is very helpful, thank

·2· ·you.

·3· · · · · · · · · The last instance I wanted to

·4· ·ask you about was the situation with a resident

·5· ·who Elizabeth was alleged to have said, you

·6· ·know, maybe you need a psych assessment, maybe

·7· ·you need Haldol.· I think that the idea was

·8· ·that Elizabeth felt that she was repeating the

·9· ·phrases to this male resident that he had been

10· ·saying to a female resident.· Do you recall

11· ·that instance?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I do.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Yeah, and that incident was

14· ·reported as a critical incident, but it was

15· ·only reported as resident to staff abuse.· And

16· ·I think that you had said that you had agreed

17· ·that that isn't something that is normally

18· ·reported to the Ministry, and I was wondering

19· ·if you have any thoughts on why you would

20· ·report resident to staff abuse in that

21· ·situation?

22· · · · · · · · · A. I think because it was so

23· ·extreme.· I think just because it was so

24· ·unusual.· Like he was so angry and he was

25· ·angry, you know, for awhile.· It was, you know,

26· ·unusual behaviour.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. And was your thought that

28· ·there should be someone to come in and

29· ·investigate or to do an inspection, or were you

30· ·just making sure that the Ministry was informed

31· ·of unusual occurrences in the home?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Well, it was -- he -- I just
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·1· ·wanted the Ministry to be aware.· You know,

·2· ·I -- I don't know what -- it was an unusual

·3· ·occurrence.· I have never had anyone come to my

·4· ·office that was that irate about a nurse or a

·5· ·situation, you know, so I reported it.

·6· · · · · · · · · You know, I come to find out

·7· ·that he had a urine infection, and then I get

·8· ·documentation that it had been going on, you

·9· ·know, for a few mornings in a row and no one

10· ·intervened or, you know, tried to change the

11· ·situation.

12· · · · · · · · · So then I thought, well, you

13· ·know, they were both -- they both hadn't had,

14· ·you know, sleep.· Bethe had worked all night.

15· ·David had been woken up abruptly, you know, I

16· ·don't know how many mornings in a row.· He had

17· ·a urine infection.

18· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· Helen, could you

19· · · · · · · · · just really try to just talk

20· · · · · · · · · about "the resident".· You could

21· · · · · · · · · say the "the female resident" OR

22· · · · · · · · · the "male resident".

23· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Oh, sorry, I'm

24· · · · · · · · · just getting too wrapped up in

25· · · · · · · · · it.

26· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· Just a little

27· · · · · · · · · reminder, thank you.

28· · · · · · · · · BY MS. PARKER:

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Thank you, Mr. Golden.  I

30· ·apologize, I didn't catch that.

31· · · · · · · · · A. So I knew he had been a

32· ·prison chaplain.· You know, Bethe had
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·1· ·demonstrated her views, and I thought maybe

·2· ·they could work things out.· I called the

·3· ·daughter to suggest that I asked them to have a

·4· ·meeting and they just, you know, talk things

·5· ·through and would she support that or did she

·6· ·think that was a bad idea and this was going to

·7· ·be with the resident's approval.· And she said,

·8· ·well, it was worth a try, and --

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Sorry, Helen, I don't want to

10· ·interrupt your story, but I am less interested

11· ·in the resolution about that --

12· · · · · · · · · A. Your time, okay.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. But what I wanted to --

14· · · · · · · · · A. Well, maybe ask your question

15· ·again then, and I'll try and stay more

16· ·focussed.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. No, no, you did a really good

18· ·job of answering the question.· I just wanted

19· ·to touch on one aspect.· I'm wondering if you

20· ·thought that he was making a complaint and that

21· ·you had a duty to let the Ministry know about a

22· ·complaint?· Because I know that in the previous

23· ·instance, that the resident, the younger

24· ·resident had phoned the Ministry and made a

25· ·complaint, and that is when you learned that

26· ·you should make sure that you let the Ministry

27· ·know about a complaint that comes in.

28· · · · · · · · · Is it possible that you had that

29· ·instance in mind when you decided --

30· · · · · · · · · A. It is possible.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· When we were here on

32· ·Friday, you had been walked through all of the
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·1· ·instances of medication errors by Elizabeth

·2· ·Wettlaufer in the home, and I think we had also

·3· ·heard from yourself and also from Brenda that

·4· ·medication errors are not uncommon in a

·5· ·long-term care home?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. And that the duty to report a

·8· ·medication error only arises -- to report to

·9· ·the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care only

10· ·arises when that error results in the resident

11· ·being transferred to hospital.· Was that your

12· ·understanding as well?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. So I think that there was

15· ·possibly only one of those instances that

16· ·resulted in a resident being sent to hospital.

17· ·The rest wouldn't have been reported to the

18· ·Ministry?

19· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Can you refresh her

20· · · · · · · · · memory perhaps?

21· · · · · · · · · MS. PARKER:· Why don't I come

22· · · · · · · · · back to that.

23· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Yes.

24· · · · · · · · · BY MS. PARKER:

25· · · · · · · · · Q. The last topic I wanted to

26· ·cover with you is about how the medication

27· ·management works in the home.

28· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. And you were kind enough to

30· ·describe for us what a medication cart looks

31· ·like and how they operate in the home, and I

32· ·wanted to take you back to your affidavit, if I
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·1· ·could, and ask you a couple of questions about

·2· ·that.

·3· · · · · · · · · At paragraph I think it is 49 --

·4· ·my apologies, it is 37.· Unfortunately, my

·5· ·affidavit doesn't have page numbers.· Thank

·6· ·you.

·7· · · · · · · · · Okay, so before we look at the

·8· ·affidavit, you described the medication cart

·9· ·for us, Helen, and you had said that there were

10· ·drawers in the middle of the cart, I think,

11· ·that have boxes or baskets inside that are for

12· ·the patient?

13· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And inside there, there would

15· ·be the strip medication?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, on a roll.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Uhm-hmm?

18· · · · · · · · · A. So that, you know, what is to

19· ·be given is, you know, first, the first thing

20· ·you see when you pick it up.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And I think you had

22· ·also said that in the bottom drawer there are

23· ·laxatives and then there is the controlled

24· ·substances locked box inside the medication

25· ·cart which itself is separately locked?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, it is a deeper drawer so

27· ·it can hold, you know, taller bottles and then

28· ·this narcotic box that is locked.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. So my understanding is that

30· ·sometimes there are also other kinds of

31· ·medications that are kept in the bottom drawer,

32· ·so things that maybe don't fit in the
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·1· ·resident's basket in the other parts of the

·2· ·cart.· So for example, something called Spiriva

·3· ·which comes in nebules, it may be kept in the

·4· ·bottom drawer of the cart.· Are you familiar

·5· ·with that practice in the home?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. I think you would be better

·7· ·to ask the nurses.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. Will do.· At paragraph 37 of

·9· ·your affidavit you say that:

10· · · · · · · · · "The pharmacy would do audits."

11· · · · · · · · · And I wanted to confirm, I asked

12· ·someone who I thought might know about this and

13· ·they said that the audits would be of the

14· ·carts, the medication carts, and the medication

15· ·rooms; is that what they are auditing?

16· · · · · · · · · A. That would be one piece, but

17· ·there were several different audits that they

18· ·would do.· They would audit everything from,

19· ·you know, the doctor's orders; was there

20· ·anything missed; was it complete on the MAR;

21· ·were the packages in the box.· They would look

22· ·at the re-order book; they would look at the

23· ·emergency stock box and see what had been used,

24· ·you know, and had it been re-ordered properly,

25· ·what was used in the last month.· Was there

26· ·anything expired.

27· · · · · · · · · There was, you know, several

28· ·different audits, and I am sure there were more

29· ·than that even than what she did.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· I wanted to take you

31· ·to another section of the legislation then

32· ·which is at page 1126.· It is section 135 of
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·1· ·the Act.· That is 1126.

·2· · · · · · · · · I think that you, Helen, had

·3· ·told us about the fact that medication errors

·4· ·were reported to the pharmacy only when they

·5· ·were an error that could be attributed to the

·6· ·pharmacy but that that practice was changing

·7· ·around the time that you were leaving the home;

·8· ·is that right?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, and I think that in

11· ·conversation with Ms. Hewitt, you had said that

12· ·you were catching up on that?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I believe that is

14· ·correct.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Right.· And under section 135

16· ·of the Act, if we can just scroll down here,

17· ·there is a requirement -- sorry, Steve, if you

18· ·can just go a little higher.· It is "Medication

19· ·incidents and adverse drug reactions"; do you

20· ·see that at 135?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. It says that:

23· · · · · · · · · "Every licensee of a long-term

24· · · · · · · · · care home shall ensure that

25· · · · · · · · · every medication incident

26· · · · · · · · · involving a resident and every

27· · · · · · · · · adverse drug reaction is".

28· · · · · · · · · And I am going to skip to the

29· ·second one, and there is a list of people that

30· ·you have to tell, and one of them in the second

31· ·line is the prescriber of the drug and the last

32· ·one is the pharmacy service provider; do you
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·1· ·see that?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. So is that what you were

·4· ·catching up to, is the regulatory requirement?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. I believe so.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you receive any

·7· ·training on what you had to do when you had a

·8· ·medication error, who you had to tell, who you

·9· ·had to report it to?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I don't remember that I

11· ·did.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Under this section

13· ·also you will see that there is a sub (2) and a

14· ·sub (3), and sub (2) has a requirement that:

15· · · · · · · · · "[...] the licensee shall ensure

16· · · · · · · · · that,

17· · · · · · · · · (a) all medication incidents and

18· · · · · · · · · adverse drug reactions are

19· · · · · · · · · documented, reviewed and

20· · · · · · · · · analyzed;

21· · · · · · · · · (b) corrective action is taken

22· · · · · · · · · as necessary; and

23· · · · · · · · · (c) a written record is kept of

24· · · · · · · · · everything required under [...]"

25· · · · · · · · · the first two items.

26· · · · · · · · · And then the third one says

27· · · · · · · · · that:

28· · · · · · · · · "Every licensee shall ensure

29· · · · · · · · · that,

30· · · · · · · · · (a) a quarterly review is

31· · · · · · · · · undertaken of all medication

32· · · · · · · · · incidents and adverse drug
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·1· · · · · · · · · reactions that have occurred in

·2· · · · · · · · · the home since the time of the

·3· · · · · · · · · last review in order to reduce

·4· · · · · · · · · and prevent [...]" future ones.

·5· · · · · · · · · And that you have to make any

·6· ·changes that are identified and you need to

·7· ·implement them and then document all of that as

·8· ·well.

·9· · · · · · · · · Was that something that you were

10· ·responsible for in the home?

11· · · · · · · · · A. I didn't review the

12· ·medication incidents.· I did for a time, and

13· ·then that piece went to the Assistant Director

14· ·of Nursing, and I think we did put it on the

15· ·Professional Advisory Team minutes.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Why don't we turn to that now

17· ·then.· My friend Mr. Golden brought you to

18· ·copies of the Professional Advisory Committee

19· ·minutes, and they are at document 72262.· They

20· ·are also at tab B of Exhibit 10, which is Ms.

21· ·Brenda Van Quaethem's affidavit, for the

22· ·record.

23· · · · · · · · · So I think Mr. Golden had you

24· ·look at these minutes earlier today, and I am

25· ·wondering if perhaps what I can do is give you

26· ·a hard copy.· It might be easier for you to

27· ·look at.· And if you could let me know where

28· ·those quarterly reports that are required under

29· ·section 135 are discussed in the minutes?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Well, if they are in those

31· ·minutes, they would be under the "Pharmacy"

32· ·section, I think.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, all right, so --

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Or a separate heading.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. So that would be the fourth

·4· ·page of the document here, I think.

·5· · · · · · · · · A. I would think so.· So under

·6· ·"Pharmacy" it says:

·7· · · · · · · · · "Medication Incident Report

·8· · · · · · · · · Summary reviewed."

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

10· · · · · · · · · A. So I think Sandra would have,

11· ·if she was there then.· Maybe she wasn't there

12· ·yet then.· I'm not sure who would have brought

13· ·it to the meeting, but someone would have

14· ·brought it to the meeting.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

16· · · · · · · · · A. And maybe it was myself.  I

17· ·can't recall in 2011.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. I don't think that that

19· ·report is part of these minutes.· Would it be

20· ·kept somewhere else?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I think when, you know,

22· ·the -- whoever -- like this, I didn't do these

23· ·minutes.· I'm not sure who did.· She would have

24· ·had a copy of the -- everyone at the meeting

25· ·had a copy of the Incident Report Summary, so

26· ·I'm not sure why it wasn't included as part of

27· ·the minutes and put in the manual or whatever.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. So if we could go back to the

29· ·legislation under section 115, which should be

30· ·a couple of pages behind that.· I think it is

31· ·1121.· I think it is at the top of the next

32· ·page.
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·1· · · · · · · · · So section 115 requires that the

·2· ·long-term care home will have an

·3· ·interdisciplinary team that will meet at least

·4· ·quarterly to evaluate the effectiveness of the

·5· ·Medication Management System in the home and

·6· ·recommend any changes necessary.

·7· · · · · · · · · And as part of that, you will

·8· ·see under section 3 it says that you are

·9· ·supposed to:

10· · · · · · · · · "[Identify] changes to improve

11· · · · · · · · · the system in accordance with

12· · · · · · · · · evidence-based practices and, if

13· · · · · · · · · there are none, in accordance

14· · · · · · · · · with [the] prevailing

15· · · · · · · · · practices."

16· · · · · · · · · And that there should be

17· ·documentation of that.· Would that be

18· ·documented in these minutes as well?

19· · · · · · · · · A. We have had a -- we have

20· ·looked at the program evaluation done by the

21· ·ADON, but she didn't do it at the PAT meeting.

22· ·She took it upon herself to ask, you know,

23· ·either staff or -- I can't remember who all was

24· ·at the -- you know, if she had a -- there were

25· ·a few different examples there.

26· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· I think the witness

27· · · · · · · · · is referring to Exhibit 19 from

28· · · · · · · · · this morning.

29· · · · · · · · · BY MS. PARKER:

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes, and I think that is

31· ·document 43479, I think.· Perhaps we can have a

32· ·look at that.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Oh, sorry, actually, just before

·2· ·we do that, I just want to ask you one more

·3· ·question about the legislation so we don't have

·4· ·to come back to it.

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. You will see below 115 there

·7· ·is also a requirement at 116, so if we can

·8· ·scroll down, that there be an annual evaluation

·9· ·of the Medication Management System to evaluate

10· ·its effectiveness and recommend any changes; do

11· ·you see that?

12· · · · · · · · · And that you will see in section

13· ·3 the idea is that you will take the quarterly

14· ·evaluations that are done and review those as

15· ·part of this annual process.· So you first do a

16· ·review of the medication incidents; then you

17· ·send the medication incidents to the quarterly

18· ·evaluation; and then you have an annual

19· ·evaluation of the whole system?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. So let's then have a look at

22· ·Exhibit 19 from this morning.· So this is a

23· ·document that we looked at earlier, and it was

24· ·filled out by the ADON; is that right?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. And you'll agree with me that

27· ·this wasn't something that was done by the

28· ·interdisciplinary team?

29· · · · · · · · · A. That is right.· And you know,

30· ·if you scroll back up a little bit -- oh,

31· ·"Review Completed".

32· · · · · · · · · Q. I have a number of other
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·1· ·ones of these --

·2· · · · · · · · · A. I don't know.· We didn't

·3· ·follow the legislation properly, I can see that

·4· ·now.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Right, okay, and did you have

·6· ·any guidance from Caressant Care or elsewhere

·7· ·about how to do this process?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Not that I recall.

·9· · · · · · · · · MS. PARKER:· Okay, that is very

10· · · · · · · · · helpful to know.· Those are all

11· · · · · · · · · of my questions, and thank you

12· · · · · · · · · so much.

13· · · · · · · · · My friend Ms. Bambers will now

14· · · · · · · · · assist you, unless -- I think we

15· · · · · · · · · can probably get that done

16· · · · · · · · · before the break.

17· · · · · · · · · Thank you, Madam Commissioner.

18· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· You are

19· · · · · · · · · welcome.

20· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION BY

21· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Good afternoon.

23· · · · · · · · · A. Good afternoon.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen, I'll take your advice

25· ·and call you by your first name.· I wanted to

26· ·thank you for being here and speaking so

27· ·frankly about this today.· It is not easy to

28· ·have your actions under a microscope,

29· ·especially at a public hearing.

30· · · · · · · · · But I just want to remind you

31· ·before I ask my questions that we are really

32· ·here to look at the system and how it can be
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·1· ·improved to avoid such tragedies, and on behalf

·2· ·of the Coroner's Office and the Office of

·3· ·Forensic Pathology Services, we are very

·4· ·interested to see anywhere where there can be

·5· ·improvements and to enhance public safety, and

·6· ·hopefully these questions will help achieve

·7· ·some of those goals.

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Good.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. So starting, first of all,

10· ·you indicated in your affidavit at paragraphs

11· ·26 to 28 you talked about the training that new

12· ·registered staff would get, and I wanted to ask

13· ·you if that training included what to do when a

14· ·patient died?

15· · · · · · · · · A. It did, because we had a

16· ·folder and it outlined very clearly, you know,

17· ·the steps when a resident died, what forms to

18· ·fill out.· You know, if there was to be a

19· ·cremation, you know, there had to be a form

20· ·signed.· There were -- it was all listed out in

21· ·our Death File, and I updated it as new

22· ·information, you know, came.

23· · · · · · · · · It had the doctor's phone

24· ·numbers in there.· It had the names of the

25· ·funeral homes and their phone numbers in there,

26· ·those, you know, in the area.· It talked about

27· ·notifying the family, when to call the Coroner.

28· ·Some doctors wanted to be called at the time of

29· ·death; others wanted to be called, you know,

30· ·first thing in the morning, that kind of thing.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And then about

32· ·the forms to be completed, one of them was the
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·1· ·Institutional Patient Death Record, and we saw

·2· ·one of them this morning for James Silcox.

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. And you indicated that it was

·5· ·usually the Charge Nurse that would complete

·6· ·those forms in your affidavit?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. And they would be trained by

·9· ·another experienced Charge Nurse?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, and is it always a

12· ·Registered Nurse that would be filling out

13· ·those forms?

14· · · · · · · · · A. No, I don't think there was a

15· ·requirement that it had to be the Registered

16· ·Nurse.· I think the RPN did as well.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, because I did notice

18· ·that for some of the victims that it was

19· ·completed by an RPN.

20· · · · · · · · · And is there any reason why it

21· ·would be completed by the RPN as opposed to the

22· ·Charge Nurse?

23· · · · · · · · · A. I think if the Charge Nurse

24· ·were there -- like in Section B we had a Charge

25· ·Nurse on day shift, one on evening shift and

26· ·one on night shift, but on Level 2 we had an RN

27· ·on on day shift and evening shift but not night

28· ·shift.· So if the death occurred at night, then

29· ·the RPN would do her own paperwork.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.

31· · · · · · · · · A. And we just had one Death

32· ·File, so because we also kept the Death Record
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·1· ·in that file and we wanted, you know, not to

·2· ·miss anyone, so it was all kept together.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And so I would

·4· ·like to maybe take you to one of the victim's

·5· ·Institutional Patient Death Record, and that

·6· ·would be document number 64904, if we could

·7· ·bring that up, please.

·8· · · · · · · · · And I just took the first few

·9· ·pages of this because it is a long form of

10· ·medical records, but if we could go to page 2

11· ·first, it is Mr. Granat's file.· And on page 2,

12· ·there is just a few forms I want to ask you

13· ·about.· There is the Medical Certificate of

14· ·Death, so that is a different form that needs

15· ·to be completed; correct?

16· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. It's sort of the opposite of

18· ·your Birth Certificate, your Certificate of

19· ·Death for the Ministry; correct?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm, that's correct.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. And then at page 5, page 5 is

22· ·the Resident Death Form.· It is a little lower,

23· ·I think.

24· · · · · · · · · A. This is the cardex that we

25· ·used to have, and this was our own death form

26· ·too.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Right, that is what I wanted

28· ·to ask you.· This was an internal form for

29· ·Caressant Care's --

30· · · · · · · · · A. This was an internal form,

31· ·yes.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. -- records?
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·1· · · · · · · · · All right, and then if we could

·2· ·go to page 6, this is another and this is the

·3· ·Institutional Patient Death Form.· And if we

·4· ·could go to the bottom -- well, we have the

·5· ·check-box questions, and then at the bottom I

·6· ·wanted to ask you, this one was completed by

·7· ·Frances Crown.

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you know what her

10· ·designation was?

11· · · · · · · · · A. She was an RN.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And then in terms

13· ·of the questions, if we can go to the first

14· ·question, just a little bit lower, the question

15· ·about is it an accidental death, and also

16· ·question 5, "Is the death both sudden and

17· ·unexpected?"· Did you understand how to

18· ·complete these forms?· Did you have to complete

19· ·it yourself?

20· · · · · · · · · A. When I worked on the floor, I

21· ·did.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And you have told

23· ·us in your affidavit, in paragraph 35 you gave

24· ·some examples about when it might be sudden --

25· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. -- and when not.· If you were

27· ·uncertain about that, was there anywhere -- did

28· ·you get any guidance from anywhere about

29· ·filling out that form?

30· · · · · · · · · A. You could talk to a

31· ·co-worker, another, you know, registered staff

32· ·member.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And when the

·2· ·forms were being submitted electronically, did

·3· ·you ever do that?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. I don't believe I did, no.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, so I'll save that

·6· ·question for one of the nurses that have done

·7· ·it more recently.

·8· · · · · · · · · And were you aware that -- did

·9· ·you ever seek advice from a Coroner if you

10· ·weren't sure if it should be reported or not?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Well, there was a time when

12· ·we reported every tenth death.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Right.

14· · · · · · · · · A. I don't know when that

15· ·changed.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. But in terms of if it wasn't

17· ·the tenth death, did you ever call the Coroner

18· ·or were you aware that you could call the

19· ·Coroner to seek guidance whether it needed to

20· ·be reported, sort of prepare --

21· · · · · · · · · A. I think we felt comfortable

22· ·with the Coroner.· You know, we had the

23· ·Coroner's name in that folder as well.· And you

24· ·know, at one time we had actually two Coroners.

25· ·I can't remember, he was an older man, but --

26· ·and then, you know, Dr. George was the latest

27· ·one, I think.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. Right, so there were people

29· ·you could call to ask questions?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, yeah.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. And I also noticed in

32· ·reviewing the Caressant Care documents, and I
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·1· ·would like to bring up document 72195.· It is

·2· ·the Caressant Care Death Policy.

·3· · · · · · · · · So you had a policy at Caressant

·4· ·Care about the death of a resident, and it

·5· ·talks about when there is an expected death

·6· ·under "Definitions".· Do you recall this

·7· ·policy?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. I don't actually recall it,

·9· ·but I know that it is one of ours, yes.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, and under that

11· ·"Expected Death" section, I guess it gives a

12· ·bit of a definition about what might be

13· ·expected as opposed to unexpected, and that

14· ·would be:

15· · · · · · · · · "Death is expected when the

16· · · · · · · · · health care team is of the

17· · · · · · · · · opinion that the resident is

18· · · · · · · · · irreversible and irreparably

19· · · · · · · · · terminally ill, there is no

20· · · · · · · · · treatment that will restore

21· · · · · · · · · health and that death is

22· · · · · · · · · anticipated by the health care

23· · · · · · · · · team."

24· · · · · · · · · So and then if we could scroll

25· ·down, and that is good, under "Procedure" it

26· ·says:

27· · · · · · · · · "When the health team determines

28· · · · · · · · · that death is expected the nurse

29· · · · · · · · · will document this fact on the

30· · · · · · · · · progress notes [...]"

31· · · · · · · · · Do you know if the nurses did

32· ·that?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· Sometimes, you know,

·2· ·the resident wouldn't take their medications

·3· ·anymore and they weren't eating well, and you

·4· ·know, we talked to the family, what their goals

·5· ·were.· We were, you know, seeing that this was

·6· ·maybe end of life and we would call the doctor,

·7· ·or you know, if he was expected in, then we

·8· ·would ask for palliative care orders so that we

·9· ·didn't have to give medications.· We would just

10· ·give the pain medication.· You know, we

11· ·wouldn't encourage the resident to eat so much,

12· ·just, you know, drink if they felt like it.· If

13· ·they said, oh, they were hungry, then we would

14· ·feed them, but we weren't giving as active

15· ·nursing care.· We were allowing, you know, a

16· ·natural decline.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, thank you.

18· · · · · · · · · And before I get too far into

19· ·further documents that I haven't marked as

20· ·exhibits, I believe that the forms that I

21· ·showed for Mr. Granat are not an exhibit

22· ·currently, so perhaps that should be marked as

23· ·an exhibit.· It is an excerpt from document

24· ·64904.

25· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· If it might help,

26· · · · · · · · · they should be in the Overview

27· · · · · · · · · Report but separately, not that

28· · · · · · · · · version.

29· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:· Okay.

30· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· I can look, and

31· · · · · · · · · then if it is not in the

32· · · · · · · · · Overview Report, we can mark
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·1· ·them, Commissioner, or --

·2· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Yes, I'm not

·3· ·sure.· Yes, I mean, you put it

·4· ·up on the screen.· I don't think

·5· ·you handed it to the witness,

·6· ·but I guess for the sake of the

·7· ·people watching the webcast,

·8· ·they need to be able to see it.

·9· ·MS. BAMBERS:· I think the

10· ·witness was probably following

11· ·along on the screen.

12· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Right, she

13· ·was following on the screen, I

14· ·agree with that.

15· ·MS. BAMBERS:· It is definitely

16· ·referred to in the Overview

17· ·Report.

18· ·MS. HEWITT:· Those particular

19· ·documents, but different

20· ·numbers.

21· ·MS. BAMBERS:· Yes.

22· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Yes.· We are

23· ·almost at the point where - are

24· ·we almost? - where the source

25· ·documents are there?· Because

26· ·that seems to me to be the major

27· ·reason of why we need to

28· ·introduce as exhibits documents

29· ·which are already -- if they are

30· ·already in the Overview Reports,

31· ·was because there is a bit of a

32· ·timing gap on the source
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·1· ·documents.· Am I not right on

·2· ·that?

·3· ·MS. KINKARTZ:· Yes, and my

·4· ·understanding is that the source

·5· ·documents are almost ready.· The

·6· ·last I heard is we are getting

·7· ·close.

·8· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

·9· ·Well, then, again, just to be

10· ·consistent, then we can enter

11· ·that as an exhibit, even though

12· ·it does duplicate an exhibit

13· ·that is in the --

14· ·MS. BAMBERS:· Okay, and then at

15· ·the same time, so I can bring

16· ·these up together, the policy,

17· ·the Death Policy of a resident

18· ·policy that I just referred

19· ·to --

20· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· I thought

21· ·that was in -- that has already

22· ·been entered in as an exhibit

23· ·today, hasn't it?

24· ·MS. BAMBERS:· No.

25· ·MS. HEWITT:· I don't believe so,

26· ·Commissioner.

27· ·MS. BAMBERS:· Not this one.

28· ·MS. HEWITT:· Not that particular

29· ·one.

30· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right,

31· ·thank you.· Thank you for

32· ·correcting me.
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·1· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:· That is 72195.

·2· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Yes.

·3· · · · · · · · · BY MS. BAMBERS:

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, and you had

·5· ·mentioned that --

·6· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Sorry, is

·7· · · · · · · · · there more?· Or let's deal with

·8· · · · · · · · · these.

·9· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:· Sorry.· Well, none

10· · · · · · · · · that I have spoken about yet.

11· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· All right,

12· · · · · · · · · well, let's enter these ones

13· · · · · · · · · properly so we all know what we

14· · · · · · · · · are talking about.

15· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:· Okay, sorry.

16· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Not at all.

17· · · · · · · · · Thank you very much.

18· · · · · · · · · All right, so just to make sure

19· · · · · · · · · then for anybody trying to

20· · · · · · · · · follow along, the document which

21· · · · · · · · · is the Medical Certificate for

22· · · · · · · · · Mr. Granat, which is document

23· · · · · · · · · number 64904 -- and what exhibit

24· · · · · · · · · number is that next one, Madam

25· · · · · · · · · Clerk?

26· · · · · · · · · THE COURT CLERK:· 21 is the next

27· · · · · · · · · one.

28· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Okay, so

29· · · · · · · · · Exhibit 21 then is document

30· · · · · · · · · 64904, the Medical Certificate

31· · · · · · · · · of Death for Mr. Granat, and it

32· · · · · · · · · is several pages in length.
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·1· · · · · · · · · EXHIBIT NO. 21:· Medical

·2· · · · · · · · · Certificate of Death for

·3· · · · · · · · · Mr. Granat.

·4· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· And then

·5· · · · · · · · · document 72195, which is

·6· · · · · · · · · Caressant Care's own Policy and

·7· · · · · · · · · Procedure on the Death of a

·8· · · · · · · · · Resident, a two-page document,

·9· · · · · · · · · would be Exhibit No. 22.

10· · · · · · · · · EXHIBIT NO. 22:· Caressant Care

11· · · · · · · · · Policy and Procedure on the

12· · · · · · · · · Death of a Resident, two-page

13· · · · · · · · · document.

14· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you,

15· · · · · · · · · Ms. Bambers.

16· · · · · · · · · BY MS. BAMBERS:

17· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And, Helen, you

18· ·had mentioned that there was a change when in

19· ·the past you had to report every tenth death

20· ·known as the threshold death, and that changed

21· ·and you weren't sure when it changed?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. I did notice in one of

24· ·Caressant's documents, and they were registered

25· ·staff meeting minutes from March 25, 2014, that

26· ·that was brought to the attention of registered

27· ·staff during this meeting, and I would like to

28· ·show you a copy of those minutes as well.· It

29· ·is document 72134.· And specifically, it is

30· ·discussed at paragraph 6.· And would you have

31· ·been at this meeting?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, this is --
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. So according to paragraph 6

·2· ·of these minutes, the change was effective

·3· ·September 16, 2013, and I guess you are

·4· ·communicating that to your staff in this.

·5· · · · · · · · · And we could maybe read through

·6· ·it together, so it says that the:

·7· · · · · · · · · "Change in procedure regarding

·8· · · · · · · · · calling the Coroner on the 10th

·9· · · · · · · · · death or if there is a death

10· · · · · · · · · during an outbreak.· This is no

11· · · · · · · · · longer necessary and was

12· · · · · · · · · effective September 16, 2013."

13· · · · · · · · · And then it explains:

14· · · · · · · · · "However, the Coroner must be

15· · · · · · · · · called if it is a non-natural

16· · · · · · · · · death e.g. fall - hip fracture -

17· · · · · · · · · surgery - post operative heart

18· · · · · · · · · attack [and] the underlying

19· · · · · · · · · cause is the primary non-natural

20· · · · · · · · · event."

21· · · · · · · · · And it gives:

22· · · · · · · · · "Other non-natural deaths would

23· · · · · · · · · be a homicide, accidental or

24· · · · · · · · · suicide deaths.· Natural deaths

25· · · · · · · · · with significant issues must

26· · · · · · · · · also be reported e.g. a death

27· · · · · · · · · that was not reasonably

28· · · · · · · · · foreseeable; allegations that

29· · · · · · · · · the death was preventable or the

30· · · · · · · · · result of malpractice or

31· · · · · · · · · negligence; communication and

32· · · · · · · · · resource issues."
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·1· · · · · · · · · And it refers to section 10 of

·2· ·the Coroners Act still applies:

·3· · · · · · · · · "The coroner or a police officer

·4· · · · · · · · · must be notified if a deceased

·5· · · · · · · · · person died, a) as a result of

·6· · · · · · · · · [...]" any of the following

·7· · · · · · · · · means, violence unfair means,

·8· · · · · · · · · suddenly and unexpected.

·9· · · · · · · · · So that was clarification at

10· ·this meeting to your staff about when deaths

11· ·needed to be reported?

12· · · · · · · · · A. That's right.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. That was really reinforcing

14· ·the change, but they were aware of that

15· ·already?

16· · · · · · · · · A. That's right, and there would

17· ·have been something like this in that medical

18· ·Death File too that I spoke of, just to remind

19· ·everyone.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, thank you.

21· · · · · · · · · So you mentioned also that the

22· ·file contained what I understand you are

23· ·referring to is the Death Registry; is that

24· ·correct?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, and --

27· · · · · · · · · A. I think it was in a separate

28· ·file, but it was all kept in the same folder,

29· ·if you will.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And could you

31· ·tell us what the Death Registry was?

32· · · · · · · · · A. It was a list of all the
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·1· ·residents who died either at the home or in

·2· ·hospital, and it had several columns.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay, and I think we have an

·4· ·excerpt of it.· Maybe we'll bring it up, and it

·5· ·might help with your answer.

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Sure, uhm-hmm.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. It is document 71977.

·8· · · · · · · · · All right, so you were talking

·9· ·about the columns, and I guess that any time --

10· ·or I take it, Helen, that any time a resident

11· ·dies, you have to enter their name, age and

12· ·date of death?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And the cause of death and

15· ·whether you called the Coroner?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. And the staff knew that part

18· ·of their duties were to complete this form?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, the staff did know.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And would it be

21· ·the same nurse dealing with other forms that is

22· ·filling this out, or someone else's duty?

23· ·Would it be the Charge Nurse or the RPN?· The

24· ·nurse that is filling out the Institutional

25· ·Patient Death Form would be the same person

26· ·filling out the Death Registry?

27· · · · · · · · · A. Usually.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And this one

29· ·showed Helen Young's death recorded?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. I noticed at the top that

32· ·there is a space for the "Average Number of
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·1· ·Deaths per Month in this Facility".· Was that

·2· ·generally filled out?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. It wasn't on this one.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you remember it ever being

·5· ·filled out?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I know there were sheets

·7· ·in that binder, but --

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, and does anyone in

·9· ·the home ensure that this is being kept up to

10· ·date or completed?

11· · · · · · · · · A. It was the responsibility of

12· ·the Charge Nurse to make sure that it was

13· ·completed, and I would review it every once in

14· ·awhile to see if there were -- you know, how

15· ·they were doing.· And sometimes there were

16· ·blanks and I would -- and you know, if they

17· ·died in hospital, sometimes it was hard to get

18· ·the cause of death, and then we would have to

19· ·call medical records, you know, and get the

20· ·cause of death, that kind of thing.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Right, so you might have

22· ·trouble filling out that column, but the other

23· ·columns --

24· · · · · · · · · A. Uhm-hmm, yeah, so we tried

25· ·to -- you know, when the hospital called us, we

26· ·would say, Do you have the cause of death?· If

27· ·you could let us know, because we need to fill

28· ·out our paperwork at this end.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· And I wanted to

30· ·also ask you about the death of Maureen

31· ·Pickering, and do you have a recollection of

32· ·when she died?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, and --

·3· · · · · · · · · A. I can't tell you the time or

·4· ·anything, but I remember her and that she died.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you have any -- do you

·6· ·recall if you had any concern at the time that

·7· ·the death was sudden and unexpected?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. It was sudden.· We were

·9· ·surprised, and we did call the Coroner.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. When you say "we"?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Well, it was one of the

12· ·staff.· It was a Registered Nurse, Karen

13· ·Routledge, that called.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. All right, so we are going to

15· ·hear from Karen Routledge, and so we'll ask her

16· ·about her conversations with the Coroner.

17· · · · · · · · · So you didn't have any

18· ·conversation with the Coroner?

19· · · · · · · · · A. No, I did not.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you believe

21· ·Mrs. Pickering had a stroke?

22· · · · · · · · · A. She had gone to the hospital

23· ·a week or two earlier and had I believe a mild

24· ·stroke then was what I either read or was told.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. And in your mind, that

26· ·explained the death to you?· Is that what was

27· ·in your mind?

28· · · · · · · · · A. That is what was in my mind.

29· ·We had seen it before.· You know, either with a

30· ·stroke or a heart attack, sometimes there is

31· ·like a smaller event and then, you know, a more

32· ·catastrophic event.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· Thank you, Helen,

·2· ·those are all my questions.

·3· · · · · · · · · A. You are welcome.

·4· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Do we want

·5· · · · · · · · · this in as an exhibit?

·6· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:· Yes, those last

·7· · · · · · · · · two items I passed up perhaps

·8· · · · · · · · · should be marked.· One is the

·9· · · · · · · · · staff minutes from March 25,

10· · · · · · · · · 2014.

11· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· So yes,

12· · · · · · · · · Exhibit 23 then, I believe,

13· · · · · · · · · Registered Staff Meeting Minutes

14· · · · · · · · · dated March 25, 2014 consisting

15· · · · · · · · · of several pages.

16· · · · · · · · · EXHIBIT NO. 23:· Registered

17· · · · · · · · · Staff Meeting Minutes dated

18· · · · · · · · · March 25, 2014.

19· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:· And the excerpt

20· · · · · · · · · from the Death Registry of CCW.

21· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Yes, that

22· · · · · · · · · will be Exhibit 26 then, and I

23· · · · · · · · · think that is the Resident Death

24· · · · · · · · · or Transfer Record for, right,

25· · · · · · · · · is that the right one?

26· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:· Yes.

27· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· One page,

28· · · · · · · · · thank you.

29· · · · · · · · · THE COURT CLERK:· So that will

30· · · · · · · · · be Exhibit 24.

31· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Exhibit 24,

32· · · · · · · · · yes, thank you.
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·1· ·EXHIBIT NO. 24:· Resident Death

·2· ·or Transfer Record for Caressant

·3· ·Care Woodstock.

·4· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.

·5· ·MS. HEWITT:· Commissioner, Ms.

·6· ·Hughes from the Ontario Nurses

·7· ·Association.

·8· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.

·9· ·So it's 3:15.· What is the

10· ·thinking of the time for a

11· ·break?· Did you want to have a

12· ·break now, or do you want to get

13· ·started?

14· ·MS. HUGHES:· I am in your hands.

15· ·It would be fine to take a break

16· ·now.· I will be more than 15

17· ·minutes, so --

18· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Would you

19· ·like to begin or would you like

20· ·a break now?· We'll have a

21· ·15-minute break, and we can do

22· ·it now or we can do it in --

23· ·THE WITNESS:· I think it might

24· ·be nice to do it now, and then

25· ·finish it all in one go.

26· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

27· ·Thank you, okay, so we'll take

28· ·the recess now.

29· ·-- RECESSED AT 3:15 P.M.

30· ·-- RESUMED AT 3:30 P.M.

31· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Go ahead,

32· ·Ms. Hughes, when you're ready.
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·1· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· Thank you.· Good

·2· · · · · · · · · afternoon, Madam Commissioner.

·3· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. HUGHES:

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. I was introduced before.· My

·5· ·name is Kate Hughes, but you can call me Kate,

·6· ·and I understand you would prefer I call you

·7· ·Helen; is that correct?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, that's correct.

·9· ·Thank you.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. A little bit earlier this

11· ·morning, one of my friends here in the

12· ·courtroom asked you if you'd ever been a member

13· ·of RNAO and referred to that as the union.

14· ·I think he misspoke, and he was referring to

15· ·the ONA, the Ontario Nurses' Association.· Have

16· ·you ever been a member of them?

17· · · · · · · · · A. No, I have not.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so you indicated

19· ·that you have been or working as a nurse,

20· ·I think, until -- since the '70s; is that

21· ·correct?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, with time off to have my

23· ·children, right.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Fair enough.· And 34 years

25· ·particularly in long-term care; is that

26· ·correct?· 30 years as a supervisor and about

27· ·four years where you worked as an RN at

28· ·Caressant Care Woodstock?

29· · · · · · · · · A. I thought it was more like

30· ·five years that I worked as an RN, but, yeah,

31· ·around -- around --

32· · · · · · · · · Q. 35 years, then, in long-term
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·1· ·care?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so as such, you

·4· ·are perhaps a person with the most experience

·5· ·in long-term care that we're going to hear

·6· ·from, so I have some questions for you

·7· ·generally.

·8· · · · · · · · · With respect to what you now

·9· ·know about Elizabeth Wettlaufer, she was

10· ·certainly not your normal nurse, was she?· She

11· ·was an extremely rare individual we now know as

12· ·a serial murderer?

13· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. But I take it -- and we're

15· ·going to hear expert evidence -- that's

16· ·extremely rare.· You've certainly never

17· ·encountered a serial murderer in health care,

18· ·have you?

19· · · · · · · · · A. No.· Thank goodness.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And you've never in all your

21· ·years of -- either working as a nurse with

22· ·colleagues or as a supervisor for three

23· ·decades, I take it you have never encountered a

24· ·person that you thought was intentionally

25· ·trying to harm residents or patients; is that

26· ·correct?

27· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. And so with respect to her,

29· ·you knew her quite well, I take it, because we

30· ·know that you interviewed her, and we know that

31· ·from Ms. Hewitt's questions of you, that you

32· ·met with her for at least 40 meetings where you
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·1· ·were looking at either matters of discipline or

·2· ·counselling or matters of concern; is that

·3· ·correct?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. I'm not sure of the number,

·5· ·but, yes, I did meet with her frequently.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And as well, you met her --

·7· ·we've heard about the nursing meetings.· She

·8· ·would be in there; is that correct?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. No.· She rarely attended.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And you would have met

11· ·her one-on-one to do the personal appraisals;

12· ·is that correct?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And we have two of them, and

15· ·you think there was more; is that correct?· How

16· ·many more do you think you did?· Supposed to be

17· ·yearly, and she was there for about seven

18· ·years.· Can you give us an estimate?

19· · · · · · · · · A. I would say two or three

20· ·more.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so all of those

22· ·would have been one on one with her; is that

23· ·correct?

24· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. And would Brenda have been

26· ·there with you as well?

27· · · · · · · · · A. No.· It was a conversation or

28· ·a review, just her and I.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And, of course, the

30· ·union wouldn't have been there; is that

31· ·correct?

32· · · · · · · · · A. No, the union was not there.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. And in addition to all of

·2· ·those other meetings you met with her, you

·3· ·had -- there was some social occasions you met

·4· ·with her; is that correct?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Once.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And so with respect to your

·7· ·relationship, then, with her, if I could take

·8· ·you to your Affidavit at paragraph 251.· And

·9· ·you have that Affidavit in front of you if

10· ·you -- and you said in your Affidavit --

11· · · · · · · · · A. Which paragraph, sorry?

12· · · · · · · · · Q. 251.

13· · · · · · · · · A. 251?

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.· Page 49.· Are you

15· ·there?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, 251.· Mm-hm.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. So the Affidavit page 49,

18· ·paragraph 251.· So you said in your Affidavit

19· ·that:

20· · · · · · · · · "Elizabeth Wettlaufer built up a

21· · · · · · · · · relationship of trust with me.

22· · · · · · · · · She was friendly and would joke

23· · · · · · · · · around.· She was a minister's

24· · · · · · · · · daughter, had gone to divinity

25· · · · · · · · · school, and I thought of her as

26· · · · · · · · · a good person."

27· ·Is that correct?

28· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. And would that remain right

30· ·throughout your seven-year relationship with

31· ·her?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Sorry?
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. That opinion that you had of

·2· ·her, would that remain throughout your

·3· ·seven-year relationship with her?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Not so much at the end.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. And so when did that change

·6· ·then, Helen?

·7· · · · · · · · · A. I was really disappointed

·8· ·with the urine sample incident.· I was also --

·9· ·yeah, there were a number of disappointments

10· ·with her, and my, you know, opinion of her

11· ·gradually was reduced.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So what time would

13· ·that be?· Would that have been in 2007?

14· · · · · · · · · A. No.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. So you -- at that time, you

16· ·thought she was a good person.· And that

17· ·carried on until at least, what, 2013?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Something like that, yes.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And you said here

20· ·that:

21· · · · · · · · · "She would quote little bible

22· · · · · · · · · verses, hum or sing a hymn or

23· · · · · · · · · chorus.· Laura Long invited me

24· · · · · · · · · to a baby shower her and

25· · · · · · · · · Elizabeth Wettlaufer were having

26· · · · · · · · · for one of the Registered

27· · · · · · · · · Practical Nurses.· I thought

28· · · · · · · · · that was so nice of them.

29· · · · · · · · · Brenda and I went together, and

30· · · · · · · · · Elizabeth was so pleased to show

31· · · · · · · · · us her 'church.'· I told her it

32· · · · · · · · · was nice and felt homey."
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·1· ·Were you literally in her church?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so is this a

·4· ·social occasion which you referred to?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And you said at

·7· ·paragraph 252:

·8· · · · · · · · · "When I spoke to her about an

·9· · · · · · · · · error she made, she would be

10· · · · · · · · · receptive."

11· ·So and I think you've gone through with

12· ·Ms. Hewitt all of the different errors, and

13· ·each time you thought that she was receptive

14· ·and said that she would do better; is that

15· ·correct?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Correct.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So at no time when you

20· ·were going through all of those incidents with

21· ·her did you think that she was being deceptive.

22· ·You thought she was being receptive; is that

23· ·correct?

24· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.· The only

25· ·time she got upset with me was when I, you

26· ·know, pushed a button or two.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. So did you notice a change?

28· ·Perhaps you could help us because this is no

29· ·ordinary nurse that we're dealing with.

30· · · · · · · · · So when you pushed a button, you

31· ·saw a change.· What was it that saw a change?

32· ·What kind of button are you talking about?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I said to her about

·2· ·bringing in food for the staff, and she, you

·3· ·know, replied something about that's sad or

·4· ·something, you know, and then -- I don't know.

·5· ·I can't think of them all.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. I'm not sure I understand,

·7· ·Helen.· Are you saying that you noticed a

·8· ·personality change in her sometimes?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. No, just, you know, she would

10· ·sometimes answer back more or...

11· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· So I'm going to

12· ·ask you to look at then paragraph 231 of your

13· ·Affidavit.· It says:

14· · · · · · · · · "Elizabeth Wettlaufer made a

15· · · · · · · · · quilt that hung over the

16· · · · · · · · · fireplace near my old office."

17· ·So I just want to stop you there.· She gave you

18· ·a present; is that right?

19· · · · · · · · · A. No.· She gave the home gift.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. So she gave the home a

21· ·present?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. So she would do things like

24· ·make a quilt for the home?

25· · · · · · · · · A. She made one quilt that she

26· ·donated to the home, and it hung over the

27· ·fireplace.

28· · · · · · · · · Q. And that she brought in food

29· ·for residents and for other staff; is that

30· ·right?

31· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. And then you said:
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·1· · · · · · · · · "She would sometimes say a bible

·2· · · · · · · · · verse while organizing her

·3· · · · · · · · · medication cart.· She would sing

·4· · · · · · · · · a hymn to a group of residents

·5· · · · · · · · · in the hallway.· I joined her in

·6· · · · · · · · · a chorus one day, and the

·7· · · · · · · · · residents really enjoyed it."

·8· ·Now, let me just stop you there.· Did you think

·9· ·at the time that that was a little odd, that a

10· ·nurse would be saying a bible versus while

11· ·organizing her medication cart?

12· · · · · · · · · A. No.· I didn't think anything

13· ·of it at the time.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And I'm going to take

15· ·you to the transcript of the evidence when

16· ·Commission Counsel, including Ms. Hewitt,

17· ·interviewed Ms. Wettlaufer.

18· · · · · · · · · And so you've got a copy of that

19· ·transcript we've given you in hard copy.· We've

20· ·marked it as Exhibit 5, and that's 71420.· And

21· ·I want to take you to page 36.

22· · · · · · · · · So Ms. Wettlaufer told

23· ·Commission Counsel -- and I'm going to read

24· ·from her transcript:

25· · · · · · · · · "In 2006 I started having

26· · · · · · · · · depression and obsessive

27· · · · · · · · · thoughts and I was trying to

28· · · · · · · · · manage it basically through my

29· · · · · · · · · religion and through my family

30· · · · · · · · · contacts.· And it ended up

31· · · · · · · · · getting so bad that I ended up

32· · · · · · · · · in a psychiatric hospital in
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·1· · · · · · · · · Woodstock, Ontario, in the

·2· · · · · · · · · psychiatric ward for two weeks.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q.· And what were the type of

·4· · · · · · · · · obsessive thoughts were you

·5· · · · · · · · · having?

·6· · · · · · · · · A.· They were religions themed.

·7· · · · · · · · · Like, I had to be right with God

·8· · · · · · · · · and if I wasn't and if I had a

·9· · · · · · · · · thought I didn't want

10· · · · · · · · · immediately I would have to have

11· · · · · · · · · a Bible verse that countered

12· · · · · · · · · that thought and I would have to

13· · · · · · · · · say or sing it out loud."

14· ·So, Helen, we see from this that she is -- when

15· ·she's having thoughts, what we now know are

16· ·thoughts to harm or murder people, she is

17· ·saying religious things out loud.· When you

18· ·were hearing her, did you have any inkling of

19· ·that?

20· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· This is going back

21· · · · · · · · · to 2006.· It's not related to

22· · · · · · · · · the period in which the

23· · · · · · · · · intentional harm of the

24· · · · · · · · · residents was being undertaken

25· · · · · · · · · by Ms. Wettlaufer.

26· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· Madam Commissioner,

27· · · · · · · · · her thoughts and her

28· · · · · · · · · conversations about God go on

29· · · · · · · · · throughout the seven-year period

30· · · · · · · · · where she is committing her

31· · · · · · · · · murders at Caressant Care.

32· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Is that
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·1· ·grounded in the transcript?

·2· ·MS. HUGHES:· In the transcripts,

·3· ·yes.· She goes on and says that

·4· ·she feels like she has at one

·5· ·point two heads, and she talks

·6· ·about concerns about religion.

·7· ·And I would like to know from

·8· ·this witness if she had any

·9· ·inkling at that time that we're

10· ·dealing with someone like this.

11· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· I need to be

12· ·grounded in the facts.· So

13· ·Ms. Hewitt was at the interview,

14· ·and she's indicated to me -- are

15· ·you saying you positioned --

16· ·MS. HEWITT:· No, but Ms. Hughes

17· ·said we know throughout her

18· ·career that she was murdering

19· ·and harming victims, and these

20· ·religious themes were going

21· ·through her head.

22· ·I -- number one, Ms. Crombez

23· ·wouldn't know what was in her

24· ·head.· She can only testify as

25· ·to what she heard or saw

26· ·Ms. Wettlaufer do.

27· ·And number two, I'm not sure

28· ·myself whether or not she

29· ·identified in the home while she

30· ·was doing it.

31· ·The main point is that

32· ·Ms. Crombez would not know what
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·1· ·was going on in the thoughts

·2· ·of --

·3· ·MS. HUGHES:· Oh, I'm not

·4· ·suggesting, Madam Commissioner,

·5· ·that she would know what's going

·6· ·on in the thoughts of Elizabeth

·7· ·Wettlaufer's head.· I'm

·8· ·suggesting that she could help

·9· ·us with respect to what she

10· ·observed.

11· ·She observed her for seven

12· ·years, and one of the things

13· ·that she observed was her sing

14· ·bible verses while giving out

15· ·her medications.

16· ·And I wanted to ask her, is this

17· ·one of those areas where she

18· ·thought that was odd.· Was this

19· ·a trigger?· Was this a red flag?

20· ·Was this anything she observed

21· ·to assist us because we're

22· ·dealing with someone who's very

23· ·unusual in long-term care.

24· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· She answered

25· ·that question.

26· ·MR. GOLDEN:· That's right.· I'm

27· ·just rising to say that's the

28· ·exact question that was put to

29· ·her, and she said, no, it did

30· ·not seem as odd to her at the

31· ·time and obviously did not have

32· ·the context of what was going on

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 1061
·1· · · · · · · · · in 2006.

·2· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· Absolutely she did

·3· · · · · · · · · not have that context.· I'm not

·4· · · · · · · · · saying that.

·5· · · · · · · · · BY MS. HUGHES:

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. But at the time, you didn't

·7· ·notice anything unusual, then, about that other

·8· ·than she was saying bible verses; is that

·9· ·right?

10· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And with respect

12· ·then -- you actually took that as a good thing.

13· ·You sang along with her; is that right?

14· · · · · · · · · A. She was entertaining the

15· ·residents.· I happened to know that chorus.  I

16· ·had heard it enough from bible study that was

17· ·in the east lounge, and I joined in.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So carrying on on that

19· ·same page down to line 27, she says:

20· · · · · · · · · "And then I was also diagnosed

21· · · · · · · · · with borderline personality

22· · · · · · · · · disorder at the time as well.

23· · · · · · · · · So I went on medication and I

24· · · · · · · · · got better."

25· ·Now, I want to ask you about that.· She gave

26· ·you a diagnosis in one of the meetings that you

27· ·had with her where she indicated to you, as I

28· ·understand that you noted down, that she had --

29· ·she was bipolar.· Is it possible that she told

30· ·you that she had borderline personality

31· ·disorder?

32· · · · · · · · · A. No.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So we see from the

·2· ·transcript that she had a history of -- a

·3· ·psychiatric history.· I take it you did not

·4· ·know that at the time; is that right?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· But what you did

·7· ·know -- and if I could take you back to your

·8· ·Affidavit to paragraph 154 at page 36,

·9· ·I believe.· No, sorry, paragraph 154 at page

10· ·33.· We can go to the documents if you need,

11· ·but you summarize those in your Affidavit.· You

12· ·said:

13· · · · · · · · · "I note in our meeting with

14· · · · · · · · · Elizabeth Wettlaufer she

15· · · · · · · · · indicated that she was 'OCD' and

16· · · · · · · · · bipolar and that she was

17· · · · · · · · · changing her medications.· We

18· · · · · · · · · told her that she needed to

19· · · · · · · · · follow with those medical issues

20· · · · · · · · · and that if her continued work

21· · · · · · · · · performance related to health

22· · · · · · · · · issues continued, consideration

23· · · · · · · · · may be given to a report to the

24· · · · · · · · · College of Nurses for a fitness

25· · · · · · · · · to practice review."

26· ·Now, we know that you didn't report her to the

27· ·College of Nurses.· Other people have asked you

28· ·about that.· But did you follow up with her and

29· ·say, "Elizabeth, I'd like your consent to speak

30· ·to your doctor"?

31· · · · · · · · · A. No.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. And you knew that her
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·1· ·medications -- she said she was changing her

·2· ·medications and that she had -- she gave you a

·3· ·mental health diagnosis.

·4· · · · · · · · · As a nurse, were you concerned

·5· ·that if she was changing her medications, there

·6· ·may be a period of time, either by the change

·7· ·in medications or the need for change in

·8· ·medications, that there may be risks to the

·9· ·residents or to herself?

10· · · · · · · · · A. No.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. But you would agree with me

12· ·that the time in changing medications is a time

13· ·that someone has to be carefully assessed; is

14· ·that right?

15· · · · · · · · · A. That was up to her and her

16· ·doctor.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so you don't know

18· ·that one way or the other as a nurse?

19· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· What medications,

20· · · · · · · · · I guess, is the question.

21· · · · · · · · · BY MS. HUGHES:

22· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· Well, let me be

23· ·more specific then.· As she says -- let's go to

24· ·paragraph 155.

25· · · · · · · · · "I don't think it was on this

26· · · · · · · · · occasion, but I do recall that

27· · · · · · · · · one time Elizabeth Wettlaufer

28· · · · · · · · · mis-stepped.· It was at the

29· · · · · · · · · nurses' station.· I was coming

30· · · · · · · · · down the hall.· Elizabeth

31· · · · · · · · · Wettlaufer stumbled.· I said,

32· · · · · · · · · 'Are you okay?'· I thought that
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·1· · · · · · · · · maybe she tripped or maybe she

·2· · · · · · · · · was having some kind of an

·3· · · · · · · · · episode and she said that her

·4· · · · · · · · · doctor had just changed her

·5· · · · · · · · · medications and that they were

·6· · · · · · · · · not sitting right with her."

·7· ·So as a nurse, wouldn't you -- if someone says

·8· ·that they're changing their medication, you see

·9· ·her stumble, and the person says they're not

10· ·sitting right with her, that there may be a

11· ·problem with her medications?· Would you agree

12· ·with me?

13· · · · · · · · · A. I asked her if she was okay

14· ·to work the shift, and she answered, "Yes, I'll

15· ·be fine."· She gave herself a little shake and

16· ·off she went, and she seemed fine.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. So you just accepted her word

18· ·on that; is that fair?

19· · · · · · · · · A. I did.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And you know that you could

21· ·have asked her for more medical evidence on

22· ·whether or not she was actually safe to

23· ·continue working, couldn't you?

24· · · · · · · · · A. I suppose I could have, but I

25· ·didn't really see that she was incapacitated.

26· ·I've seen -- and I think I mentioned it before

27· ·that I've seen nurses fall off their chair at

28· ·the nurses' station.· I mean, people trip over

29· ·their feet.· They misjudge things.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Oh, for sure.· For sure,

31· ·Helen.· I trip all the time, but this is a

32· ·person who told you she had two mental health
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·1· ·conditions, bipolar and OCD.· She told you she

·2· ·was changing her medications.· You saw that she

·3· ·was falling, and she attributed it to change in

·4· ·medication.· And you had other matters that

·5· ·were raised with you.· She was said to be

·6· ·sleeping in the chapel at work.

·7· · · · · · · · · Did any of those at that time

·8· ·trigger you to say, "I need more medical

·9· ·evidence.· I need more medical information

10· ·about this nurse to make sure that she's safe"?

11· · · · · · · · · A. No.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And did you seek any

13· ·advice from head office on that?

14· · · · · · · · · A. I don't believe I did.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you -- we heard this

16· ·morning from Mr. Golden that you had a

17· ·committee called the PAC committee that you

18· ·could raise questions with, ethical and other

19· ·questions.

20· · · · · · · · · Did you raise with them whether

21· ·or not you should get more medical information

22· ·about this nurse?

23· · · · · · · · · A. I don't believe I did.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. And did you go to her union

25· ·and say, "Look, I might be -- I'm concerned

26· ·about one of your members.· Perhaps you should

27· ·talk to her, and perhaps we should gather more

28· ·information"?· Did you do that?

29· · · · · · · · · A. No.· My concern wasn't that

30· ·great at the time.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. So at no time did the union

32· ·put up any barriers for you getting more
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·1· ·medical evidence, did they?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. No.

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. And at no time -- in fact,

·4· ·either did Elizabeth Wettlaufer.· She

·5· ·volunteered her diagnosis to you, didn't she?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. In her transcript -- and I

·8· ·won't make you turn to it, but at paragraph --

·9· ·page 38, she talks about being on Seroquel, a

10· ·medication for ten years, and that she was

11· ·being weaned off of it, and now that she is off

12· ·of it, she says she has more remorse for her

13· ·crime than she did when she was on Seroquel.

14· · · · · · · · · Did you ask her what her

15· ·medications were that she was on?

16· · · · · · · · · A. No.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. You just knew that she was on

18· ·more than one?· She referred to her

19· ·medications; is that right?

20· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, if I could take you to

22· ·the transcript at page 39, and this is about

23· ·halfway down the page at line 17.· She said:

24· · · · · · · · · "I saw a doctor.· Every month I

25· · · · · · · · · saw a doctor in Woodstock called

26· · · · · · · · · Dr. Fernando.· So from 2006

27· · · · · · · · · right through to 2017 when I

28· · · · · · · · · turned myself in I was seeing

29· · · · · · · · · Dr. Fernando once a month.

30· · · · · · · · · And we had some personal issues

31· · · · · · · · · so I didn't really trust him so

32· · · · · · · · · when I went in it would be
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·1· · · · · · · · · basically, How's it going?

·2· · · · · · · · · How's your work?· How do you

·3· · · · · · · · · feel you're doing on the drugs?

·4· · · · · · · · · And I would be like, fine, fine,

·5· · · · · · · · · fine, because I needed the

·6· · · · · · · · · Seroquel I felt."

·7· ·Now, at any time did you ever speak to

·8· ·Dr. Fernando?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. No.

10· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Commissioner, I'm

11· · · · · · · · · not sure where the basis of that

12· · · · · · · · · question would come from.· This

13· · · · · · · · · is a transcript between

14· · · · · · · · · Commission Counsel and

15· · · · · · · · · Ms. Wettlaufer, and so the

16· · · · · · · · · foundation for whether she even

17· · · · · · · · · knew who Dr. Fernando was or

18· · · · · · · · · whether that is Ms. Wettlaufer's

19· · · · · · · · · doctor has not been laid.

20· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· My question isn't

21· · · · · · · · · based on what a specific doctor,

22· · · · · · · · · but I'd like to ask this witness

23· · · · · · · · · looking back in hindsight now,

24· · · · · · · · · if she or the employer spoke to

25· · · · · · · · · the doctor, whether or not she

26· · · · · · · · · thought that may be helpful and

27· · · · · · · · · to change the outcome in this

28· · · · · · · · · matter, quite frankly.

29· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Well, she's

30· · · · · · · · · already indicated that she

31· · · · · · · · · didn't get in touch with any

32· · · · · · · · · doctor, and so are you putting
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·1· · · · · · · · · to her a hypothetical then?

·2· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· Yes.· I'm asking

·3· · · · · · · · · her do you think -- now knowing

·4· · · · · · · · · what you know, whether or not it

·5· · · · · · · · · would have been helpful if the

·6· · · · · · · · · workplace and the doctor had

·7· · · · · · · · · shared information at that time.

·8· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· I think it's

·9· · · · · · · · · entirely speculative as to

10· · · · · · · · · whether Elizabeth Wettlaufer

11· · · · · · · · · would have even allowed her

12· · · · · · · · · doctor to breach the

13· · · · · · · · · doctor-patient privilege and

14· · · · · · · · · share information with an

15· · · · · · · · · employer.· We're going way

16· · · · · · · · · beyond any facts that are known

17· · · · · · · · · to us.

18· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Apart from

19· · · · · · · · · that, I am having a difficulty.

20· · · · · · · · · Like, she's not put up as an

21· · · · · · · · · expert.

22· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· All right.· I will

23· · · · · · · · · move on.

24· · · · · · · · · BY MS. HUGHES:

25· · · · · · · · · Q. I believe the College of

26· ·Nurses will be asking you some questions with

27· ·respect to this matter, but would it be fair as

28· ·well that when you were told about this medical

29· ·information from Elizabeth Wettlaufer, told

30· ·about her diagnosis and changing medications,

31· ·did you ever call the -- I know you didn't

32· ·report her to the College of Nurses or say --
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·1· ·but did you ever call the College and say, "I

·2· ·need some information from their fitness to

·3· ·practice group.· Can you give me some advice?

·4· ·Should I be doing anything?"· Did you ever call

·5· ·them for advice?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. No, I did not.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Now, I want to ask you

·8· ·about the hiring of Elizabeth Wettlaufer.· You

·9· ·indicated that you hired her, and we've put

10· ·her -- you got her resumé in June 2007.· And

11· ·that's 57084.· Maybe we could just put that up.

12· · · · · · · · · But first of all, could you tell

13· ·us, how many vacancies did you have to fill for

14· ·RNs when you hired her in June of 2007?

15· · · · · · · · · A. I don't know.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Was it possible you had more

17· ·than one?

18· · · · · · · · · A. It is possible.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. And how long had you been

20· ·trying to fill that vacancy?

21· · · · · · · · · A. I have no idea.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Is it possible for quite some

23· ·time?

24· · · · · · · · · A. I really couldn't say without

25· ·looking at a schedule and trying to put myself

26· ·back in that.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so I want to look

28· ·at a resumé, because you looked at her resumé;

29· ·is that correct?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I did.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. And you've already

32· ·established that the -- whether or not she had
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·1· ·a reference letter from Geraldton Hospital was

·2· ·irrelevant because it's -- Geraldton Hospital

·3· ·is not on her resumé.

·4· · · · · · · · · But looking at her resumé, you

·5· ·could tell what date that she was licenced by

·6· ·the College of Nurses.· And she was registered

·7· ·in 1995; is that correct?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And so in terms of 1995, when

10· ·you look at her resumé, when I read it, the

11· ·only time on her resumé it indicates that she

12· ·worked as a nurse was March 1996 to October

13· ·1996 at the Victoria Rest Home; is that

14· ·correct?

15· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. So that would be a period of

17· ·approximately six months?

18· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. So that on her whole resumé

20· ·from 1995 to the time that you interviewed her

21· ·in 2007, it appears she only had six months'

22· ·experience as a nurse.· Would that be correct?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

24· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And did you even ask

25· ·her whether or not that was as a nurse as an RN

26· ·or as an RPN?

27· · · · · · · · · A. Could you repeat the

28· ·question, please?

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you ask her, "When you

30· ·worked at Victoria Rest Home, was that as an RN

31· ·or as an RPN?"

32· · · · · · · · · A. I can't recall that I asked
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·1· ·her that.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And did it raise any

·3· ·flags for you that an RN had been working as a

·4· ·support worker for the past 11 years?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. No.· People do what they like

·6· ·to do.· She had told me that she went to

·7· ·divinity school and then had a change in career

·8· ·or an idea for a change in career, and, you

·9· ·know, she seemed plausible and believable

10· ·and...

11· · · · · · · · · Q. But, Helen, when she had a

12· ·change of career, that's when she went into

13· ·nursing where she graduated in 1995, and then

14· ·from 1995 to 2007, she only worked, according

15· ·to her resumé, for a very short time as an RN.

16· ·That did not raise any flags for you?

17· · · · · · · · · A. No, it did not.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so if you look at

19· ·your resumé -- or, sorry, your Affidavit.  I

20· ·apologize.· At paragraph 76, you said:

21· · · · · · · · · "I asked Elizabeth Wettlaufer

22· · · · · · · · · for a reference, she had one

23· · · · · · · · · letter."

24· ·And it was from Christian Horizons.· And did

25· ·you -- you said that you called Christian

26· ·Horizons, is that correct, and got a positive

27· ·reference?

28· · · · · · · · · A. Correct, to verify that the

29· ·letter was in fact --

30· · · · · · · · · Q. I didn't want to cut you off.

31· · · · · · · · · A. -- is his -- that he was the

32· ·author.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Did you ask him any

·2· ·further questions?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. I think I asked him if he

·4· ·would recommend her, and he said, you know, she

·5· ·was worth a try.· It was a positive

·6· ·conversation.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. And he of course -- she

·8· ·wasn't working there as a nurse.· You knew

·9· ·that?

10· · · · · · · · · A. That's right, but she was

11· ·giving medications, and she indicated on her

12· ·resumé that she was doing quite a bit there

13· ·and...

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And so if I could take you to

15· ·Document 57085.· If that could be put up.· This

16· ·is a document that's called "Caressant Care

17· ·Nursing and Retirement Home Limited Work

18· ·Reference."

19· · · · · · · · · And so you'll see that it's --

20· ·Bethe Wettlaufer has filled that in; is that

21· ·correct?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so with respect

24· ·to -- if you could just -- if we could scroll

25· ·down to the rest of the form.· So if you could

26· ·just keep going on the rest of the form, all of

27· ·that is left blank, confirmation for

28· ·employment, position, and reason for leaving.

29· ·Do you see that?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And is that for you to

32· ·fill in, or was that for the applicant,
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·1· ·Bethe Wettlaufer, to fill in?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. That is for, you know, the

·3· ·reference to fill in.· I thought I -- I think I

·4· ·told her, "If you think of anyone else that can

·5· ·be a reference for you, you know, let me know."

·6· ·And she signed the form.

·7· · · · · · · · · I also believe I called Victoria

·8· ·Rest Home, but there was no call back from

·9· ·them.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so you haven't

11· ·written that down at all; is that correct?

12· · · · · · · · · A. That's right.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Did you hire her right then

14· ·and there on the spot?

15· · · · · · · · · A. No, I did not because I

16· ·called the -- I didn't call the gentleman in

17· ·front of her.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And I'm going to ask

19· ·you to look at her transcript when she was

20· ·interviewed by Mr. McDowel and Ms. Hewitt at

21· ·page 32 of the transcript.· If you could turn

22· ·to that.· And you'll see at the bottom of the

23· ·page, she says:

24· · · · · · · · · "I applied to Caressant Care.

25· · · · · · · · · When I got to Caressant Care, I

26· · · · · · · · · didn't -- it wasn't a job

27· · · · · · · · · interview.· Helen Crombez took

28· · · · · · · · · me around and showed me the

29· · · · · · · · · home, and talked about what the

30· · · · · · · · · nursing duties were, and how

31· · · · · · · · · many people I would be giving

32· · · · · · · · · medication to at a time and then
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·1· · · · · · · · · told me I was hired.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q.· That was the same day?

·3· · · · · · · · · A.· Yeah."

·4· ·And then it says:

·5· · · · · · · · · "Any discussion about your

·6· · · · · · · · · record at the College of Nurses?

·7· · · · · · · · · A.· No, none whatsoever.

·8· · · · · · · · · Q.· Nothing about references

·9· · · · · · · · · from Christian Horizons or

10· · · · · · · · · anything like that?

11· · · · · · · · · A. No, I don't remember.· I sent

12· ·a -- like, an application and they -- and a

13· ·record.

14· ·And then she says:

15· · · · · · · · · "When she actually interviewed

16· · · · · · · · · me it was run more like an

17· · · · · · · · · orientation than a job

18· · · · · · · · · interview.

19· · · · · · · · · Q.· So it's as though you had

20· · · · · · · · · the job and they were showing

21· · · · · · · · · you the ropes?

22· · · · · · · · · A.· Yeah.· So basically I guess

23· · · · · · · · · they decided they needed an RN

24· · · · · · · · · and they hired me, which was --

25· · · · · · · · · that's the only time that's ever

26· · · · · · · · · happened where they just -- it

27· · · · · · · · · was more like an orientation."

28· ·Now, do you recall that you then hired her on

29· ·the spot?

30· · · · · · · · · A. No, I do not, and I would've

31· ·shown her around.· I showed, you know, all the

32· ·registered staff around because -- especially
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·1· ·if they hadn't worked in a long-term care

·2· ·facility, I wanted them to see, you know,

·3· ·what -- what they were looking after.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Sure.· Fair enough.· But with

·5· ·respect to the references, you say that you

·6· ·called the two references.· Do you know what

·7· ·day that was that you called?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. No, I do not.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And what day did you then

10· ·tell her that she was hired?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Maybe the next day.· I can't

12· ·recall.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Because I could not find

14· ·anything in any of the records that we've been

15· ·given, which I understood were your entire

16· ·personnel file.· You don't recall?

17· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And she started

19· ·immediately; is that right?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I'd have to look at the

21· ·schedule.· I can't recall.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. And so in terms of -- you've

23· ·told us about recruitment and retainment and

24· ·told us a little bit about how hard it is to

25· ·hire in long-term care.· And I just want to ask

26· ·you a few questions about that.

27· · · · · · · · · And so with respect to hiring,

28· ·you know that the pay is less and the benefits

29· ·are less than the hospital; is that correct?

30· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

31· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And with respect to

32· ·the hospital, you've told us how the ratio of
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·1· ·patients or residents to nurse is much, much

·2· ·higher in long-term care than in hospitals; is

·3· ·that right?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· The only advantage that

·5· ·we had, I felt, is that it was an eight-hour

·6· ·shift versus a 12-hour shift.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. And with respect to it's

·8· ·still 24 hours a day, so there would be a day

·9· ·shift, evening work, and night shift; is that

10· ·correct?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· That's what I was

12· ·looking for at the time.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. And that would be seven days

14· ·a week.· So nurses have to work shifts and have

15· ·to work weekends; is that right?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Every other weekend was the

17· ·general guideline.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. And so with respect to how

19· ·short you were, you think that there may be

20· ·more than one vacancies, but how many RNs

21· ·approximately did you have on staff then?

22· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. Are we talking about less

24· ·than a dozen?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Probably.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. And how many were full-time

27· ·and how many were part-time?

28· · · · · · · · · A. I don't recall.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. So you had -- you had both

30· ·full-time and part-time because we know

31· ·Elizabeth Wettlaufer was initially a part-time

32· ·nurse; is that correct?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. And how long was she a

·3· ·part-time nurse before she became full-time?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. I'd have to look at the

·5· ·schedule.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And so throughout that time,

·7· ·with respect to nurses, that there was many

·8· ·times when -- I guess throughout that time, you

·9· ·were always looking for nurses and

10· ·short-staffed; would that be fair?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Pretty much, yes.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. And so with respect to

13· ·running -- what they call running short, you

14· ·know that means that you're actually staffing

15· ·at less than was scheduled; is that correct?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes?

18· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. And that would happen

20· ·frequently, Helen?

21· · · · · · · · · A. Well, sometimes the

22· ·complement would increase in the Registered

23· ·Nurse department, but there would be, you know,

24· ·vacancies in the RPN department.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, if I could ask the

26· ·Document 72582 be put up.· And, Helen, this is

27· ·a document of August 19th, 2013, sent to all

28· ·registered staff by the administrator called

29· ·"Registered Staff Contingency Plan for Working

30· ·Short-Staffed."

31· · · · · · · · · So it would appear that it was

32· ·so normal to work short-staffed that you
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·1· ·actually had an actual document that told you

·2· ·what to do; is that correct?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Well, we had this contingency

·4· ·plan for when staff were faced with being

·5· ·short.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And that's because that was a

·7· ·frequent occurrence; is that right?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. I can't recall.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And if I could take you to a

10· ·document that Mr. Golden took you to this

11· ·morning, which is the registered staff minutes,

12· ·which are 72134 which is March 25, 2014.

13· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Was that

14· · · · · · · · · entered as an exhibit?

15· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· Pardon me?

16· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Was that

17· · · · · · · · · entered as an exhibit?

18· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· It came in through

19· · · · · · · · · Mr. Golden and counsel for the

20· · · · · · · · · Coroner's office also referred

21· · · · · · · · · to it, so I don't know whether

22· · · · · · · · · or not it was marked as an

23· · · · · · · · · exhibit through those two

24· · · · · · · · · counsel.

25· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· What's the

26· · · · · · · · · name of the document?

27· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· "Registered Staff

28· · · · · · · · · Meeting Minutes, March 25,

29· · · · · · · · · 2014."

30· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· I did not introduce

31· · · · · · · · · that document.

32· · · · · · · · · MS. BAMBERS:· No, I did.
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·1· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Ms. Bambers.

·2· · · · · · · · · It's Exhibit 23.· Have you got

·3· · · · · · · · · that in front of you?

·4· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Exhibit 23?

·5· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Yeah.· It

·6· · · · · · · · · says "Registered Staff Meeting

·7· · · · · · · · · Minutes."

·8· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Have we seen it

·9· · · · · · · · · before?

10· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Yeah,

11· · · · · · · · · Ms. Bambers when she was

12· · · · · · · · · examining you for the Coroner.

13· · · · · · · · · So it would have been, I think,

14· · · · · · · · · just shortly after Mr. Granat's

15· · · · · · · · · information.

16· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· Were you able to

17· · · · · · · · · find it?· Because I have another

18· · · · · · · · · copy if you need it.

19· · · · · · · · · THE COURT CLERK:· Counsel, could

20· · · · · · · · · you repeat the date of the

21· · · · · · · · · document?

22· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· March 25, 2014.

23· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Yes, I have it.

24· · · · · · · · · BY MS. HUGHES:

25· · · · · · · · · Q. So the second to last bullet

26· ·at the bottom of the page says:

27· · · · · · · · · "Working short on nights, we are

28· · · · · · · · · at minimum staffing on night" --

29· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· We're not there.

30· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Sorry, just a

31· · · · · · · · · second.· Okay.· So it's on the

32· · · · · · · · · first page?
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·1· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· It's on the first

·2· · · · · · · · · page, the second to last bullet.

·3· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.

·4· · · · · · · · · BY MS. HUGHES:

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. "Working short on nights, we

·6· · · · · · · · · · are at minimum staffing on

·7· · · · · · · · · · night, and we'll try to cover

·8· · · · · · · · · · all shifts keeping overtime

·9· · · · · · · · · · to a minimum."

10· ·Do you see that?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I do.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. So in 2014, it's certainly --

13· ·in March of 2014, it appears that you were

14· ·having problems with staffing at night; is that

15· ·correct?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· And I also add:

17· · · · · · · · · "There may be different factors

18· · · · · · · · · to consider each shift this

19· · · · · · · · · happens; example, resident

20· · · · · · · · · acuity of illness, behaviours,

21· · · · · · · · · et cetera.· Staff should work

22· · · · · · · · · together to ensure resident

23· · · · · · · · · needs are met."

24· · · · · · · · · Q. And if I could take you to

25· ·one more document, which is Document 72583.· If

26· ·that could come up.

27· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· And you should have

28· · · · · · · · · that document in hard copy,

29· · · · · · · · · Madam Commissioner, in front of

30· · · · · · · · · you, as well as the witness

31· · · · · · · · · should have that document,

32· · · · · · · · · I believe.
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·1· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· That's in the

·2· · · · · · · · · package of documents that got

·3· · · · · · · · · handed up just before the break.

·4· · · · · · · · · It's the second of the

·5· · · · · · · · · interoffice memos.· Do you have

·6· · · · · · · · · that?

·7· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Overtime.

·8· · · · · · · · · BY MS. HUGHES:

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And that's dated April 19,

10· ·2013, to all registered staff, subject

11· ·overtime.

12· · · · · · · · · A. I don't have one that says

13· ·overtime.· Oh, here.· Sorry, right in front of

14· ·me.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. So it appears in 2013 -- it

16· ·says:

17· · · · · · · · · "A review of hours indicates we

18· · · · · · · · · are over in hours for registered

19· · · · · · · · · staff.· This cannot continue as

20· · · · · · · · · we will be unable to maintain

21· · · · · · · · · budget and will result in

22· · · · · · · · · reduction in hours."

23· ·So could you -- and then it goes on to say:

24· · · · · · · · · "Discuss this with

25· · · · · · · · · Helen Crombez."

26· ·Which is you.· So in 2013, were the nurses told

27· ·that they cannot do overtime or there might be

28· ·a reduction in nursing hours?

29· · · · · · · · · A. It was as we will be unable

30· ·to and will result in, so it was kind of a

31· ·forecast.· It hadn't happened yet, and things

32· ·could change.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And if you look at the

·2· ·third paragraph, it says:

·3· · · · · · · · · "Registered staff must

·4· · · · · · · · · prioritize what is important.

·5· · · · · · · · · Please ensure paperwork for

·6· · · · · · · · · resident care is completed as

·7· · · · · · · · · necessary."

·8· ·And is that paperwork some of that what's been

·9· ·referred to as the RAI charting that has to be

10· ·done?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I think every nurse

12· ·knew what was important.· And I -- you know, it

13· ·didn't say that overtime wasn't allowed.· I --

14· ·they were to ask me, Brenda, or the on-call

15· ·manager before and ask for overtime, and, you

16· ·know, we would approve it then.· So there was a

17· ·new process for overtime at this point.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. And, Helen, if I could take

19· ·you to the last paragraph of -- the last two

20· ·paragraphs, rather.· And so it says:

21· · · · · · · · · "Employees required for

22· · · · · · · · · reporting purpose shall remain

23· · · · · · · · · at work for a period of up to 15

24· · · · · · · · · minutes which shall be unpaid."

25· ·And then it says:

26· · · · · · · · · "Please report to oncoming

27· · · · · · · · · shifts promptly and don't stay

28· · · · · · · · · beyond your 15 minutes as it

29· · · · · · · · · cannot be paid unless manager

30· · · · · · · · · approval is obtained."

31· ·So I want to ask you about that reporting to

32· ·oncoming shifts.
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·1· ·MR. GOLDEN:· Commissioner, I

·2· ·have a real concern about this.

·3· ·We've heard from Brenda that she

·4· ·was the one responsible for

·5· ·administering the collective

·6· ·agreement.· This is Brenda's

·7· ·document, and I would have

·8· ·thought if ONA had questions

·9· ·about the interpretation of this

10· ·memo, that it would have been

11· ·put to Brenda instead of a

12· ·witness that she knows did not

13· ·have direct responsibility for

14· ·the collective agreement.

15· ·MS. HUGHES:· Madam Commissioner,

16· ·I'm not asking about the

17· ·collective agreement.· What I'm

18· ·asking for is these 15 minutes

19· ·about the report.· And that's

20· ·what I'd like to ask.· That is

21· ·the normal -- the transfer

22· ·between shifts.

23· ·MR. GOLDEN:· It says:

24· ·"As per collective agreement,

25· ·Article 15:03."

26· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Just help me

27· ·with this.· I see that it was

28· ·prepared by Brenda, and I know

29· ·that you put questions to her,

30· ·and I know you would have had

31· ·this document, and it refers to

32· ·the collective agreement.
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·1· · · · · · · · · I am wondering why you would put

·2· · · · · · · · · the questions to this witness as

·3· · · · · · · · · opposed to Brenda when she was

·4· · · · · · · · · here and the author of the

·5· · · · · · · · · document.

·6· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· The reason I'm

·7· · · · · · · · · putting it to this witness is

·8· · · · · · · · · because this witness is the

·9· · · · · · · · · Director of Nursing care.· She's

10· · · · · · · · · the one that is over --

11· · · · · · · · · supervising and overseeing the

12· · · · · · · · · nurses.

13· · · · · · · · · And as I understand it, the

14· · · · · · · · · nurses would only overlap for a

15· · · · · · · · · period of 15 minutes.· And

16· · · · · · · · · I think this document

17· · · · · · · · · illustrates that, and I'd like

18· · · · · · · · · to ask her about that.

19· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Just again I

20· · · · · · · · · would ask, why did you not put

21· · · · · · · · · that to Brenda, the author of

22· · · · · · · · · the --

23· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· Fair enough.· It

24· · · · · · · · · was really only because -- I

25· · · · · · · · · could have, and I apologize for

26· · · · · · · · · that then if...

27· · · · · · · · · BY MS. HUGHES:

28· · · · · · · · · Q. But what I'd like to ask her

29· ·about is about the nurses and their overlap,

30· ·because I understand that Karen Routledge who's

31· ·going to be a witness here and another RN, she

32· ·would have never worked on the same shift as
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·1· ·Elizabeth Wettlaufer.· Is that your

·2· ·understanding as well?· That's what she's going

·3· ·to give evidence.

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Karen Routledge never worked

·5· ·on the same shift as --

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.

·7· · · · · · · · · A. I would schedule Karen for

·8· ·evening shifts from time to time, but she would

·9· ·switch them.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. So with respect to nurses,

11· ·there could be nurses who actually -- the only

12· ·time they would see another nurse, another RN,

13· ·would be for the 15-minute overlap at a change

14· ·of shift.· Would that be true?

15· · · · · · · · · A. That could be true, yes.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So Elizabeth

17· ·Wettlaufer is working on the night shift then,

18· ·would be the only RN that would be working, and

19· ·the only other times RNs would observe her

20· ·would be coming on to shift for that 15 minutes

21· ·and then another nurse when she leaves the day

22· ·shift.· Would overlap for 15 minutes; is that

23· ·correct?

24· · · · · · · · · A. For Registered Nurse, there

25· ·was an RN in the building working on Level 1 on

26· ·evening shift, so if she was working evenings,

27· ·she would be observed or could be observed by

28· ·that RN as she, you know, comes over to ask

29· ·something or borrow something or --

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So evening shift, she

31· ·could be seen by someone, but it would be

32· ·unusual because one is working in Section A,
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·1· ·and one is working in Section B.· Is that true?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. Well, it might not be

·3· ·unusual.· The break room was, you know, under

·4· ·the basement in Section B, so you'd probably

·5· ·walk through and, you know, say "hi" and have a

·6· ·little chat and go on, you know.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Fair enough.· So you

·8· ·might see the person in the break room, but you

·9· ·wouldn't be observing the person giving

10· ·resident care.· Those are in two different

11· ·areas; is that correct?

12· · · · · · · · · A. But the -- you know, Bethe

13· ·was working with an RPN, at least one or two,

14· ·when she was working in Section B.· So those

15· ·are registered staff as well.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so then looking at

17· ·RNs, it would be very unusual for RNs to

18· ·observe each other.· They're almost like ships

19· ·passing in the night.· They might say "hi," and

20· ·they'd see each other at shift change, but you

21· ·wouldn't really be working side by side.· Would

22· ·that be fair?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Well, if you had a bad fall

24· ·or, you know, had an aggressive resident, you

25· ·might buzz over to the RN on evenings and say,

26· ·"Can you give me a hand for a few minutes?

27· ·I'm, you know, swamped over here," and vice

28· ·versa.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· All right.· So you

30· ·could call them when it comes to head injuries,

31· ·a fall, et cetera?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. But generally they wouldn't

·2· ·be seen observing each other.· Would that be

·3· ·fair?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· All right.· And so I'd

·6· ·like to show you a series of documents, and the

·7· ·first one I want to take you to is 72587 which

·8· ·is what's called a Professional Responsibility

·9· ·Workload Form.· Are you familiar with those?

10· ·Those should be in front of you in part of your

11· ·package.· So, Helen, are you familiar with that

12· ·form?

13· · · · · · · · · A. This form here?

14· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes, the Professional

15· ·Responsibility Workload Form.· I'm going to

16· ·show you three.· All three have you as the name

17· ·of the supervisor, and so I assume that you've

18· ·seen these professional responsibility forms;

19· ·is that correct?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I have.

21· · · · · · · · · Q. Thank you.· The first one I'm

22· ·taking you to is one that's filled in by an RN

23· ·named Lois Durbidge?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. And so she raises concerns

26· ·that:

27· · · · · · · · · "A professional responsibility

28· · · · · · · · · is that the coworker, the RPN,

29· · · · · · · · · did not show up for work, and I

30· · · · · · · · · have to take on her workload,

31· · · · · · · · · 164 residents.· Too late to call

32· · · · · · · · · in other staff.· Total 163
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·1· · · · · · · · · residents."

·2· ·Do you see that?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I do.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And if you look down

·5· ·to Patient Care Factors, she's put in this form

·6· ·because she's concerned because she says at the

·7· ·bottom:

·8· · · · · · · · · "Five residents were on head

·9· · · · · · · · · injury routine, which is HIR.

10· · · · · · · · · Frequent PRN requests, new

11· · · · · · · · · admissions."

12· ·And then the last one is:

13· · · · · · · · · "One returning from hospital."

14· ·So somebody would have -- a resident would have

15· ·returned from being in hospital; is that

16· ·correct?

17· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

18· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And if you look at the

19· ·second page, under Section 6, under

20· ·Recommendations, Ms. Burbidge has checked in:

21· · · · · · · · · "Adjust RN staffing."

22· ·Do you see that?· See that check?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Adjust support staffing?

24· · · · · · · · · Q. "Adjust RN staffing" on the

25· ·left is the check there.

26· · · · · · · · · A. Oh, yes.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you see that?

28· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so I'm going to be

30· ·giving you a number of these forms, and you've

31· ·received a large number of professional

32· ·responsibility forms over the years, haven't
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·1· ·you?

·2· · · · · · · · · A. A large number?

·3· · · · · · · · · Q. More than these three.· These

·4· ·are just examples.· Is that correct?· Sorry,

·5· ·you're nodding your head or --

·6· · · · · · · · · A. Would you repeat the

·7· ·question, please?

·8· · · · · · · · · Q. You've received these

·9· ·professional responsibility forms before; is

10· ·that correct?

11· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

12· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And so these are not

13· ·the total number.· These are three examples; is

14· ·that right?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And in those forms,

17· ·the nurses --

18· · · · · · · · · MR. GOLDEN:· Have we established

19· · · · · · · · · that there's any connection

20· · · · · · · · · between this particular form and

21· · · · · · · · · circumstances surrounding

22· · · · · · · · · Bethe Wettlaufer's conduct?

23· · · · · · · · · MS. HUGHES:· Madam Commissioner,

24· · · · · · · · · you may recall that counsel this

25· · · · · · · · · morning asked this witness

26· · · · · · · · · whether or not the nurses and

27· · · · · · · · · the Ontario Nurses' Association

28· · · · · · · · · had ever asked for more

29· · · · · · · · · staffing.· Do you recall that?

30· · · · · · · · · And I'm following up on those

31· · · · · · · · · questions.

32· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· I am going to
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·1· ·let the line of questioning

·2· ·continue and see if there is a

·3· ·connection.· I know that

·4· ·everybody is under tight

·5· ·timelines, but you are going a

·6· ·bit quickly, so if I can

·7· ·encourage you to make sure that

·8· ·there's a good foundation, that

·9· ·would be helpful.

10· ·MS. HUGHES:· Okay.

11· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Mr. Sandler

12· ·is now rising.· Go ahead.

13· ·MR. SANDLER:· This has nothing

14· ·to do with the

15· ·cross-examinations taking place.

16· ·I'm just concerned about one

17· ·logistics issue and that is that

18· ·I cannot be here tomorrow.

19· ·Today I was to be adjudicating

20· ·two matters which were adjourned

21· ·so I could be here to

22· ·cross-examine.

23· ·My cross-examination is not

24· ·lengthy, and I just -- I'm just

25· ·a little bit concerned about the

26· ·logistics arising out of that.

27· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

28· ·Well, let me just do this:· How

29· ·long do you think -- much longer

30· ·you'll be in cross-examination?

31· ·MS. HUGHES:· I will be at least

32· ·another half-hour.
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·1· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· And you don't

·2· ·think you'll be very long?

·3· ·MR. SANDLER:· I'd be happy, if

·4· ·my friend would have no

·5· ·objection, to play through and

·6· ·do my cross-examination so that

·7· ·I'm done, and then my friend can

·8· ·continue at your discretion

·9· ·either late into the night or

10· ·tomorrow, but I'm just very

11· ·concerned about it.

12· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· And

13· ·Ms. Hughes has just indicate --

14· ·MS. HUGHES:· I'm fine, yes.  I

15· ·did not know that there was any

16· ·timing matter.· I would have

17· ·bumped down the batting order.

18· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you.

19· ·All right.· So we will adjourn

20· ·your cross-examination for now,

21· ·and, Mr. Sandler, if you would

22· ·like to --· thank you,

23· ·Ms. Hughes, for your --

24· ·MR. SANDLER:· I'm very grateful

25· ·to Ms. Hughes.

26· ·MS. HUGHES:· Do you expect I'll

27· ·be standing up again, Madam

28· ·Commissioner, or --

29· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· I don't think

30· ·so.

31· ·MS. HUGHES:· All right.· Then

32· ·I'll --
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·1· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Yeah, I think

·2· · · · · · · · · that that's going to probably

·3· · · · · · · · · run us out of time, even with

·4· · · · · · · · · the extra --

·5· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· Thank you.· I'm

·6· · · · · · · · · going to ask the registrar to

·7· · · · · · · · · pass up one of the bound copies

·8· · · · · · · · · of our materials to the

·9· · · · · · · · · Commissioner and to Helen.

10· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION BY

11· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:

12· · · · · · · · · Q. Helen, good afternoon.

13· · · · · · · · · A. Good afternoon.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. The good news is that the

15· ·list of people to cross-examine you is getting

16· ·shorter and shorter, though you must wonder

17· ·what questions could possibly be left to ask.

18· · · · · · · · · So I'm here for the College of

19· ·Nurses, as you know, and I'm going to reiterate

20· ·what I said to Brenda and I believe you heard,

21· ·which is that I'm going to focus on best

22· ·practices and looking forward, so please don't

23· ·take anything I ask as any reflection on you

24· ·personally.· You're obviously a very

25· ·conscientious, dedicated nurse, and we're all

26· ·grateful to have you here to provide your

27· ·assistance.· Okay?

28· · · · · · · · · A. Thank you.

29· · · · · · · · · Q. Where I did want to start is

30· ·we heard from Brenda about the mandatory

31· ·report, the termination report that she

32· ·provided to the College, and you'll see that at
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·1· ·Tab 1 of the volume which I provided to you.

·2· ·And it's already been marked as Exhibit LL --

·3· ·Exhibit 10LL to Brenda's Affidavit.

·4· · · · · · · · · And we've already heard both

·5· ·from you and Brenda that Brenda prepared this

·6· ·report, and you weren't consulted about its

·7· ·contents.· Am I right as to that?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. And were you advised after

10· ·the report had been filed what its contents

11· ·were, or did you learn that for the first time

12· ·in the course of this inquiry or in the

13· ·preparation leading to it?

14· · · · · · · · · A. I knew that Brenda had done

15· ·the report.· She told me, you know, that she

16· ·got it done back when she did it.· But I didn't

17· ·know what it contained or how far she went back

18· ·until Bethe's murders came to light, and she

19· ·said I only reported back -- I believe she said

20· ·to 2012.· And that was the first time I learned

21· ·of that.

22· · · · · · · · · Q. And was she expressing some

23· ·concern about the lack of completeness with the

24· ·benefit of knowing what she then knew about

25· ·Ms. Wettlaufer?· Was that the issue?

26· · · · · · · · · A. Well, she said that -- she

27· ·thought with the information that she had

28· ·given, there was enough there for someone, you

29· ·know, to investigate.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So we're going to come

31· ·back to that in another context.· But you were

32· ·also aware, I'm going to suggest, that she had
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·1· ·identified you or had likely identified you as

·2· ·the contact person for the College to speak

·3· ·with in connection with the matter?

·4· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And as a matter of

·6· ·best practice, would you agree with me that

·7· ·looking forward, that it would represent a best

·8· ·practice that the Director of Nursing be

·9· ·involved in some capacity in the preparation of

10· ·such a report or its contents before being sent

11· ·to the College of Nurses?

12· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I would agree with that.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. And that would be

14· ·particularly so here in circumstances where you

15· ·were the Director of Nursing throughout

16· ·Ms. Wettlaufer's employment at Caressant unlike

17· ·Brenda who had become the administrator some

18· ·time after Ms. Wettlaufer joined Caressant;

19· ·right?

20· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, but I think it was more

21· ·the user friendliness of the document that was

22· ·a concern.· You know, it was very time

23· ·consuming.· I remember her, you know, saying

24· ·something about that.· It wasn't easy to fill

25· ·out or --

26· · · · · · · · · Q. Wasn't easy to fill out for

27· ·somebody who had a number of incidents that had

28· ·been dealt with while at Caressant?

29· · · · · · · · · A. Well, there was -- you know,

30· ·it was only one -- you had to, you know, get a

31· ·new page every time, you know, there was an

32· ·incident.· It wasn't, like, a running document,
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·1· ·you know, that kind of thing.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, actually, I suspect the

·3· ·evidence will show that the College of Nurses'

·4· ·form could be downloaded and additional pages

·5· ·added to it, and it could only be submitted --

·6· ·not electronically but by mail or fax.· But you

·7· ·didn't know any of that at the time, I take it?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. No, I didn't.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· So moving forward

10· ·in terms of best practice, so we've seen the

11· ·mandatory report, and there's several features

12· ·of the report that have figured prominently in

13· ·some of the questions so far.

14· · · · · · · · · And I'm going to simply identify

15· ·them for you with a view, again, to assisting

16· ·the Commissioner in saying what might be best

17· ·practices going forward.· Okay?

18· · · · · · · · · So I'm going to first take you

19· ·to Tab 16, and Tab 16 is 72580.

20· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· And this is a

21· · · · · · · · · document that has not been

22· · · · · · · · · introduced into evidence up to

23· · · · · · · · · this point, Commissioner.· This

24· · · · · · · · · is simply a summary that has

25· · · · · · · · · been provided for your

26· · · · · · · · · assistance and the witness's

27· · · · · · · · · assistance of all of the

28· · · · · · · · · medication errors by date that

29· · · · · · · · · have been identified in the

30· · · · · · · · · evidence up until this point in

31· · · · · · · · · time, the date that these are

32· · · · · · · · · reflected on the Overview
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·1· ·Report, the action that was

·2· ·taken in accordance with the

·3· ·evidence, and whether or not

·4· ·they are contained in the

·5· ·termination report that was

·6· ·filed with the College of

·7· ·Nurses.

·8· ·And I do want to indicate in

·9· ·relation to the last column,

10· ·it's not being suggested that

11· ·there was a discreet

12· ·consideration of whether each

13· ·item should or shouldn't be

14· ·reported to the College.· This

15· ·last column has simply reflected

16· ·what items are in that

17· ·termination report and which are

18· ·not.· All right?

19· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· So two people

20· ·on their feet.

21· ·MS. HEWITT:· Well, Commissioner,

22· ·this document was provided last

23· ·night, and my suggestion would

24· ·be if Mr. Sandler at the end of

25· ·the day wants to make

26· ·submissions and pull evidence

27· ·out and do something for the

28· ·benefit of the Commissioner,

29· ·that's one thing, but to put

30· ·together a document and in it

31· ·say, "Action taken, probably

32· ·none based on Ms. Crombez's
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·1· ·testimony," that's their own

·2· ·interpretation.· It doesn't take

·3· ·her to her testimony.· The

·4· ·report --

·5· ·MR. SANDLER:· That's what she

·6· ·said, probably none.

·7· ·MS. HEWITT:· The report to the

·8· ·College of Nurses is in there.

·9· ·We know what was reported and

10· ·what wasn't.

11· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Are you

12· ·basically objecting on the basis

13· ·it's tantamount to argument as

14· ·opposed to the basis for --

15· ·MS. HEWITT:· Yes.

16· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

17· ·Before I hear you, did you have

18· ·a problem?

19· ·MR. GOLDEN:· It's not evidence

20· ·that was created

21· ·contemporaneously.· It was

22· ·simply provided to counsel last

23· ·night.· It's interpretive.  I

24· ·have a problem with that column

25· ·reported to the College of

26· ·Nurses of Ontario because we

27· ·know that there was one report,

28· ·and it's in the evidence, and it

29· ·has the details in it that was

30· ·reported.

31· ·I think that the witness should

32· ·be questioned about the actual
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·1· ·documents, and counsel's charts

·2· ·and summaries can be used for

·3· ·other purposes later on but not

·4· ·for examining a witness when

·5· ·this is, in my submission, a

·6· ·subjective document created by

·7· ·counsel.

·8· ·MR. SANDLER:· With all due

·9· ·respect, first of all, the

10· ·document was not provided last

11· ·evening.· The document was

12· ·presented and circulated

13· ·yesterday in the late morning.

14· ·Second of all and more

15· ·importantly, this is precisely

16· ·what is contemplated by the

17· ·Court of Appeal decision in

18· ·Regina and Sheill, and we are

19· ·not under the strictures of

20· ·criminal law here.· This is an

21· ·aid to assistant you,

22· ·Commissioner, in not having me

23· ·to go to every one of the

24· ·medication errors yet again to

25· ·confirm that which is already in

26· ·evidence, and if there are any

27· ·the slightest inaccuracy in this

28· ·chart -- that's why I provided

29· ·the Overview Report date, the

30· ·description which comes right

31· ·out of the Overview Report, the

32· ·actions taken.
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·1· ·The "probably none" was to

·2· ·reflect what Ms. Crombez said

·3· ·the other day which was probably

·4· ·no action was taken.· That came

·5· ·right out of her testimony.

·6· ·Everything else is taken right

·7· ·out of, as I say, either the

·8· ·Overview Report or the

·9· ·documentation that has been

10· ·prepared by Commission Counsel.

11· ·And my friend expressed to me

12· ·concern about the reporting

13· ·column.· You now know all that

14· ·is reflected in the reporting

15· ·column is what is contained in

16· ·the termination notice and what

17· ·is not.

18· ·So I don't understand how it's

19· ·the slightest bit misleading,

20· ·and it's shortening the process

21· ·for you in a way that's

22· ·contemplated in accounting

23· ·summaries in Sheill.

24· ·And, I mean, if we really want

25· ·the witness to have to verify

26· ·each one of them, you know,

27· ·that's a more extended process.

28· ·My submission is that in the

29· ·context of an inquiry, you're

30· ·entitled to admit this, and

31· ·you're entitled to consider it

32· ·and give it the weight that it
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·1· · · · · · · · · deserves.· And if you find that

·2· · · · · · · · · there's some inaccuracy in it --

·3· · · · · · · · · as I said, I went through each

·4· · · · · · · · · of these.· I went through these,

·5· · · · · · · · · and Ms. Hewitt has gone through

·6· · · · · · · · · these with Brenda previously.

·7· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· In my view,

·8· · · · · · · · · the document necessarily is

·9· · · · · · · · · subjective in nature.· It is

10· · · · · · · · · prepared by you, and therefore,

11· · · · · · · · · it reflects your lens of the

12· · · · · · · · · evidence.

13· · · · · · · · · I have no problem with you

14· · · · · · · · · presenting that to me at a

15· · · · · · · · · different time.· I do have a

16· · · · · · · · · difficulty with you presenting

17· · · · · · · · · it to the witness.· I'm sorry it

18· · · · · · · · · slows things down, but I think

19· · · · · · · · · in fairness to the witness --

20· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· That's fine.· I'll

21· · · · · · · · · deal with it another way.

22· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SANDLER:

23· · · · · · · · · Q. So what I'm going to suggest

24· ·to you and ask you whether you're in a position

25· ·to dispute that there were 14 medication errors

26· ·committed by Ms. Wettlaufer during the period

27· ·of her employment at Caressant, and from your

28· ·observation of the termination report to the

29· ·College of Nurses, a number of those did not

30· ·make their way into that report.· Am I right to

31· ·that extent?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. What I'm going to suggest to

·2· ·you is that as matter of best practice -- and,

·3· ·again, I'll ask you whether you're in a

·4· ·position to dispute that eight separate

·5· ·medication errors between November of 2007 and

·6· ·February of 2012 were not contained in the

·7· ·termination report that was provided to the

·8· ·College.· Do you dispute that?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. No.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And what I'm going to

11· ·suggest is that as a matter of best practice,

12· ·that when termination is based upon medication

13· ·error, you would recognize that it would be a

14· ·best practice at the very least that the

15· ·termination report reflect the medication

16· ·errors that were committed by that nurse during

17· ·the tenure of her employment at Caressant?

18· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· I apologize to

19· · · · · · · · · Mr. Sandler, but I'm just

20· · · · · · · · · wondering, is he attempting to

21· · · · · · · · · qualify this particular

22· · · · · · · · · individual as an expert to give

23· · · · · · · · · best practice responses.

24· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· Commissioner, you

25· · · · · · · · · really don't need experts in

26· · · · · · · · · best practices to have an

27· · · · · · · · · important discussion with a

28· · · · · · · · · Director of Nursing as to

29· · · · · · · · · whether she would see it as a

30· · · · · · · · · best practice.

31· · · · · · · · · She's the one ultimately, the

32· · · · · · · · · Directors of Nursing are
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·1· · · · · · · · · responsible, together with the

·2· · · · · · · · · administrators, in determining

·3· · · · · · · · · what the content of these

·4· · · · · · · · · reports are.· So I would have

·5· · · · · · · · · thought that would be of

·6· · · · · · · · · assistance to you.

·7· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· My

·8· · · · · · · · · understanding of your question

·9· · · · · · · · · was that it was couched within

10· · · · · · · · · her view.· She's not proposed as

11· · · · · · · · · an expert.· It's her view as to

12· · · · · · · · · whether a best practice would be

13· · · · · · · · · that the termination report

14· · · · · · · · · should reflect all of the

15· · · · · · · · · medication errors made during

16· · · · · · · · · the currency.· I don't have a

17· · · · · · · · · problem with that question.

18· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· Thank you.

19· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SANDLER:

20· · · · · · · · · Q. Do you want me to make the

21· ·suggestion again, or do you remember what I

22· ·asked you?

23· · · · · · · · · A. I think I remember, and I say

24· ·yes, that would be a good recommendation.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· Because one of

26· ·the things that I expect the Commissioner will

27· ·see when, in the privacy of her own chambers,

28· ·she gets an opportunity to review all of this

29· ·material is that several phenomenon here.

30· · · · · · · · · First of all, that without the

31· ·benefit of all of the medication errors

32· ·committed by Ms. Wettlaufer here, first of all,
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·1· ·it would appear on the termination report or

·2· ·could mislead the reader unintentionally, but

·3· ·it could mislead the reader into believing, for

·4· ·example, that the medication errors only

·5· ·spanned a one-year period as opposed to the

·6· ·full period where Ms. Wettlaufer was employed

·7· ·at Caressant.

·8· · · · · · · · · And you'd see that as a

·9· ·legitimate concern, I take it?

10· · · · · · · · · A. I'd have to look at the

11· ·report to know if there was any just outside of

12· ·that year.

13· · · · · · · · · Q. Well, I can -- I'm going to

14· ·suggest to you -- and, again, we can go to the

15· ·termination report, but you'll see that the

16· ·medication errors in the -- that are reflected

17· ·in the termination report commence February of

18· ·2013 and end March of 2014, so a period of just

19· ·about a year.· Okay?· So take that as a given.

20· · · · · · · · · So what I'm suggesting to you --

21· ·and, again, we're looking at best practices.

22· ·This isn't a criticism of Brenda, and it's

23· ·certainly not a criticism of you, but a best

24· ·practice would be to ensure that at least the

25· ·medication errors are fully identified in this

26· ·termination notice so that, A, the College of

27· ·Nursing isn't inadvertently misled into

28· ·believing that the medication errors only

29· ·spanned a one-year period as opposed to a

30· ·period from 2007 to 2014.· Agree with me so

31· ·far?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Mm-hm.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And second of all, we

·2· ·actually see if we look in the termination

·3· ·report that the errors, the medication errors

·4· ·that are identified in the termination reports

·5· ·are all different in some ways.

·6· · · · · · · · · They're all medication errors.

·7· ·They all factor in to the decision making that

·8· ·takes place at Caressant, but one of them is

·9· ·giving medication without documenting it.· One

10· ·is not giving medication, no documenting it.

11· ·One is giving medication too early.· One is

12· ·giving two eyedrops of a different nature at

13· ·the same time.· One is giving the wrong

14· ·medication, namely the insulin that led to the

15· ·last incident that led to her termination.

16· · · · · · · · · So you'll recall that much, I

17· ·take it, that the incidents that are reflected

18· ·in the termination report reflect a number of

19· ·different ways in which Ms. Wettlaufer

20· ·committed medication errors.· Are you with me

21· ·so far?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

23· · · · · · · · · Q. And you agree with me so far?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And what I'm going to

26· ·suggest to you is that one of the other

27· ·benefits of having as a best practice all of

28· ·the medications errors identified for the

29· ·College of Nursing is not only to -- College of

30· ·Nurses is not only to prevent them from being

31· ·inadvertently misled about the situation, but

32· ·we also see if we look at the earlier
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·1· ·medication errors that a number of those are

·2· ·repeated and the ones that are contained in the

·3· ·termination report.

·4· · · · · · · · · And that would be helpful

·5· ·information, I'm going to suggest, for anyone

·6· ·making an evaluation of Ms. Wettlaufer to know.

·7· ·Fair enough?

·8· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·9· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Because, for example,

10· ·if there were three instances of medication

11· ·administered but not recorded as opposed to a

12· ·single instance of that, that may be a factor

13· ·that figures into what, if any, regulatory

14· ·response should be taken.· Are you with me so

15· ·far?

16· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· Now, I was going

18· ·to show you --

19· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· And I'll just

20· · · · · · · · · indicate to the Commissioner

21· · · · · · · · · that I will accept your ruling,

22· · · · · · · · · of course, on my Tab 17, which

23· · · · · · · · · is 72581, but just for your

24· · · · · · · · · benefit, Commissioner, this is a

25· · · · · · · · · list of nonmedication issues

26· · · · · · · · · pertaining to Ms. Wettlaufer

27· · · · · · · · · while employed at Caressant Care

28· · · · · · · · · at Woodstock.

29· · · · · · · · · So what I've done there is

30· · · · · · · · · reflected in the same way 32

31· · · · · · · · · separate events that have been

32· · · · · · · · · described in the evidence
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·1· ·elicited by Ms. Hewitt -- I'm

·2· ·tired for Ms. Hewitt just

·3· ·reviewing all of this in the

·4· ·preparation of the chart -- and

·5· ·reflected which ones make their

·6· ·way into the termination report

·7· ·and which do not.· All right?

·8· ·MR. GOLDEN:· I mean, I have a

·9· ·problem with the fact that, you

10· ·know, it's up on the screen.

11· ·People are looking at it and

12· ·recording it, and we have

13· ·issues, like, you know, eating

14· ·at her desk was not reported to

15· ·the College as if somehow

16· ·there's an inference that it

17· ·should have been, and it wasn't,

18· ·and that influenced the College.

19· ·So, again, that's why I have a

20· ·problem with this document.

21· ·MR. SANDLER:· You haven't heard

22· ·my question yet, Mr. Golden.

23· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· If I can,

24· ·Mr. Golden, though, that

25· ·evidence about her eating at her

26· ·desk was present.· It has been

27· ·introduced already in the

28· ·proceedings.

29· ·MR. GOLDEN:· Yes, but in the

30· ·context now on the chart which,

31· ·you know, suggests that it

32· ·wasn't reported to a College,
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·1· ·you know --

·2· ·MR. SANDLER:· This isn't a pure

·3· ·advocacy exercise or partisan

·4· ·exercise with all due respect to

·5· ·Mr. Golden, which is this

·6· ·evidence was elicited, including

·7· ·the counselling took place.· It

·8· ·rose to the level that justified

·9· ·some discipline here.· And so to

10· ·suggest now that because it's on

11· ·a chart, somehow people will be

12· ·inflamed in some way, with all

13· ·due respect, is a little unfair.

14· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· In fairness,

15· ·though, we're in the process of

16· ·cross-examination, and when we

17· ·start to see documents like

18· ·this, it can be somewhat

19· ·misleading, in my view, to the

20· ·public even though things are

21· ·relaxed and it is an inquiry

22· ·situation, and that is because

23· ·the expectation is that it is a

24· ·document being put to the

25· ·witness, and that's not the

26· ·case.

27· ·I understand that you prefaced

28· ·your comment saying that this

29· ·wasn't basically an aid memoir

30· ·for me, a summation.· I'm just

31· ·wondering if that would not have

32· ·been a different time more
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·1· ·appropriate.

·2· ·So why don't we take the

·3· ·document off the screen for now.

·4· ·Is it Andrew?

·5· ·MR. SANDLER:· That's fine.

·6· ·That's fine.

·7· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· And now if

·8· ·you could just -- if there is

·9· ·something else you want to

10· ·discuss with me about that, now

11· ·we can have that discussion.

12· ·MR. SANDLER:· No, that's fine.

13· ·I thought what I was doing is

14· ·introducing the document for you

15· ·because I am going to ask you at

16· ·an appropriate time -- and it

17· ·doesn't have to be now -- to

18· ·admit the document because in my

19· ·submission, everyone here can

20· ·check it for accuracy to see

21· ·whether it does accurately

22· ·capture what the evidence has

23· ·been to date, and there falls

24· ·within the Sheill principle, but

25· ·I won't do it now based upon

26· ·your ruling, and we can just

27· ·move on.

28· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Well, the

29· ·good news is you've created the

30· ·document with tabs, so if there

31· ·is some dispute about some of

32· ·them and not about others, then,
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·1· · · · · · · · · of course, we could just remove

·2· · · · · · · · · those from that tab, and they

·3· · · · · · · · · could be introduced at perhaps a

·4· · · · · · · · · more appropriate time.

·5· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· Right.

·6· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SANDLER:

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Now, so this is what I'm

·8· ·going to suggest to you, because this is

·9· ·lawyers arguing.· It has absolutely nothing to

10· ·do with you, and I apologize that it's taking

11· ·your time away, but let me tell you where I'm

12· ·going with all of this.· Okay?

13· · · · · · · · · What I'm going to suggest to you

14· ·and ask you whether you dispute, that if you

15· ·actually look at the termination report, we had

16· ·four instances of nonmedication conduct

17· ·reflected in the termination report.· Okay?

18· · · · · · · · · And we know the first one was

19· ·back in 2012 because you've reflected yourself

20· ·that Brenda said to you that she only went back

21· ·to 2012.· So we've got four of those, and the

22· ·Commissioner has already seen that evidence in

23· ·the termination report.· All right?

24· · · · · · · · · We've also heard evidence here

25· ·that -- and I can discount matters that didn't

26· ·result in discipline and so on, but we have

27· ·over 30 instances or approximately 30 instances

28· ·over the period of Ms. Wettlaufer's employment

29· ·where she received some form of counselling or

30· ·verbal notice or written notice or suspension

31· ·for conduct unrelated to medication error.· All

32· ·right?
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·1· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·2· · · · · · · · · Q. Are you with me so far?

·3· · · · · · · · · And what I'm going to suggest to

·4· ·you as a best practice is two things:· First of

·5· ·all, that at the very least, it would be a best

·6· ·practice to provide the College of Nurses with

·7· ·the discipline record whether relating to

·8· ·medication or nonmedication errors committed by

·9· ·the nurse during the course of her employment

10· ·at Caressant.

11· · · · · · · · · I'm going to leave aside matters

12· ·that were regarded as too trivial to result in

13· ·any action taken.· I'll leave aside matters

14· ·where you didn't believe the resident,

15· ·for example, on that assaultive behaviour which

16· ·wasn't put on the chart.

17· · · · · · · · · But I'm going to suggest to you

18· ·as a matter of best practice at the very least,

19· ·the College of Nurses should be provided in the

20· ·termination letter the items that resulted in

21· ·discipline being taken against the nurse for

22· ·the period of her employment.· Do you agree

23· ·with me?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

25· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And the problem, of

26· ·course, is that if -- and, again, you heard me

27· ·say it to Brenda, and I'll say it to you.· This

28· ·isn't the slightest reflection on Brenda.  I

29· ·get that.

30· · · · · · · · · But the difficulty you'd see is

31· ·that if the College of Nurses is provided 4

32· ·examples out of -- 4 out of 30, then it can
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·1· ·leave a misleading impression as to the extent

·2· ·to which discipline was an operative factor in

·3· ·what Ms. Wettlaufer was doing at Caressant;

·4· ·right?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. And secondly, if it only goes

·7· ·back to 2012 when we know that discipline --

·8· ·matters that are a subject of discipline took

·9· ·place well before that, it can leave a

10· ·misleading impression as to the time frame

11· ·within which these disciplinable offences were

12· ·taking place; right?

13· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

14· · · · · · · · · Q. And the last concern is --

15· ·and you probably heard me ask Brenda about

16· ·it -- is that she attempted to deal with this

17· ·in part by saying that at the end of the

18· ·termination report, that there were other

19· ·reports pertaining to absenteeism or

20· ·attendances or professional interactions,

21· ·whatever the precise words she used were that

22· ·did not result in discipline.

23· · · · · · · · · And you'd see how that would

24· ·leave a misleading impression with the College

25· ·of Nurses because that would leave the

26· ·impression that any other reports that were

27· ·contained within Caressant did not rise to the

28· ·level of disciplinable offences, and that kind

29· ·of misleading, however inadvertent, should be

30· ·avoided and a report to the College; right?

31· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Right.· And as I understand
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·1· ·it, because there's somewhat of a disconnect

·2· ·here, we have a situation where you don't know

·3· ·when you're speaking to the investigator that

·4· ·the termination report doesn't contain these

·5· ·highly relevant items that may or may not

·6· ·inform the regulatory response, if any, to

·7· ·Ms. Wettlaufer's termination.· You're just

·8· ·completely unaware of that; right?

·9· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

10· · · · · · · · · Q. And I'm going to suggest to

11· ·you that if you'd been aware of that, if you'd

12· ·had the benefit of the termination report, then

13· ·you might have brought those items to the

14· ·investigator's attention.· Fair enough?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Now, I'm going to

17· ·switch topics with you, and I want to also now

18· ·show you a document which is reproduced in the

19· ·materials that I provided you -- excuse me for

20· ·a moment -- at Tab 15.· And this is 60161.

21· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· So this is in

22· · · · · · · · · the database as document --

23· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· This is in the

24· · · · · · · · · database as 60161, but it has

25· · · · · · · · · not yet been marked as an

26· · · · · · · · · exhibit.

27· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SANDLER:

28· · · · · · · · · Q. So take a moment and have a

29· ·look at the document.· I'm going to suggest to

30· ·you that it is a process guide that is provided

31· ·to the profession by the College of Nurses of

32· ·Ontario relating to mandatory reporting for
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·1· ·employers, facility operators, and nurses.· Is

·2· ·that what it appears to be?

·3· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·4· · · · · · · · · Q. And what I want to ask you

·5· ·about this is -- first of all, I'm going to

·6· ·suggest to you that the College of Nurses of

·7· ·Ontario has available and accessible to the

·8· ·profession a wealth of materials on standards,

·9· ·on guidelines, on learning modules, on

10· ·professionalism, on the legislation that

11· ·applies.· And you're aware that the College

12· ·makes all of that and more available to those

13· ·in the profession?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. And as well, the College of

16· ·Nurses has a publication called The Standard

17· ·that's provided to each member of the

18· ·profession as well; is that right?

19· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

20· · · · · · · · · Q. And as a director of nursing

21· ·and as an RN yourself, did you have access to

22· ·these kinds of materials, including

23· ·The Standard which is distributed on a regular

24· ·basis?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. And would you review it to

27· ·provide updates for yourself as to the latest

28· ·from your regulator?

29· · · · · · · · · A. Yes, I would.

30· · · · · · · · · Q. And what I'm going to suggest

31· ·is that one of the documents that would have

32· ·come to your attention, because you may not
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·1· ·have given yourself enough credit when you said

·2· ·how little you knew about when a termination

·3· ·notice has to be sent in, is that one of the

·4· ·things that may well have come to your

·5· ·attention in the course of your work as a

·6· ·Director of Nursing is this mandatory reporting

·7· ·process guide which sets out some of the

·8· ·criteria for when you report and how you

·9· ·report.

10· · · · · · · · · Does this refresh your memory at

11· ·all about receiving this document or accessing

12· ·this document during the course of your

13· ·employment?

14· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I have reviewed the

15· ·document, you know, last -- last evening, and I

16· ·can't remember, you know, reviewing it before,

17· ·but there -- I mean, I reviewed lots of things,

18· ·so I don't know.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. I mean, in fairness to you,

20· ·you've been asked over the last few days --

21· ·must seem like a month, but you've been asked

22· ·over the last few days to what training you

23· ·received and education you received and

24· ·background.

25· · · · · · · · · And, I mean, it's pretty

26· ·difficult with precision to figure out now what

27· ·education you received either through the

28· ·College of Nursing informally or through

29· ·The Standard or other documentation brought to

30· ·your attention.· That's placing quite a burden

31· ·on you, isn't it?

32· · · · · · · · · A. Well, it is hard to remember.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And if we can go to

·2· ·page 4 of the document.

·3· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· And perhaps this

·4· · · · · · · · · could be marked as the next

·5· · · · · · · · · exhibit, please, Madam

·6· · · · · · · · · Commissioner.

·7· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· So are we

·8· · · · · · · · · going to -- Lara, may I just get

·9· · · · · · · · · your advice from the website,

10· · · · · · · · · webcasting, and everything else

11· · · · · · · · · point of view, we did not enter

12· · · · · · · · · as exhibits the documents that

13· · · · · · · · · Ms. Hughes put to the witness.

14· · · · · · · · · Is it going to mess things up if

15· · · · · · · · · we now enter this as the next

16· · · · · · · · · exhibit?

17· · · · · · · · · MS. KINKARTZ:· I think we can

18· · · · · · · · · probably mark one of the

19· · · · · · · · · documents tomorrow when the

20· · · · · · · · · cross-examinations are done,

21· · · · · · · · · subject to what Ms. Hughes

22· · · · · · · · · thinks.

23· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

24· · · · · · · · · If you're confident that it's

25· · · · · · · · · manageable --

26· · · · · · · · · MS. KINKARTZ:· It might be

27· · · · · · · · · easier to mark them now if we're

28· · · · · · · · · able to --

29· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· But then what

30· · · · · · · · · will happen is we'll end up

31· · · · · · · · · breaking it up.· We'll have

32· · · · · · · · · parts of hers marked as
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·1· ·exhibits, then his, then hers.

·2· ·So unless -- Ms. Hughes, unless

·3· ·you have a problem with this, I

·4· ·will enter just this document

·5· ·and --

·6· ·MS. HUGHES:· I have no problem

·7· ·with that.

·8· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

·9· ·All right.· Thank you for that.

10· ·And, Madam Clerk, you'll help

11· ·me.

12· ·THE COURT CLERK:· All right.· So

13· ·we're at Number 25.

14· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Exhibit 25,

15· ·then, is the document

16· ·entitled -- it's Document

17· ·Number 60161, Mandatory

18· ·Reporting, A Process Guide For

19· ·Employers, Facility Operators,

20· ·and Nurses created by the

21· ·College of Nurses.· It is a

22· ·document consisting of eight

23· ·pages, I believe.

24· ·MR. SANDLER:· All right.· Thank

25· ·you.

26· ·EXHIBIT NO. 25:· Document

27· ·Number 60161, Mandatory

28· ·Reporting, A Process Guide For

29· ·Employers, Facility Operators,

30· ·and Nurses created by the

31· ·College of Nurses.

32· ·BY MR. SANDLER:
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. And if you go to page 4 of

·2· ·the document with me, you'll see in the third

·3· ·paragraph down, it says:

·4· · · · · · · · · "Once a facility has determined

·5· · · · · · · · · that it has a reporting

·6· · · · · · · · · obligation, the report must be

·7· · · · · · · · · made to the College's executive

·8· · · · · · · · · director in writing within 30

·9· · · · · · · · · days.· The report must be filed

10· · · · · · · · · immediately if there is a

11· · · · · · · · · concern that the nurse poses a

12· · · · · · · · · continued risk."

13· ·So stopping there for a moment -- well, I'll

14· ·first ask you, were you familiar with those

15· ·timelines, or is this bringing back your

16· ·recollection in that regard or --

17· · · · · · · · · A. I was not -- you know, if I

18· ·knew those timelines, I don't remember them.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· Fair enough.· But what

20· ·I'm going to suggest is we heard from Brenda

21· ·that the timing under which she filed the

22· ·termination report -- and you can see that

23· ·there is an obligation to file it immediately

24· ·if there's a concern that the nurse poses a

25· ·continued risk.

26· · · · · · · · · And I take it for the reasons

27· ·that Mr. Golden asked you, that wasn't your

28· ·perspective at the time; in other words, that

29· ·either this termination report, if you'd been

30· ·responsible for it, had to be filed immediately

31· ·because you regarded her as unfit to practice

32· ·or incompetent or incapable, that wasn't the
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·1· ·problem.· The problem was that she just hadn't

·2· ·gotten any better as a result of the

·3· ·interventions that had taken place.· Is that

·4· ·all fair?

·5· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

·6· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· So let's move from

·7· ·there.· And I only have a few more questions,

·8· ·you'll be happy to hear.· And that is that you

·9· ·were asked about the obligation to report to

10· ·the Ministry when there has been improper or

11· ·incompetent treatment that has resulted in the

12· ·risk of harm or harm to a resident.

13· · · · · · · · · Do you remember that dialogue

14· ·that you had with several of the lawyers here?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

16· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And here's where I

17· ·want to see if we can get the benefit of your

18· ·wisdom on best practices.· All right?· Because

19· ·this arises in the context of medication

20· ·errors.· That's the context in which I want to

21· ·discuss it with you.· All right?

22· · · · · · · · · So I suggested to Brenda that

23· ·theoretically, every medication error could

24· ·pose -- or almost every could pose a risk of

25· ·harm to the patient if the patient doesn't get

26· ·the right medication or gets it early or

27· ·doesn't get it with the proper food attached to

28· ·it or what have you, but surely it seems

29· ·impractical given how common medication errors

30· ·are to say that every medication error,

31· ·regardless of severity, regardless of its

32· ·nature has to be reported to the Ministry.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Did you have any understanding

·2· ·at the time about which kinds of medication

·3· ·errors would meet that criteria of improper or

·4· ·incompetent treatment resulting in risk of harm

·5· ·or harm to the resident and which would not?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. I think I did at the time.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. Because we saw that the

·8· ·medication errors committed by Ms. Wettlaufer

·9· ·did not result in reporting to the Ministry,

10· ·and I carved off one kind of caveat to that,

11· ·and that was that there was a report due to

12· ·missing medication that had gone to the

13· ·Ministry around the same time that

14· ·Ms. Wettlaufer had said, "Well, I think I may

15· ·have given the double dose to the patient.

16· · · · · · · · · But you never did report to the

17· ·Ministry one of Ms. Wettlaufer's medication

18· ·errors.· Am I right?

19· · · · · · · · · A. We didn't report any?

20· · · · · · · · · Q. I haven't seen any evidence

21· ·that you reported a single one of them to the

22· ·Ministry.· Do you have a different

23· ·recollection?

24· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I don't -- you know,

25· ·could you repeat the question, please?

26· · · · · · · · · Q. So I was just --

27· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· I do think there

28· · · · · · · · · was one in respect to

29· · · · · · · · · Ms. Pickering.· The Critical

30· · · · · · · · · Incident Report was provided.

31· · · · · · · · · I believe it was --

32· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· That's right.
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·1· · · · · · · · · That's true.· Thank you.

·2· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· Then I stand -- I

·3· · · · · · · · · thought -- then I've listed the

·4· · · · · · · · · wrong caveat.· All right.· So

·5· · · · · · · · · thank you, Ms. Hewitt.

·6· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SANDLER:

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. So what I'm asking you is --

·8· ·in this context is that if you were giving the

·9· ·benefit of your experience to the Commissioner

10· ·in when you think a medication error should

11· ·make its way to the Ministry and when it

12· ·shouldn't, knowing the practicalities that

13· ·nurses commonly make medication errors, where

14· ·do you think the dividing line should be?

15· · · · · · · · · A. Well, if it does harm to the

16· ·resident.

17· · · · · · · · · Q. All right.· So the expression

18· ·that's used is risk of harm or harm, but you'd

19· ·see more emphasis placed on whether it resulted

20· ·in actual harm as opposed to kind of a

21· ·hypothetical risk of harm?

22· · · · · · · · · A. Well, I think you said

23· ·yourself that, you know, it all could be a

24· ·risk, and I agree with that.· So if you don't

25· ·want, you know, hundreds of reports going to

26· ·the College, just the most serious ones so that

27· ·it can be looked at, you know, seriously, then

28· ·I think that might be --

29· · · · · · · · · Q. That might be one place to

30· ·draw the line?

31· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.

32· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And we saw that

http://www.neesonsreporting.com


Page 1121
·1· ·actually the last medication error that she

·2· ·committed while at Caressant didn't result in a

·3· ·report to the Ministry.

·4· · · · · · · · · And was that as a result of the

·5· ·fact that the resident was hypoglycaemic as a

·6· ·result of getting the wrong insulin, but we've

·7· ·heard that hypoglycaemia can range in effect

·8· ·from severe and life threatening to

·9· ·significantly less serious, and in that

10· ·instance, the resident was monitored, but no

11· ·counter drugs were administered, and she wasn't

12· ·taken to the hospital.

13· · · · · · · · · Was that the factor in why that

14· ·wasn't reported to the Ministry?

15· · · · · · · · · A. I believe so.· Like, she did

16· ·have a reaction, but then her body seemed to

17· ·adjust to that insulin.· And, you know, she

18· ·wasn't feeling well or didn't look well or

19· ·didn't act well.· I forget what the report said

20· ·or the progress note.

21· · · · · · · · · But, you know, the doctor and

22· ·the nurse -- you know, we called the doctor,

23· ·and she didn't -- the doctor felt that we

24· ·could, you know, maintain her at the nursing

25· ·home, just to watch her.· And that was done and

26· ·with good results.

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Okay.· And the last document

28· ·that I'm going to take you to is the document

29· ·which is at Tab 2 of the binder, and this is

30· ·the interview summary, typewritten version by

31· ·Karen Yee, the intake investigator at the

32· ·College of Nurses.· And I'm going to ask you
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·1· ·first of all --

·2· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· And this is

·3· · · · · · · · · Exhibit 17, Commissioner.

·4· · · · · · · · · BY MR. SANDLER:

·5· · · · · · · · · Q. And I'm going to ask you just

·6· ·before I take you to some of the particulars

·7· ·here that -- and if you don't recall this, I

·8· ·understand, but I'm going to see if I can

·9· ·refresh your memory that -- I'm going to

10· ·suggest that there was a little bit of a

11· ·preamble that the investigator used, kind of

12· ·a -- what's appeared to be a little bit of a

13· ·standardized preamble to explain what her role

14· ·was, why it was that as an intake investigator

15· ·she was asking the questions that she was

16· ·asking.· Do you remember any of that?

17· · · · · · · · · A. I don't really remember the

18· ·preamble.

19· · · · · · · · · Q. That's fine.

20· · · · · · · · · A. We're looking at the typed

21· ·notes; is that right?

22· · · · · · · · · Q. Yes.· So some of the

23· ·features -- and I'm not going to ask you

24· ·about -- you had some slight disagreements with

25· ·some of the wording in the typed version, and I

26· ·have no difficulty with that.

27· · · · · · · · · I'm just going to focus on the

28· ·matters that you had no disagreement with, and

29· ·I'm just going to read those out, and then I'm

30· ·just going to have a couple questions arising

31· ·out of it.

32· · · · · · · · · So she reflects:
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·1· · · · · · · · · "Ms. Crombez was not aware of

·2· · · · · · · · · whether the member had any

·3· · · · · · · · · stressors going on in her

·4· · · · · · · · · personal life that may have

·5· · · · · · · · · affected her practice.· There

·6· · · · · · · · · was no underlying issue or

·7· · · · · · · · · concern with the member."

·8· ·And as we've seen, you qualify that by saying:

·9· · · · · · · · · "One time awhile back, the

10· · · · · · · · · member mentioned she was on

11· · · · · · · · · medication for some mood-related

12· · · · · · · · · or anxiety condition.· The

13· · · · · · · · · member mentioned that she'd

14· · · · · · · · · recently had her medication

15· · · · · · · · · changed and was having

16· · · · · · · · · difficulty adjusting to it, and

17· · · · · · · · · that was the reason for the

18· · · · · · · · · error she did."

19· ·And then if you go to the next page:

20· · · · · · · · · "The member was always very

21· · · · · · · · · upfront about her errors when

22· · · · · · · · · asked about them.· The member

23· · · · · · · · · would say that she did not mean

24· · · · · · · · · to make an error.· The member

25· · · · · · · · · never denied the incidents.· She

26· · · · · · · · · always took ownership of them.

27· · · · · · · · · She accepted that she made a

28· · · · · · · · · mistake.· The member just never

29· · · · · · · · · changed her practice.· There was

30· · · · · · · · · no sustained harm to the

31· · · · · · · · · residents involved in the

32· · · · · · · · · incidents.· The member can be
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·1· · · · · · · · · very pleasant with residents.

·2· · · · · · · · · Her focus at times was more

·3· · · · · · · · · being friends with her coworkers

·4· · · · · · · · · than working.· She was always

·5· · · · · · · · · respectful and nice."

·6· ·And I think you had said to me:

·7· · · · · · · · · "But her practice never

·8· · · · · · · · · changed."

·9· ·And what I'm going to suggest is that captured

10· ·the essence of what it was that you were

11· ·communicating to the intake investigator, that

12· ·there were positive features about -- and,

13· ·again, this is without the benefit of all the

14· ·hindsight that you've been asked about for the

15· ·last few days.

16· · · · · · · ·Without the benefit of the

17· ·hindsight, there were positive features that

18· ·you had to say about her.· You certainly

19· ·weren't communicating to the College that she

20· ·was unfit, incompetent, incapable but that --

21· ·and would own up to her mistakes, but she just

22· ·never changed her practice, and it was

23· ·unacceptable for that reason to continue to

24· ·employ her; right?

25· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· And I did mention that

26· ·phrase twice, "her practice never changed."

27· · · · · · · · · Q. Exactly.· You had no evidence

28· ·or suspicion at the time -- I'm sorry.  I

29· ·should preface it by saying you've been taken

30· ·through in some painstaking detail some of the

31· ·handwritten notes of various meetings that you

32· ·had.
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·1· · · · · · · · · And I take it it's not

·2· ·uncommon -- again, we're going to leave aside

·3· ·hindsight.· It's not uncommon that nurses have

·4· ·personal problems while they're employed at

·5· ·Caressant; right?

·6· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

·7· · · · · · · · · Q. It's not uncommon that a

·8· ·nurse may be on medication and describes it;

·9· ·right?

10· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

11· · · · · · · · · Q. Right.· It's not uncommon

12· ·that they may have a health issue on a

13· ·particular day and move forward; right?

14· · · · · · · · · A. That's correct.

15· · · · · · · · · Q. Right.· And what you were

16· ·communicating to the College and to Mr. Golden

17· ·when he was asking the questions is that

18· ·without the benefit of all of this hindsight,

19· ·you had identified these errors, she hadn't

20· ·changed, it was time to terminate her, but

21· ·beyond that, you didn't have any suspicions of

22· ·what brings us here today; right?

23· · · · · · · · · A. Yes.· But you suggested some

24· ·best practice, and I would like to suggest one

25· ·as well.

26· · · · · · · · · Q. Sure.

27· · · · · · · · · A. That the intake investigator

28· ·fax or email the summary of the notes back to

29· ·the person -- this -- you know, it was me in

30· ·this case -- so that maybe some corrections

31· ·could have been made, and they would have a

32· ·different interpretation of what was sent.
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·1· · · · · · · · · Q. Fair enough.· That's a good

·2· ·idea.· Thank you for that.· I appreciate that.

·3· · · · · · · · · MR. SANDLER:· Okay.· Those are

·4· · · · · · · · · all the questions I have.

·5· · · · · · · · · Thank you, Commissioner.

·6· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you

·7· · · · · · · · · very much.· Yes?

·8· · · · · · · · · MR. ZIGLER:· There is the one

·9· · · · · · · · · matter after the hearing today.

10· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Yes, I know.

11· · · · · · · · · There was another matter that

12· · · · · · · · · we're scheduled for 4:45, but

13· · · · · · · · · I'm hoping that somebody got the

14· · · · · · · · · message that we were headed up

15· · · · · · · · · here.· And I have no difficulty

16· · · · · · · · · with doing that and respecting

17· · · · · · · · · your time commitments.

18· · · · · · · · · So we're back starting at 9:30

19· · · · · · · · · tomorrow morning; correct?

20· · · · · · · · · MS. HEWITT:· Yes, although I

21· · · · · · · · · haven't checked with

22· · · · · · · · · Ms. Crombez's schedule because

23· · · · · · · · · the way we did the timing, we

24· · · · · · · · · thought we'd be done by the end

25· · · · · · · · · of the day.

26· · · · · · · · · Are you available tomorrow,

27· · · · · · · · · Ms. Crombez?

28· · · · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Yes, I am

29· · · · · · · · · available.

30· · · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you

31· · · · · · · · · very much.· So by my

32· · · · · · · · · understanding then, we have the
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·1· ·College of Nurses to complete?

·2· ·MS. HEWITT:· Correct.

·3· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· And then do

·4· ·we still have -- I'm so sorry.

·5· ·I meant ONA.· We have Ms. Hughes

·6· ·for the Ontario Nurses'

·7· ·Association to complete.

·8· ·Do we have other either

·9· ·associations and so on?· We do,

10· ·eh?

11· ·MS. HEWITT:· Correct.

12· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

13· ·MS. HEWITT:· Not long they

14· ·advised me earlier today, but

15· ·some questions.

16· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· Okay.· I just

17· ·needed to have some sense of

18· ·that.· And so you'll make sure

19· ·that the witness understands the

20· ·time commitments for tomorrow.

21· ·MS. HEWITT:· Yes.

22· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· All right.

23· ·Unless there is something else

24· ·that we need to complete then

25· ·today, I would call a recess at

26· ·this stage.

27· ·MR. SANDLER:· Thank you again

28· ·for accommodating me,

29· ·Commissioner.

30· ·THE COMMISSIONER:· It's our

31· ·thanks to Ms. Hughes.

32· ·MR. SANDLER:· And Ms. Hughes.
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·1· · · · · · · · THE COMMISSIONER:· Thank you

·2· · · · · · · · very much.

·3· · · · · · · · THE COURT CLERK:· The Public

·4· · · · · · · · Inquiry is adjourned until

·5· · · · · · · · June 12.

·6· ·-- PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 5:07 P.M. --
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·1· · · · · · · · · REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

·2

·3· · · · · We, DEANA SANTEDICOLA, RPR, CRR, CSR,

·4· ·Certified Shorthand Reporter, and

·5· ·CARISSA STABBLER, RPR, CSR, Certified Shorthand

·6· ·Reporters, do certify:

·7· · · · · That the foregoing proceedings were

·8· ·taken before us at the time and place therein

·9· ·set forth;

10· · · · · That the testimony of the witness and

11· ·all objections made at the time of the

12· ·examination were recorded stenographically by

13· ·us and were thereafter transcribed;

14· · · · · That the foregoing is a true and

15· ·correct transcript of our shorthand notes so

16· ·taken.

17

18· · ·Dated this 11th day of June 2018.
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